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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Honorable Rahm Emanuel, Mayor,
and Members of the City Council
City of Chicago, Ilinois

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Chicago, Illinois
(the “City™), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010, which collectively comprise the City’s
basic financial statements, as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the City’s management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial
statements based on our audit. We did not audit the financial statements of the City’s Pension Plans (the
“Plans”) which, in aggregate, represent substantially all of the assets and revenues of the fiduciary funds,
included in the aggregate remaining fund information. Those financial statements were audited by other
auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the
amounts included for the Plans, is based solely on the reports of other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the respective financial statements are free of
material misstatement. The City’s Plans, audited by other auditors, were not audited in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the respective financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of other auditors
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
previously present fairly, in all material respects, the respective net assets or financial position of the
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City, as of December 31, 2010, and the respective changes in financial position and,
where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund for
the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, effective January 1, 2010, the City adopted Statement
No. 53 of the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB), Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Derivative Instruments.

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited



In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 29, 2011,
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our
audit.

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Schedule of Other Postemployment Benefits Funding
Progress, as listed in the table of contents, are not a required part of the basic financial statements, but are
supplementary information required by the GASB. This supplementary information is the responsibility
of the City’s management. We and other auditors have applied certain limited procedures, which
consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation
of the required supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express no
opinion on it.

Debsite. s ke LLP

June 29, 2011
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Management'’s Discussion and Analysis

As management of the City of Chicago, lllinois (City) we offer readers of the City’s Basic Financial Statements this
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010. We
encourage the readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with other information contained
within this report.

Fiscal 2010 Financial Highlights

e Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of the City, in the government-wide financial statements, exceeded its assets and
deferred outflows at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $1,570.8 million (net deficif). Of this amount,
$8,014.3 million is an unrestricted deficit, while $2,041.2 million is invested in capital assets, net of related debt
and $4,402.3 million is restricted for specific purposes.

¢ The City's total assets and deferred outflows increased by $1,695.6 million. The increase relates to $453.1
million increase in capital assets as a result of the City’s capital improvement program and $812.8 million
increase in restricted cash and cash equivalents and investments primarily as a result of the City’s financing of its
business activities capital programs.

* Revenues and Other Financing Sources, in the fund financial statements, available for general governmental
operations during 2010 were $7,467.1 million, a decrease of $1,123.6 million (13.1 percent) from 2009. The
reduction was a result of the 2008 transfers in of $1,702.5 million when the service concession agreements fund
was established.

¢ The General Fund, also in the fund financial statements, ended 2010 with a total Fund Balance of $135.5 million.
Total Fund Balance increased from 2009 primarily because Revenues and Other Financing Sources were more
than Expenditures and Other Financing Uses by $82.3 million. Fund Balance at December 31, 2010 of $36.2
million was reserved for commitments. Unreserved Fund Balance was $81.2 million at December 31, 2010,
compared to a balance of $2.7 million at the end of 2009.

¢ The City's general obligation bonds and notes outstanding increased by $641.3 million during the current fiscal
year. The proceeds from the increase in bonds were used to finance the City’s capital plan and certain operating
expenses.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements, which
include the following components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3)
notes to the basic financial statements. This report also contains required supplementary information and other
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements. These components are described below:

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the City's finances, using accounting methods similar to those used by private-
sector companies. The statements provide both short-term and long-term information about the City’s financial
position, which assists in assessing the City's economic condition at the end of the fiscal year. These financial
statements are prepared using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. This basically means such statements follow methods that are similar to those used by most businesses.
They take into account all revenues and expenses connected with the fiscal year even if cash involved has not been
received or paid. The government-wide financial statements include two statements:

The statement of net assets presents information on all of the City’s assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred
inflows with the difference reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a
useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating, respectively. To assess the
overall health of the City, the reader should consider additional non-financial factors such as changes in the City's
property tax base and the condition of the City’s roads.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net assets changed during each fiscal
year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs,
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 - Continued

regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for
some items that will only result in cash flows in future periods (for example, uncollected taxes, and earned but unused
vacation). This statement also presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each
function of the City.

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all
or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental
activities of the City include general government, public safety, streets and sanitation, transportation, health, and
cultural and recreation. The business-type activities of the City include water, sewer, tollway and airport services.

The government-wide financial statements present information about the City as a primary government, which
includes the Chicago Public Library and the City related funds of the Public Building Commission. The government-
wide financial statements can be found immediately following this management’s discussion and analysis.

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources
that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses
fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of
the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financiai
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources,
as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of a fiscal year. Such information may be useful
in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the
fong-term impact of the government's near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and
the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to
facilitate the comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains 20 individual governmental funds. Information for the seven funds that qualify as major is
presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances. The seven major governmental funds are as follows: the General Fund,
the Federal, State and Local Grants Fund, the Special Taxing Areas Fund, Service Concession Agreement Fund, the
Reserve Fund, the Bond, Note Redemption and Interest Fund, and the Community Development and Improvement
Projects Fund. Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.

The City adopts an annual appropriation budget for its general and certain special revenue funds on a non-GAAP
budgetary basis. A budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the General Fund, the only major fund
with an appropriation budget, to demonstrate compliance with this budget. The basic governmental fund financial
statements can be found immediately following the government-wide statements.

Proprietary funds. These funds are used to show activities that operate more like those of commercial enterprises.
Because these funds charge user fees for services provided to outside customers including local governments, they
are known as enterprise funds. Proprietary funds, like government-wide statements, use the accrual basis of
accounting and provide both long- and short-term financial information. There is no reconciliation needed between
the government-wide financial statements for business-type activities and the proprietary fund financial statements.
The City uses five enterprise funds to account for its water, sewer, tollway and two airports operations.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, but provide
more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the Water Fund, Sewer Fund,
Chicago Skyway Fund, Chicago-O'Hare International Airport Fund and the Chicago Midway International Airport
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 - Continued

Fund. All the proprietary funds are considered to be major funds of the City. The basic proprietary fund financial
statements can be found immediately following the governmental fund financial statements.

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used primarily to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
the primary government. The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for its employees’ pension plans. |t is also responsible
for other assets that, because of a trust arrangement can be used only for the trust beneficiaries. The City also uses
fiduciary funds to account for transactions for assets held by the City as agent for various entities. The City is
responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds are used for their intended purposes. Fiduciary funds
are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of those funds are not available
to support the City's own programs. All of the City’s fiduciary activities are reported in a separate statement of
fiduciary net assets and a statement of changes in fiduciary net assets. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is
much like that used for proprietary funds. The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found immediately
following the proprietary fund financial statements.

Notes to the basic financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the basic
financial statements can be found immediately following the fiduciary fund financial statements.

Financlal Analysis of the City as a Whole

Net assets (deficit). As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s
financial position. In the case of the City, liabilities and deferred inflows exceeded assets by $1,570.8 million at
December 31, 2010.

A large portion of the City’s net deficit, $2,041.2 million reflects its investment in capital assets (land, buildings, roads,
bridges, etc.) less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital
assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the
City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to
repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate
these liabilities and deferred inflows.

City of Chicago, lllinois
Summary Statement of Net Assets
(in millions of doliars)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Current and other assets .......c........ $ 6,1094 $ 6,106.2 $ 3,939.1 $ 27726 $ 10,048.5 $ 8,8788
Capital assets .......cc.cocrcreene 7,288.3 7,311.5 11,393.8 10,917.5 18,682.1 18,229.0
Deferred outflows 92.5 75.4 141.4 85.7 233.9 161.1

TOtal .oocveerereerreenensreensecsssis oo 13,490.2 13,493.1 15,474.3 13,775.8 28,964.5 27,268.9
Long-term liabilities outstanding ...... 13,656.4 12,217.4 11,176.8 9,688.6 24,833.2 21,906.0
Other liabilities .......coccovevrnreerrcennans 1,468.7 1,448.0 853.9 782.1 2,322.6 2,230.1

Total Liabilities ........ccccereriveninene 15,125.1 13,665.4 12,030.7 10,470.7 27,155.8 24,136.1
Deferred INfIOWS ........cccovveeciinnenrinns 1,660.4 1,681.5 1,719.1 1,737.6 3,379.5 3,419.1
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets,

net of related debt ..........ocoinins (324.3) 251.1 2,365.5 2,286.7 2,041.2 2,537.8
Restricted 3,611.5 3,735.1 790.8 821.9 4,402.3 4,557.0
Unrestricted ........cccovenicninrnnnnennns (6,582.5) (5,840.0) (1,431.8) (1,541.1) (8,014.3) (7,381.1)

Total net assets (deficit) .............. $ (3,295.3) $ (1,853.8) $ 17245 $ 1567.5 $ (1,570.8) $_ (286.3)



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 - Continued

An additional portion of the City’s net assets ($4,402.3 million) represent resources that are subject to external
restrictions on how they may be used.

Governmental Activities. Net assets of the City's governmental activities decreased $1,441.5 million to a deficit of
$3,295.3 million. However, a significant portion of those net assets are either restricted as to the purpose they can be
used for or they are invested in capital assets (buildings, roads, bridges, etc.) net of related debt. Consequently,
unrestricted net assets showed a $6,582.5 million deficit at the end of this year. This deficit does not mean that the
City does not have the resources available to pay its bills next year. Rather, it is the result of having long-term
commitments that are greater than currently available resources. Specifically, the City did not include in past annual
budgets the full amounts needed to finance future liabilities arising from personnel, property, pollution and casualty
claims ($656.0 million), Municipal employees, Policemen’s and Firemen’s net pension obligation ($4,144.5 million)
and post-employment benefits ($380.9 million). The City will include these amounts in future years’ budgets as they
come due. In addition, the remaining deferred inflow of $1,660.4 million will be amortized into income over the life of
the concession service agreements.

Over half of the City's revenue comes from taxes. Total taxes increased slightly. Total taxes include a decrease in
property taxes of $.1 million (.01 percent). Other taxes increased by $.3 million (.01 percent) as a result of increases
in sales and transaction taxes. Federal/State grants vary from year to year depending primarily on the level of
spending for programs, construction and other projects.

Expenses for governmental activities in 2010 were $6,664.5 million. This reflects an increase of $447.3 million (7.2
percent) over 2009. Public Safety was the largest component of current expenses, accounting for 42.4 percent of
total expenses. Expenses increased as a result of contractual wage increases and related benefits.

The cost of all govemmental activities was $6,664.5 million.
* The amount that taxpayers paid for these activities through City taxes was only $2,918.8 mitlion.
+ Some of the cost was paid by those who directly benefited from the programs ($610.4 million), or
+ By other governments and organizations that subsidized certain programs with grants and contributions
($789.6 million).
The City paid $904.2 million for the “public benefit’ portion with other revenues such as state aid, interest and
miscellaneous income.

Although total net assets of business-types activities were $1,724.5 million, these resources cannot be used to make
up for the net asset deficit in governmental activities. The City generally can only use these net assets to finance the
continuing operations of the water, sewer, tollway, and airports activities.



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 - Continued

(in miilions of doilars)

Governmental Business-type
Actlvities Activitles Total
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Revenues:
Program Revenues:
Licenses, Permits, Fines and
Charges for Services ........cceererverecvreerrennns $ 6104 $ 6219 $ 15083 $ 13321 $ 2,1187 $ 19540
Operating Grants and Contributions ............ 674.7 611.3 - - 674.7 611.3
Capital Grants and Contributions ................ 114.9 116.3 246.3 211.2 361.2 326.5
General Revenues:
Property TaXes .......c.oeeereveereceserrcensnerernennns 796.9 797.0 - - 796.9 797.0
Oher TAXES ..ccceeerrervererrerereerrnesersensnsennanes 2,121.8 2,121.6 - - 2,121.9 2,121.6
Grants and Contributions not
Restricted to Specific Programs .............. 654.0 601.2 57.0 - 711.0 601.2
OHhEF ....ccreeercereriretrenrcrenerreacessesensesmramneressanse 250.2 250.4 - 213 250.2 271.7
Total REVENUES ....ccvovereereerenercreneesorecrenens 5,223.0 5,118.7 1,811.6 1,564.6 7,034.6 6,683.3
Expenses:
General Government ..............ccocceceiverrneiinnens 2,557.7 2,364.8 - - 2,657.7 2,364.8
Public Safety .........ccccceecernnnne. 2,824.0 2,521 - - 2,824.0 2,521.1
Streets and Sanitation ..... 235.9 297.2 - - 235.9 297.2
Transportation .............. 373.4 351.1 - - 373.4 351.1
Health ... 142.4 166.9 - - 142.4 166.9
Cuiturai and Recreational .... 126.9 130.0 - - 126.9 130.0
Interest on Long-term Debt ........ccccvvvecicreenns 404.2 386.1 - - 404.2 386.1
WaLter .......ccovevvininirissnernnsenes - - 399.3 3825 399.3 382.5
SEWEN .ot - - 184.9 170.0 184.9 170.0
Midway International Airport ............. - - 2245 206.6 2245 206.6
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport ... - - 834.5 811.7 834.5 811.7
Chicago Skyway .......ccccvieeninecininioninnecinans - - 11.3 11.8 11.3 11.8
Total EXPENnses .......ccccveeienrriessrccsnnnenns 6,664.5 6,217.2 1,654.5 1,582.6 8,319.0 7,799.8
Change in Net Assets Before Transfers ...... (1,441.5) (1,098.5) 157.1 (18.0) (1,284.4) (1,116.5)
TranSfers ccovvviinierisneimsineercnenccsnessens - - - - - R
Change in Net ASSets .......cccovemnicrsionseneienns (1,441.5) (1,088.5) 157.1 (18.0) (1,284.4) (1,116.5)
Net Assets, Beginning of Year ........c..cccceeevnveenne (1,853.8) (755.3) 1,567.4 1,685.4 (286.4) 830.1
Net Assets, End of Year ....c.cccecveeeeeecnecseenrinns $ (3,295.3) $ (1,853.8) $ 17245 $ 15674 $ (1,570.8) $__ (286.4)




CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
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Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 - Continued

Business-type Activities. Revenues of the City’s business-type activities increased by $247.0 million in 2010 due
primarily to increases in charges for services, rent and investment earnings. All Funds met debt service coverage
ratios set forth in the applicable bond indentures.

The Water Fund's operating revenues for 2010 increased by 11.8 percent from 2009 due to an increase in water
rates. Operating expenses in 2010 increased by 3.4 percent primarily due to an increase in personnel and
contractual services, as well as depreciation and amortization.

The Sewer Fund’s operating revenues increased 13.2 percent during fiscal year 2010, as the result of an increase
in water and sewer rates. Operating expenses increased 4.7% as a result of increased personnel services,
depreciation and amortization, and general fund reimbursements.

Chicago Midway International Airport Fund’s operating revenues for 2010 increased by $26.8 million compared to
prior year operating revenues. Operating expenses increased by $13.8 million primarily due to an increase in
personnel services, contractual services, and depreciation and amortization.

Chicago-O'Hare International Airport Fund’s operating revenues for 2010 increased by $78.2 million (12.5
percent) compared to prior year operating revenues as a result of increased fund deposit requirements.
Operating expenses increased by $12.7 million as a result of an increase in contractual services, repair and
maintenance, and depreciation and amortization.

The Chicago Skyway was leased for 99 years to a private company. The agreement granted the company to
operate the Skyway and to collect toll revenue during the term of the agreement. The City received an upfront
payment of $1.83 billion of which $446.3 million was used to advance refund all of the outstanding Skyway bonds.
The upfront payment is being amortized into non-operating revenue over the period of the lease ($18.5 million
annually).
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Expenses and Program Revenues - Business-type Activities
(in millions of dollars)
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 - Continued

Financial Analysis of the City's Funds

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

Governmental funds. The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows,
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing
requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's net
resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

At December 31, 2010, the City’s govemmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $1,878.5 million,
an increase of $71.6 million in comparison with the prior year. Of this total amount ($77.6 million) constitutes
undesignated fund balance. The remainder of fund balance is reserved to indicate that it is not available for new
spending because it has already been committed 1) to liquidate contracts and purchase orders of the prior period
($286.1 million), 2) to pay debt service ($423.1 million), 3) to provide a long-term reserve ($739.2 million), 4) for future
appropriations ($326.7 million), and 5) for a variety of other restricted purposes ($25.8 million).

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, unreserved fund
balance of the General Fund was $81.2 million with a total fund balance of $135.5 million. As a measure of the
General Fund’s liquidity, it may be helpful to compare both unreserved fund balance and total fund balance to total
fund expenditures. Total General Fund balance represents 4.5 percent of total General Fund expenditures. The fund
balance of the City’s General Fund increased by $80.8 miiiion during the current fiscal year. Revenues and Other
Financing Sources exceeded Expenditures and Other Financing Uses by $82.3 million. As a result of increased
economically sensitive taxes and lower than expected personnel and benefit expenses.

The Federal, State and Local Grants Fund has a tota! fund balance of $13.1 million, $7.7 million of which is reserved
for the resale of property, while there is an unreserved, undesignated fund balance of $5.4 million.

The Special Taxing Areas Fund has a total fund balance of $1,400.3 million, of which $191.2 million is reserved for
encumbrances, $188.0 million is designated for future appropriations and the remaining $1,021.1 million is
unreserved, undesignated. Increase in fund balance is a result of Special Area tax exceeding expenditure.

The Service Concession Agreement Fund accounts for deferred inflows from non business type long-term concession
and lease transactions and has an unreserved, undesignated fund deficit of $1,660.4 million.

The Reserve Fund has a total fund balance of $877.9 million, of which $739.1 million is reserved as a long-term trust.
The remaining is designated for future appropriations. Fund balance decreased as a result of transfers out.

The Bond, Note Redemption and Interest Fund have a total fund balance of $264.6 million. Fund balance was
consistent with prior year.

The Community Development and Improvement Projects Fund has a total fund balance of $478.6 million, of which
$37.1 million is reserved for encumbrances and the remaining $441.5 million is unreserved, undesignated. The
increase in fund batance during the current year in the Community Development and Improvement Projects Fund was
$137.7 million, as a result of the timing of the capital program financing.

Changes in fund balance. The City's governmental fund revenues (excluding other financing sources) increased by
.9 percent or $49.4 million.

Proprietary funds. The City's proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide
financial statements, but in more detail.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 - Continued

Unrestricted net assets of the Water, Sewer, Chicago Skyway, Chicago-O’Hare International Airport, and Chicago
Midway International Airport Funds at the end of the year amounted to a deficit of $1,431.8 million. The total increase
in unrestricted net assets related to changes in the $2,365.5 million of net assets invested in capital assets, net of
related debt and the $790.8 million of net assets restricted is primarily due to assets being reserved for debt service,
construction, and rehabilitation. Other factors concerning the finances of these five funds have already been
addressed in the discussion of the City’s business-type activities.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The City’s 2010 Original General Fund Budget is $3,179.7 million. This budget refiects a decrease of $6.8 million (.2
percent) over the 2009 Budget. The City's 2010 General Fund Budget was approved by the City Council on
December 2, 2009. The General Fund revenues on a budgetary basis were $49.9 million less than the final budget
as a resuit of higher than expected taxes, offset by lower transfers in. In addition, unfavorable results occurred in
internal services revenue, licenses and permits, and fines. Expenditures were $135.6 million less than budgeted as a
result of favorable variances in general government, primarily as a resuit of lower than expected health care and
personnel related expenses. Additional information on the City’s budget can be found in Note #3 under Stewardship,
Compliance and Accountability within this report.

The Generai Fund revenues and expenditures in 2010 ended the current fiscal year with an available unreserved fund
balance of $81.2 million, which is a $78.5 million increase over 2009.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets. The City’s capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of December 31, 2010
amount to $18,682.1 million (net of accumulated depreciation). These capital assets include land, buildings and
system improvements, machinery and equipment, roads, highways and bridges, and property, plant and equipment.

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:

e The CiQ/ continued its LEED Strategy with the construction of three new district police stations, the 8", the 9™,
and 23", all totaling $78.2 million in construction cost.

e The City also completed the new LEED silver certified Vehicle Maintenance Facility with construction costs
totaling $20.0 miilion.

e During 2010 the City completed $52.8 million in bridge and viaduct reconstruction projects, $102.1 million in street
construction and resurfacing projects, and $4.2 million in street lighting and transit projects.

e During 2010 the Water Fund expended $139.7 million for capital activities. This included $4.5 million for
structures and improvements, $10.3 million for equipment, $46.8 million for construction in progress, and $78.1
million for distribution plant, of which $20.4 million was for water mains; $37.3 million for in-house construction
costs; $16.3 million for engineering fees; $2.5 million for capitalized interest; and $1.6 million for complieted meter
projects. Net completed projects totaling $96.1 million were transferred from construction in progress to
applicable capital accounts. The major completed projects relate to South Water Purification Plant chlorine
improvement projects ($53.3 million), CCTV, card access, camera upgrades ($4.2 million), 68™ Street Pumping
Station roof rehab ($4.1 million), and installation and repiacements of water mains ($30.9 million). The 2010
Water Main Replacement Program completed 30 miles of water mains.

¢ The 2010 Sewer Main Replacement Program completed 8.6 miles of sewer mains and 37.7 miles of relining of
existing sewer mains at a cost of $133.0 million.

¢ Chicago Midway Intemational Airport had capital asset additions in 2010 of $28.0 million principally due to land
acquisition, terminal improvements, security enhancements, parking, and runway improvements.

¢ Chicago-O’Hare International Airport had capital asset additions in 2010 of $475.5 million principally due to land
acquisition, terminal improvements, security enhancements, runway and taxiway improvements along with
heating and refrigeration, and apron improvements.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 - Continued

City of Chicago, IHinols
Capital Assets (net of depreclation)
(in mililons of dollars)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Actlvities Total
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Land ....cccreninninninnnn, $ 1,3822 $ 1,3727 $ 8640 $ 8395 $ 2,246.2 $ 22122
Works of Art and

Historical Collections ...........ccocennee. 13.1 13.1 - 13.1 13.1
Construction in Progress ................. 164.6 225.3 1,419.6 1,502.5 1,684.2 1,727.8
Buildings and Other improvements ... 1,677.7 1,589.8 8,767.5 8,286.6 10,445.2 9,876.4
Machinery and Equipment ................. 320.2 335.9 342.7 288.9 662.9 624.8
infrastructure ..., 3,730.5 3,774.7 - 3,730.5 3,774.7
LI 1RO $ 72883 $ 73115 $ 11,393.8 $ 109175 $ 18,682.1 $ 18,229.0

information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note #7 of this report.

Debt. At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had $6,660.0 million in General Obligation Bonds and Notes and
$844.8 million in General Obligation Certificates and Other Obligations outstanding. Other outstanding long-term debt
is as follows: $203.9 million in Motor Fuel Tax Revenue Bonds; $355.5 million of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds; $163.6
million in Tax Increment Financing Bonds; $1.2 million in Installment Purchase Agreements; and $10,923.7 million in
Enterprise Fund Bonds and long-term obligations. For more detail, refer to Note No. 10 Long-term Obligations in the

Basic Financial Statements.

City of Chicago, lilinois
General Obligation and Revenue Bonds
{In millions of dollars)

Governmental BuslIness-type
Activities Activities Total
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
General Obligation ...........ccceueeveiennne $ 7,504.7 $ 6,8634 $ - $ - $ 75047 $ 68634
Installment Purchase Agreement ..... 1.2 3.5 - - 12 3.5
Tax Increment ..........coceenreneereerianienes 163.6 186.2 - - 163.6 186.2
Revenue Bonds .........c.ocevievmverviannns 559.4 564.8 10,923.7 9,532.3 11,483.1 10,097.1
TOtAl wovveceerecrcr et $ 82289 $ 76179 $ 10,923.7 $ 9,532.3 $ 19,152.6 $ 17,150.2

During 2010, the City issued the following:

General Obligation Bonds and Notes:

¢ General Obligation Bonds, Refunding Series 2009A, Taxable Project and Refunding Series 2009B, Taxable
Project Series 2009C (Build America Bonds) and Taxable Project Series 2009D (Recovery Zone Economic

Development Bonds) ($793.3 million)

¢ General Obligation Modern Schools Across Chicago Bonds, Series 2010A and Taxable Series 2010B ($150.1

million)

General Obligation Bonds Taxable Series 20108 (Build America Bonds) ($213.6 million)

General Obligation Short Term Notes Series 2010 ($70.4 million)
General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes ($170.7 million)
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 - Continued

Enterprise Fund Revenue Bonds and Notes:

Second Lien Water Revenue Bonds, Project and Refunding Series 2010A, Taxable Project Series 2010B (Build
America Bonds) and Taxable Project Series 2010C (Qualified Energy Conservation Bonds) ($313.6 million)
Second Lien Wastewater Transmission Bonds, Revenue Refunding Series 2010A and Taxable Revenue Project
Taxable Series 2010B (Build America Bonds) ($275.9 million)

Water Commercial Paper Notes ($51.5 million)

Chicago-O'Hare International Airport Passenger Facility Charge Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A (Non-AMT),
Series 2010B (Non-AMT), Taxable Series 2010C and Refunding Series 2010D (Non-AMT) ($137.7 million)
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport General Airport Third Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A (Non-AMT),
Taxable Series 2010B (Build America Bonds), Series 2010C (Non-AMT), Refunding Series 2010D (AMT),
Refunding Series 2010E (AMT) and Series 2010F (Non-AMT) ($1.04 billion)

Chicago Midway Airport Second Lien Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2010 A-1 and Taxable Series 2010 A-2
($80.5 million)

Chicago Midway Airport Second Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2010B (Non-AMT), Taxable Series 2010C and
Taxable Series 2010 D-2 ($246.5 million)

Chicago-O’Hare Intemational Airport General Commercial Paper Notes ($.5 million)

Chicago Midway International Airport General Commercial Paper Notes ($35.5 million)

At December 31, 2010 the City had credit ratings with each of the three major rating agencies as follows:

Standard &
Rating Agency Moody's Poors Fltch
General Obligation:
City Aa3 A+ AA-
Revenue Bonds: :
O'Hare Airport:
First Lien General Airport Revenue Bonds Aa3 AA AA+
Second Lien General Airport Revenue Bonds A1 AA- AA
Third Lien General Airport Revenue Bonds Al A- A
First Lien Passenger Fagility Charge (PFC) A2 A- A+
Midway Airport:
First Lien A2 A A
Second Lien A3 A- A-
Water:
First Lien Aa2 AA AA+
Second Lien Aa3 AA- AA
Wastewater:
First Lien Aa2 AA- n/a
Junior Lien Aa3 A+ AA
Sales Tax Aa2 AAA AA-
Motor Fuel Tax Aa3 AA+ A-

In 2007, the City closed and extinguished the First Lien Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) bonds. All outstanding PFC

bonds exist within the same lien status.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 - Concluded

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

The City’s finances are closely tied with the global and national economies. Nationally, in 2010 new housing unit
starts experienced a slight increase of 5.5 percent above 2009 levels. Additionally, in Chicago year to date average
home prices increased 1.6 percent in 2010 over 2009 levels and real estate transaction tax collections increased by
23.8 percent from 2009 collections as a result of the Federal Homeowner Affordability and Stimulus Plan.

Additionally, 2010 sales tax collections saw a slight increase of 1.8 percent. Amusement tax collections increased by
7.72 percent in 2010 as a result of post season sporting events.

Chicago is a center of tourism and conventions. Chicago’s business district includes more than 30,000 hotel rooms
within a five-mile range of McCormick Place, the convention facility that contains 2.6 million square feet of exhibit
halls. Hotel projects completed in 2010 included the JW Marriott with 610 rooms and Hotel Palomar with 261 rooms.
Hotel occupancy increased to 70 percent in 2010 and the average daily room rate increased by 1.84 percent.

The 2010 national unemployment rate reached 9.63 percent up from 9.275 percent in 2009. The City saw minimal
change in 2010 as its unemployment rate increased to 10.1 percent in 2010 up from 10.0 percent in 2009.

The City's 2011 Corporate Fund budget was approved by the City Council on November 17, 2010. The City’s budget
totals $3,263.7 million, reflecting an increase of $84.0 million or approximately 2.6 percent of the 2010 Corporate
Fund budget. The 2011 budget balances a preliminary shortfall of $654.7 million by reducing costs, better managing
resources and utilizing strategic financial options, including the reduction of 277 full time budgeted positions. Due to
severe economic conditions over recent years, the City has needed to utilize nonrecurring revenue sources for
budgetary purposes. This has taken the form of expending asset concession reserves and intends to utilize tax
increment funds by declaring a surplus in twenty-six tax increment financing districts.

Requests for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’'s tinances for all of those with an interest in

the government's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for
additional financial information should be addressed to the City of Chicago Comptroller's Office.
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Exhibit 1

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
December 31, 2010

{Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments
Cash and Investments with Escrow Agent
Receivables (Net of Alfowances):
Property Tax
Accounts

Inventories
Restricted Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investiments
Other Assets
Capital Assets:

Land, Art, and Construction in Progress
Other Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation

Total Capital Assets
Deferred Qutflows
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS
Voucher Warrants Payable
Short-term Debt
Accrued Interest
Accrued and Other Liabilities

Unearned Revenue
Long-term Liabilities:
Due Within One Year
Other Long-term liabilities
Derivative Instrument Liability
Due in More Than One Year
Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows
NET ASSETS

Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt

Restricted for:
Capital Projects
Long-term Reserve
Debt Service
Federal, State and Local Grants
Special Taxing Areas
Passenger Facility Charges
Noise Mitigation Program
Other Purposes

Unrestricted (Deficit)

Total Net Assets (Deficit)

See notes to basic financial statements.

...............
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Primary Government
Governmental  Business-type
Activities Activities Total
$ 1594798 §$ 225325 $ 1,820,123
950,161 132,890 1,083,051
457,748 - 457,748
1,423,922 - 1,423,922
735,807 281,101 1,016,908
(16,851) 16,851 -
18,180 15,502 33,682
137,363 1,376,006 1,513,369
560,246 1,396,955 1,957,201
247,931 494,562 742,493
1,559,949 2,283,645 3,843,594
5,728,394 9,110,105 14,838,499
7,288,343 11,393,750 18,682,093
92,589 141,379 233,968
$ 13,490,237 $ 15,474,321 § 28,964,558
3 479,047 $ 278,138 § 757,185
672 - 672
145,788 212,366 358,154
733,300 146,729 880,029
109,836 216,619 326,455
275,186 186,925 462,111
- 17,937 17,937
115,269 146,560 261,829
13,266,026 10,825,412 24,091,438
15,125,124 12,030,686 27,155,810
1,660,426 1,719,091 3,379,517
(324,284) 2,365,522 2,041,238
99,646 174,035 273,681
877,890 - 877,890
1,132,545 11,860 1,144,405
13,050 - 13,050
1 1488,402 < 1 ,488,402
- 179,571 179,571
- 206,838 206,838
- 218,577 218,577
(6,582,562) (1,431,859) (8,014,421)
$ (3,295313) $ 1,724,544 §$ (1,570,769)




Exhibit 2

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year Ended December 31, 2010
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Licenses, Permits,

Fines and
Functions/Programs Expenses Charges for Services
Primary Government
Governmental Activities:
General GOVEMMENT .......occeveeierierecerecsres et reeseseseseonsesanas 2,557,681 $ 370,028
Public Safety .......cccveiiceniercinscen st 2,824,028 150,710
Streets and Sanitation .........cccceverieieniceenieceeeee e 235,863 38,092
Transportation .........ccccoivieienrenniercnne s sses e e sas s enesenes 373,437 21,640
Health ... et 142,352 8,332
Cultural and Recreational ........c.ccoeeeeecerivereecnenceeseceecesesnnens 126,939 21,635
Interest on Long-term Debt ...........cooervvrveererrrceereveeneninee 404,218 -
Total Governmental ACHIVItIES .......ccecerereriircrreceree e et 6,664,518 610,437
Business-type Activities:
WaALET ettt ree ittt e sese e s sae s sr s 399,347 458,395
SEWEE ...oiiiiiieriiicnesenitisisriss st s tsassessns e s e stasseresesnatesaensans 184,888 198,229
Chicago Midway International Airport ...........ccovceeivnnicerennens 224,465 149,056
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport ..............ccoceveeverveenenns 834,487 702,603
Chicago SKYWaAY .....cccccceeercerieniiecrecie e eeectee s sevec e e serevsaenns 11,312 -
Total Business-type AciVitios ........ccccvverencienicriccnesieecereeee 1,654,499 1,508,283
Total Primary GOVErnmeNt ..........ccccoiveieieeirceeiiecresieesseeseeeneenns 8,319,017 $ 2,118,720

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Program Revenues

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets

Operating Capital
Grants and Grants and
Contributions Contributions
$ 487,373 3 4,903
75,131 -
- 109,968
98,287 -
13,886 -
674,677 114,871
- 3,414
- 3,136
- 43,226
- 196,533
- 246,309
$ 674,677 $ 361,180
General Revenues
Taxes:
Property TaX ....ccccccveerreencececvnerecrcreesntensntreessasseons
ULIItY TaX 1icececrcmneerrscciereceeerecnnrseneressenescanseenssanes
SAIES TAX .eeeeriiircicreericcrimten e e e sterer e s nesessensansnesesnee
Transportation Tax .........cccccrveveiiniscninrcseniresennenanes
Transaction TaAX .....c.cceecccreeererevrereesesnereeessnrnesssenss
Special Area TAX .....ccccvverermrecrerirersneersnrressessrersasees
Recreation TaX .....cccccvecemreececnererrssctreesisnenrenseserens
Other TAXES ....eevervvervremiericisreenrecsiesnsersssansasssesssnsses

Grants and Contributions not Restricted to

Specific Programs ........cccocceevvececrerccerienresenseserneres

Unrestricted Investment Earnings

Transters ....ccicviirniivemrecnerie et seeseree s e senessseesnenes
Change in Net Assets ........ccociineinccecnennne,
Net Assets - Beginning (DefiCit) ........cccceveeerievreecrennennns

Net Assets - Ending (DefiCit) ......cccccerueeveecreernecrcrnrenees

MISCEllIAN@OUS .....ocooveevirrerrreetreereeererereerersessnrsenes

Primary Government
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
$ (1,695,377) $ - $ (1,695,377)
(2,598,187) - (2,598,187)
(197,771) - (197,771)
(241,829) - (241,829)
(35,733) - (35,733)
(91,418) - (91,418)
(404,218) - (404,218)
(5,264,533) - (5,264,533)
- 62,462 62,462
- 16,477 16,477
- (32,183) (32,183)
- 64,649 64,649
- (11,312) (11,312)
- 100,093 100,093
(5,264,533) 100,083 (5,164,440)
796,928 - 796,928
561,936 - 561,936
260,364 - 260,364
335,235 - 335,235
227,772 - 227,772
477,241 - 477,241
158,390 - 158,390
100,935 - 100,935
654,043 - 654,043
100,269 6,831 107,100
149,902 50,190 200,092
3,823,015 57,021 3,880,036
(1,441,518) 157,114 (1,284,404)
(1,853,795) 1,567,430 (286,365)
$ (3,295313) $ 1,724,544 $ (1,570,769)




Exhibit 3

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

December 31, 2010

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

ASSETS

Cash and Cash EquIvalents ........ccceicicnianoninncimensinn.
INVESIMENTS ...ttt er et st sens e e e
Cash and Investments with Escrow Agent .........c.ceceinivnininens

Receivables (Net of Allowances):

Propenty TaX ...cccceincnncimnnniniensitn et
ACCOUNLS  ...ceecieiiceeeerccnieetrcssretereessenneee e s s e nneeeresansesessnarasans
Due From Other FUNS ........oeeeeeiiiieieeiiereresccreenrereessenereencanesens
Due From Other GOvernments ......ccccocccreeeccineeeersercoraserenesacseens
INVEINOFIES  ....eceeeeeciceccccccnereereeeeereeececseeeraenaeanerentanstoceaessasseasannes
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents .......cccccoevevenivenveciinnacenns
Restricted INVEStMENES  .....coivicveverieiccrerccieetteesr e cecreaaes
Oher ASSEIS ..eeeeeiveereieereerererscerererenereeeere e reesasesaeseeseesssennonnennrs
TOtal ASSEES  .ocvervirriereveenerrererrreneeernesesreaessasssessennesersassanens

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities:

Voucher Warrants Payable .........coccviiecnniiininnninennne
Bonds, Notes and Other Obligations Payable - Current .....
AcCrued INtErest ......cvooeeeeeveeecriiiiciirrcccirae e eenraetaaeeeeeens
Due To Other FUNAS  ....cccocviciecriiciiiciecie s ceesreesesancvneeene
Accrued and Other Liabilities .......cccccceeiiviceenieieiiccmrnnecenen
Claims Payable ...t
Deferred REVENUE ...........veieieerecreeerreercnns e ccrnssnecaeesmeananes

Total Liabilities .......cccceveververieeerrrecniiireesinereseseeesssssssssseessne

Deferred INFIOWS  ...ccccceiieeeeriiereeiiccr e ieiee e s reenaabensesesserensansaneas

Fund Balance:

Reserved for Encumbrances ...........vieiiniininicnccsinens
Reserved for Resale Property ..........ccoiceviciininccciienccecnnen
Reserved for INVentory ..o
Reserved for Debt Service .......ccoccovrercireninenicenreesinne
Reserved for Long-term Trust Fund ......ccccioeeciineniniciianns
Unreserved, Designated for Future Appropriations ............
Unreserved, Undesignated - Major Funds .........ccceeenenen
Unreserved, Undesignated - Special Revenue Funds ........
Unreserved, Undesignated - Capital Projects Funds ..........

Total Fund Balance ........occcvciiimiiniisniiinnseiiciieenenenns

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and Fund Balance .......

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Federal, State Special
and Local Taxing
General Grants Areas

$ 10,003 $ 32,990 $ 1,185,968
13,065 16,251 199,320
- - 394,374
220,183 28,038 1,417
254,124 29,707 6,378

231,987 145,497 -

18,180 - -

- 7,632 -
$ 747,542 $ 260,115 $ 1,787,457
$ 159,608 $ 134,898 $ 39,884
295,566 40,850 10,657
117,443 11,068 3,387

36,505 - -
2,879 60,249 333,198
612,001 247,065 387,126
36,210 - 191,230

- 7,632 -

18,180 - -
- - 188,000
81,151 5,418 1,021,101
135,541 13,050 1,400,331
$ 747,542 $ 260,115 $ 1,787,457




Community

Service Bond, Note Development Other Total
Concession Redemption and Improvement Governmental Governmental
__Agreements Reserve and Interest Projects Funds Funds
$ - $ 29649 § 50,713 % 71,647 $ 213,828 $ 1,594,798
- 98,659 110,230 473,690 38,946 950,161
- - 325,455 - 132,293 457,748
- - 526,556 - 502,992 - 1,423,922
- 1,973 41,525 2,832 22,363 318,331
- 50,000 1,512 68,131 94,373 504,225
- 1,511 - 38,481 417,476
- - - - - 18,180
- 137,363 - - - 137,363
- 560,246 - - - 560,246
- - - - - 7,632
$ - 3 877890 § 1057502 § 616,300 $ 1,043,276 $ 6,390,082
$ - $ - $ - $ 39,566 $ 80,206 $ 454,162
- - 140,248 - 6,695 146,943
- - 142,160 - 2,775 144,935
- - - 97,910 81,010 525,993
- - - 198 67,228 199,324
- - - - - 36,505
- - 510,492 - 436,501 1,343,319
- - 792,900 137,674 674,415 2,851,181
1,660,426 - - - - 1,660,426
- - - 37,148 21,486 286,074
- - - - - 7,632
- - - - - 18,180
- - 264,602 - 158,450 423,052
- 739,166 - - - 739,166
- 138,724 - - - 326,724
(1,660,426) - - 441,478 - (111,278)
- - - - 96,390 96,390
- - - - 92,535 92,535
(1,660,426) 877,890 264,602 478,626 368,861 1,878,475
$ - 877,890 $§ 1,067,502 § 616,300 $§ 1,043,276 $ 6,390,082
Amounts reported for govemmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not reported in the funds ...... 7,288,343
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures and therefore are deferred in the funds ... 1,378,564
Certain liabiltties, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported in the FUNAS .......uveeeveceer et s ssessr st (13,840,695)

Net assets of governmental activities
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Exhibit 4

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Year Ended December 31, 2010

{Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Federal,
State and Special
Local Taxing
General Grants Areas
Revenues:
Property TaxX ....cccccecceveerernerenenceencsncrsesioninns $ - $ - $ -
ULIlItY TaX  coeeecceveereererersererssneceresceresensesersenees 467,411 - -
SalES TAX .ievvccreeicrrienecrrerserneareesrnessnresseranees 495,842 - -
Transportation Tax .....ccocccncineninsnennnes 150,706 - -
State INCoOMe TaX ...cccccvercreerornirservmsorensinnnes 282,011 - -
Transaction TaX .......cccccevervecrsorcressssssessssanns 195,085 - -
Special Area TaX ....cccvveermnssimiciinnssnecninieens - - 372,577
Recreation TaX .......ccccevvcerrvmrcmsiscscnssnnsnnens 158,380 - -
Other TAXeS ...cccceevivvvricerereereenresseeseesessneens 86,394 - -
Federal/State Grants .....c...ceevevcvcecciriieenenn. 1,735 814,144 -
Internal ServiCe ......ccevvereeeirecsecrnecinneeenne 274,574 - -
Licenses and Permits .........cccccvvveccreernrenrene 96,240 - -
FINES oo e e se s 258,802 - -
Investment Income (LOSS) .....ccccoevrirninnens 4,200 - 2,323
Charges for Services .......cccvrenriineeseinnce 84,002 - 2
Miscellaneous ......cccccvvcereccrrrrnin e 55,460 - 274
Total Revenues .........c.ceveeereisnnnncecssieenins 2,610,852 814,144 375,176
Expenditures:
Current:
General Government ........cccceecvveceeeveeeeinne 903,890 467,299 182,027
Health et 35,593 112,521 59
Public Safely .....cccvecrreiircreccrirce s 1,828,984 77,180 406
Streets and Sanitation ........ccceccvevreeierenennee 177,950 - 3,071
Transportation .......cccvverivisnrcnccsecrcenriennnes 70,032 119,294 54,994
Cultural and Recreational .........cccceevveecenenne 544 14,760 4,569
Employee Pensions ........ccveevicnnnininennen - - -
(0117 (USSP ST OTUPON 11,944 17,187 -
Capital OUtlAY ....coccerercmeereenseiiereicnsesesnssrsnsess - 4,903 -
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement .........ccoceivciiiciiiieinnens 3,785 - -
Interest and Other Fiscal Charges .............. 1,219 - -
Total EXpenditures .........cccconniniinrecsnnen 3,033,941 813,144 245,126
Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures ... (423,089) 1,000 130,050

Continued on following pages.
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Community

Development
Service Bond, Note and Nonmajor Total
Concession Redemption Improvement Governmental Governmental
Agreements Reserve and Interest Projects Funds Funds

$ - $ - $ 437,463 $ - $ 316,618 $ 754,081
- - 22,324 - 72,201 561,936

- - 29,753 - 1,409 527,004

- - 15,617 - 168,912 335,235

- - - - 103,657 385,668

- - - - 32,687 227,772

- - - - 113,949 486,526

- - - - - 158,390

- - - - 14,541 100,935

- - - - - 815,879

- - - - 21,191 295,765

- - - - - 96,240

- - - - 13,865 272,667

- 33,430 54,265 4,311 5,196 103,725

- - - - 29,561 113,565
21,033 - 6,057 36,147 30,931 149,902
21,033 33,430 565,479 40,458 924,718 5,385,290

- 7 - - 233,227 1,786,450

- - - - 5,704 153,877

- - - - 3,158 1,909,728

- - - “ 51,405 232,426

- - - - 53,019 297,339

- - - - 84,424 104,297

- - - . 435,432 435,432

- - - - 869 30,000

- - - 557,608 66,399 628,910

- . 349,608 - 36,535 389,928

- - 332,487 - 32,329 366,035

- 7 682,095 557,608 1,002,501 6,334,422
21,033 33,423 (116,616) (517,150) (77,783) (949,132)
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Exhibit 4 - Concluded

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Year Ended December 31, 2010

{Amounts are In Thousands of Dollars)

Federal,
State and Special
Local Taxing
General Grants Areas
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Issuance of Debt ........ccocrecrviniiivncneeeceeens $ 16,500 $ - $ -
Premium ..o - - -
Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent ... - - -
Transfers IN ...ovceiieeccccirricccn et nrere e 502,502 - 80,824
Transfers Qut ... (13,600) (1,000) (43,307)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) ....... 505,402 (1,000) 37,517
Net Changes in Fund Balance ...........ccccecerueenen. 82,313 - 167,567
Fund Balance, Beginning of Year .........ccoevenn..e 54,706 13,050 1,232,764
Change in INVentory ......cccuenmmincnsionnenisennens (1,478) - -
Fund Balance, End of Year .......cccceccveeviecivennne $ 135,541 $ 13,050 $ 1,400,331

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Community

Development
Service Bond, Note and Nonmajor Total
Concession Redemption Improvement Governmental Governmental
Agreements Reserve and Interest Projects Funds Funds
$ - $ - $ 559,081 $ 612,336 $ 210,108 $ 1,398,025
- - - 36,365 - 36,365
- - (412,184) - - (412,184)
- - - 6,296 57,785 647,407
- (457,852) (22,150) (99) (109,399) (647,407)
- (457,852) 124,747 654,898 158,494 1,022,206
21,033 (424,429) 8,131 137,748 80,711 73,074
(1,681,459) 1,302,319 256,471 340,878 288,150 1,806,879
- - - - - (1,478)

$ (1,660426) $ 877,890 $ 264,602 $ 478,626 $ 368,861 $ 1,878,475
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Exhibit 5

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended December 31, 2010

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds .........covvveeirccnrcrnrnine s

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in

the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their

estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the

amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current

PEIIOU ..ottt ettt re et et ket se e s e st e sa e s nr e s e st sae s e s r s ene e aes s an e an e rien

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds ... neeeeesnen e

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds,

but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net

assets. This is the amount by which proceeds exceeded repayments ..........cccceveevineienrencnee
Certain expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require

the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as

expenditures in governMental fuNAS .........cccovceiveriieieniimitrere e e e e ras e e sassae et eeene

Change in the net assets of governmental achivities ........c.ccccceeecinicincrin v sneeees
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30,106

(657,809)

(855,569)
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Exhibit 6

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND (BUDGETARY BASIS)
Year Ended December 31, 2010

{Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Revenues:
Utility Tax
Sales Tax

Transportation Tax .........cccovevinnevenrersensenes
Transaction Tax .......cccceccrirervrrneserrcrcanennes

Fines .........

Investment Income ...........ccoeeeeieerreen e,
Charges for Services .......ccovececrevverrrvannen.
Municipal Utilities ........cc.eeiimrcnveienieereen,
Leases, Rentals and Sales ...........cccceenee.

Miscellaneous

Issuance of Debt, Net of

Original Discount .........ccvveecvievernecrsiraecons
Budgeted Prior Years' Surplus

and Reappropriations ..........ccceeeireinienens
Transfers INfOut ......coocccvcviccnnnnrenrennnnns

Total Revenues ..........cccceemmevireriiierennnnnes

Expenditures:
Current:

General Government .......cocoeeveiiiieicceenienns

Health ........
Public Safety

Streets and Sanitation ............cccocveeivivinans

Transportation
Cultural and Recreational

Debt Service:

Principal Retirement .......cccccceveevirecrvvenrenns
Interest and Other Fiscal Charges .............

Total Expenditures ........cococeeveciveerecennas

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures ....

See notes to basic financial statements.

Variance
Original Final Actual Positive
Budget Budget Amounts __(Negative)
$ 479,809 479809 $ 467411 $ (12,398)
215,312 215,312 229,202 13,890
155,661 155,661 150,706 (4,955)
172,713 172,713 195,085 22,372
154,757 154,757 158,380 3,633
78,146 78,146 82,960 4,814
210,255 210,255 282,011 71,756
245,042 245,042 266,640 21,598
3,160 3,160 3,434 274
2,500 2,500 1,735 (765)
289,328 289,328 274,574 (14,754)
105,953 105,953 96,240 (9,713)
262,900 262,900 258,802 (4,098)
3,000 3,000 4,200 1,200
77,543 77,543 77,694 151
6,038 6,038 6,405 367
19,284 19,284 17,604 (1,680)
11,150 11,150 37,759 26,609
16,500 16,500 16,500 -
670,694 670,694 502,502 (168,192)
3,179,745 3,179,745 3,129,854 (49,891)
1,044,147 1,044,147 919,386 124,761
38,470 38,470 35,942 2,528
1,826,846 1,826,846 1,832,942 (6,096)
185,471 185,471 178,074 7,397
79,314 79,314 72,375 6,939
564 564 544 20
3,785 3,785 3,785 -
1,148 1,148 1,138 10
3,179,745 3,179,745 3,044,186 135,559
$ - - $ 85,668 § 85,668

27



Exhibit 7

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOCIS
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

December 31, 2010

{Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major Funds
Chicago Chicago-
Midway O’Hare
International International Chicago
Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total
ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Unrestricted Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents .............cccocceuue. $ 32871 3 17,999 $ 21852 § 150,788 $ 2,114  $ 225,325
Investments ................ 3,840 4,803 44,917 79177 153 132,890
Accounts Recelvable (Net of
AllOWANCES) ...cocvververeeirnensenisrersesieeeseaene 108,154 58,831 10,660 86,067 56 263,768
Due from Other FUnds ......ccc...ccovevemneerevnnnes 19,501 26,937 1,064 20,966 - 68,468
Due from Other Governments - - 1,857 15,476 - 17,333
Inventories .... 14,066 1,436 - - - 15,502
Total Unrestricted Assets ................... 178,432 " 110,006 80,050 352,475 2,323 723,286
Restricted Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents ........cc..ccocreneees 146,981 137,780 228,236 863,009 - 1,376,006
Investments 186,011 112,971 189,161 908,812 - 1,396,955
Total Restricted Assets ........ccccevenneneee 332,992 250,751 417,397 1,771,821 - 2,772,961
Total Current ASSetS .......coceceeeercrrrannne 511,424 360,757 497,447 2,124,296 2,323 3,496,247
NONCURRENT ASSETS:
OTHER ASSETS ..coiiiirriciesccernseneeennens 15,285 11,896 114,097 342,873 10,411 494,562
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:
LANG ...eoveererennseesersesnrsereresssmosetnssasessssssnins 5,083 560 107,287 738,472 12,609 864,011
Structures, Equipment and
Improvements ...........cceevvnnininiennaiennenns 3,142,354 1,737,335 1,362,200 6,389,283 490,755 13,121,927
Accumulated Depreciation ............cccceevueeneen (778,115) (387,276) (338,401) (2,316,486) (191,544) (4,011,822)
Construction Work in Progress ...........c.eeuee. 123,416 11,709 20,229 1,264,280 - 1,419,634
Total Property, Plant and Equipment ... 2,492,738 1,362,328 1,151,315 6,075,549 311,820 11,393,750
Total Noncurrent Assets ..........cocvuceene. 2,508,023 1,374,224 1,265,412 6,418,422 322,231 11,888,312
Deferred OUtflows .......c.occciiiiienieninnieinens 77,367 49,116 14,896 - - 141,379
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows ... $ 3,096,814 $ 1,784,097 §$ 1,777,755 § 8,542,718 § 324,554

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major Funds
Chicago Chicago-
Midway O'Hare
International International Chicago
Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Unrestricted Liabilities:
Voucher Warrants Payable ................. $ 16,173 22611 $ 16,645 § 65,988 262 $ 121,679
Due to Other Funds .......ccveeneerciincannee 26,887 13,312 6,747 4,656 15 51,617
Accrued and Other Liabilities ... 74,729 40,414 2,214 14,595 146 132,098
Deferred Revenue .........ccecviienieinnes 20,774 15,914 32,908 147,023 - 216,619
Total Unrestricted Liabilities ........ 138,563 92,251 58,514 232,262 423 522,013
Restricted Liabilities:
Current Liabilities Payable From
Restricted Assets .......cccoiiveenennnen. 68,486 39,939 60,163 401,793 - 570,381
Total Current Liabllities ............... 207,049 132,190 118,677 634,055 423 1,092,394
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:
Revenue Bonds Payable ..................... 1,743,732 1,112,087 1,458,667 6,510,926 - 10,825,412
Derivative Instrument Liability ............. 717,367 49,116 20,077 - - 146,560
Capital Lease .....cccccreeniirnnnen - - 9,408 - - 9,408
Long-term Purchase Obligation .......... 8,529 - - - - 8,529
Total Noncurrent Liabilities ......... 1,829,628 1,161,203 1,488,152 6,510,926 - 10,989,909
Total Liabilities .........cccoevevceeenenes 2,036,677 1,293,393 1,606,829 7,144,981 423 12,082,303
DEFERRED INFLOWS ........cccvcenenne - - - - 1,719,091 1,719,091
NET ASSETS:
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of .
Related Debt ..o 974,328 414,766 (39,755) 704,324 311,859 2,365,522
Restricted Net Assets:
Debt SErvice .....oocveremrerrcriireeniiieene - - 11,860 - - 11,860
Capital Projects 447 11,110 11,438 151,040 - 174,035
Passenger Facility Charges ............ - - 5,437 174,134 - 179,571
Contractual Use Agreement ........... - - 24,744 107,842 - 132,586
Noise Mitigation Program ................ . - 102,429 104,409 - 206,838
(01111 SR - - 34,733 51,258 - 85,991
Unrestricted Net Assets 85,362 64,828 20,040 104,730 (1,706,819) {1,431,859)
Total Net Assets ...oovvnveeensinncens $ 1,060,137 490,704 $ 170,926 § 1,397,737 (1,394,960) $ 1,724,544

See notes to basic financial statements,
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Exhibit 8
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended December 31, 2010
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major Funds
Chicago Chicago-
Midway O'Hare
Intemational Internationat Chicago
Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total
Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services ...........c........ rererinens $ 445504 $§ 197455 § 78,194 3 468,879 $ - $ 1,180,032
RNt .. - - 70,862 243,724 - 314,586
Other . 12,891 774 - - - 13,665
Total Operating Revenues .................. 458,395 188,229 149,056 702,603 - 1,508,283
Operating Expenses:
Personal Services ..........cceeccveerncrnnnennne 102,946 17,179 42,105 147,437 . 309,667
Contractual Services ...... . 49,276 3,053 15,832 57,981 - 126,142
Repairs and Maintenance ....... 1,587 66,584 31,942 86,463 - 186,576
Commodities and Materials ....... . 24,126 - - - - 24,126
Depreciation and Amortization ............... 44,519 23,775 52,767 185,079 11,312 317,452
General Fund Reimbursements ............. 60,648 27,065 - - - 87,713
L0111 11 SO 40,507 - 18,457 118,747 - 177,711
Total Operating Expenses .................. 323,609 137,656 161,103 595,707 11,312 1 ,229,587
Operating Income {LoSS} .....c.cccovcemeaene 134,786 60,573 (12,047) 106,896 (11,312) 278,896
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Investment Income (LOSS) ....c.ceeerevenen. (362) (922) (2,682) 10,792 5 6,831
Interest Expense (75,738) (47,232) (63,362) (238,780) - (425,112)
Facility Charges - - 40,765 138,966 - 179,731
(@11 OO 530 21,448 777 8,954 18,481 50,190
Total Nonoperating Revenues
(EXPENSeSs) ....coericrmviiirersnssisions (75,570) (26,706) (24,502) (80,068) 18,486 (188,360)
Transfers Out .......ccveoieciiciieecneens - - - - - R
Capital Grants ......c.ceircvnmninciicesininenes 3,414 3,136 2,461 57,567 - 66,578
Net Income (LOSS)  .ovcvviievnnrnenennscsnians 62,630 37,003 (34,088) 84,395 7,174 157,114
Net Assets (Deficit) - Beginning of Year ..... 997,507 453,701 205,014 1,313,342 (1,402,134) 1,567,430
Net Assets (Deficit) - End of Year ............... $ 1,060,137 $ 490,704 $ 170,926 $ 1,397,737 $ (1,394,960) $ 1,724,544

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Exhibit 9

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Year Ended December 31, 2010
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major Funds
Chicago Chicago-
Midway O’Hare
International International Chicago
Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Received from Customers ..........ccccc..ee $ 433161 $ 190357 ¢ 150,038 $ 785,799 § - $ 1,569,355
Payments to Vendors ........cccocvvercncinneans (91,536) (34,077) (67,484) (230,806) - (423,903)
Payments to Employees .........ccccceniee (102,946) (42,644) (33,752) (130,823) - (310,165)
Transactions with Other City Funds ........ (82,581) (15,345) (6,318) (44,779) - (149,023)
Cash Flows from
Operating Activities ..........ccceeececnes 156,098 98,291 42,484 379,391 . 676,264
Cash Flows from Capital and Related
Financing Activities:
Proceeds from Issuance of Bonds .......... 367,532 275,865 331,020 1,177,650 - 2,152,067
Acquisition and Construction of
Capital ASSEtS ...coonvcrniirenressnrensiennine (135,212) (101,782) (34,512) (433,776) - (705,282)
Capital Grant Receipts ......c.ccecrviricccnnnns - 3,136 604 45,934 - 49,674
Bond Issuance Costs ......cocceevermrcrercennes (2,244) (1,959) (2,041) (8,220) - (14,464)
Payment to Refund Bonds .........c..cueueeee (35,580) (29,223) (61,360) (295,355) - (421,518)
Principal Paid on Debt ..........coceeceeceeenns (44,554) (24,030) (55,073) (196,727) - (320,384)
Interest Paid ...........cccoeneneene (79,763) (40,567) (56,472) (267,910) - (443,712)
Passenger Facility Charges .................... - - 42,600 141,952 - 184,552
Noise Mitigation Program ...........c..c....... - - (3,049) (23,759) - (26,808)
DEPOSIt ..ottt - - (1,420) - 12 (1,408)
Cash Flows from Capital and
Related Financing Actlvities ............. 70,179 81,440 161,297 139,788 12 452,717
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Sale (Purchases) of Investments, Net ... (101,935) (86,729) (97,746) (143,553) (116) (430,079)
Investment Interest ..........cccooiniiciiienen. 859 794 1,321 14,023 5 17,002
Cash Flows from
Investing ACtVIIES ......cceeviuicrencnnnns (101,076) (85,935) (96,425) (129,530) (111) (413,077)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and
Cash Equivalents .......ccccccivvnincnnnieenne 125,201 93,796 107,356 389,650 (99) 715,904
Cash and Cash Equivalents,
Beginning of Year .........coeviireninciinnas 54,651 61,983 142,432 624,148 2,213 885,427
Cash and Cash Equivalents,
End of YEAr ..ocococeccevmnrinniinisrsiennnns $ 179,852 § 155779 § 249,788 $ 1,013,798 § 2114 § 1,601,331

See notes to basic financial statements.

31




Exhibit 9 - Concluded

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Year Ended December 31, 2010
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Reconciliation of Operating Income to
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Operating Income (LOSS) ...ccovermiriiieecvmns
Adjustments to Reconcile:
Depreciation and Amortization ...........cccecenviinennnee.
Provision for Uncollectible Accounts
Change In Assets and Liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in Receivables .....................
({Increase) Decrease in Due From Other Funds ...
Increase (Decrease) in Voucher Warrants
Payable and Due to Other Funds ...........ceeeuene
Increase (Decrease) in Deferred Revenue
and Other Liabilities ........ccccoveverrcennrecinrinnnns
(Increase) Decrease in Inventories and
Other ASSeLS ......ccccreiermrincimensiirimniicrieresssnenns

Cash Flows from
Operating Activities .......c.cccocvvnevicimereiiiinncninnns

Supplementat Disclosure of
Noncash ltems:
Capitat asset additions in 2010
included in accounts payable
and accrued and other liabilities ..........................

See notes to basic financial statements.

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Major Funds
Chicago Chicago-
Midway O'Hare
Intemational  Intemational Chicago
Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total
$ 134786 $ 60573 $ (12,047) $ 106,896 $ (11,312) $ 278,896
44,519 23,775 52,767 185,079 11,312 317,452
15,862 7,936 3,369 (1,747) - 25,420
(24,839) (8,296) (1.950) (13,511) - (48,596)
(1,959) 8,503 2,513 (139) - 8,918
(25,708) 4,212 (1,453) 6,070 - (16,879)
13,686 1,729 (715) 96,743 - 111,443
(249) (141) - - - (390)
$ 156,098 $ 98291 $ 42484 $ 379391 $ . $ 676,264
$ 16265 $ 29849 § 242N $ 118873 $ - $ 189,258
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Exhibit 10
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
December 31, 2010
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)
Pension
Trust Agency
ASSETS
Cash and Cash EqQUIivalents ..........cccoccviiereniererenicieseesesesesessceenesssesnee $ 211,424 3 86,955
INVESIMENTS ...ttt e rr s re v e et e es s e s re s s sssasaanseanensrarareasanasas - 53,283
Investments, at Fair Value
Bonds and U.S. Government
ODblIGALONS ..cveeviieeerirericrerereieercoreniirsrssenersinsesenssessenessasssnsanssssstssesatsan 2,239,582 -
SHOCKS eoreerereireiieeierrcirrtrtieieesesesisisessorssrarntessssteresassassersesransensesssnsanans 6,558,369 -
Mortgages and Real EState .........ccovvevveevcinciiniiesninecteccen e 440,241 -
OBhBT ceeeieieeieccctetrccente st e e ce s s aae e ssssmnssses s s ente s sesssassanssssnssnsnannnnsnees 1,604,709 -
Cash and Investments with
ESCrOW AQent ......oiiciicrrecceceesnrnreerest s cessiat s trareeessess s bantesninssensen - 16,726
Property Tax Receivable .........cc.coviiieiiimicieccicccn et - 103,407
Accounts Receivable, Net .........oeeeeveeeieccriecrir e cessnnrencsssseseseeaas 844,487 109,327
DUE From CilY  .oee ettt ettt st st cne e s sasanenenee 4,917 -
Invested Securities Lending Collateral .........coccoceececervereciicrrenccrenrecennes 1,238,353 -
TOtAl ASSEES ...ttt et e s sre s satr s e e e s amams sean $ 13,142,082 $ 369,698
LIABILITIES
Voucher Warrants Payable ...........cccvceiicrercmrerersmreesressessenieseesscssesssessees $ 495,175 $ 39,434
Accrued and Other Liabilifies .......c..cccceeieeeiieerceciicnecceieceeseccsraevaescerssanens - 330,264
Securities Lending Collateral ..........ccccooviviemiicieiiiiircniiniicestreseeens 1,238,353 -
Total LiabilitIeS  ...cccoceeeeiieiieeiiiietiicseesseterese eeereesaseesesbensssrarssorene vas 1,733,528 369,698
NET ASSETS
Reserved for Employee
Benefit Plans ..eceeieeertrereecrceciesessrereseteeeseee s e e s e s e es b n s banatassaeen 11,408,554 -
Total Net Assets Held in Trust for Pension Benefits ...........coveeen... $ 11,408,554 $ -

See notes to basic financial statements.
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Exhibit 11

CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PLAN NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS - PENSION TRUST FUNDS
Year Ended December 31, 2010

(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars)

Total
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
EMPIOYEES ....ccvveenrcerceeeereeniee e e e st sae e 3 299,752
1071 17 U TSRO U RS URTURN 449,668
Total Contributions .....ccceeieiiereeeciciininiiieeerenne 749,420
Investment Income:
Net Appreciation in
Fair Value of Investments ............ccccccevevnerennnee 1,158,742
Interest, Dividends and Other .........cccovvvemrenereennn 230,611
Investment Expense ..........cccicciinicnnvininnceeneneenee (47,049)
Net Investment INnCOME  .......oovveeeerceeeeeeenenn 1,342,304
Securities Lending Transactions:
Securities Lending Income .......ccccverninrinecnnenenens 12,985
Securities Lending EXpense .........ccccvveeceeenevennene (3,066)
Net Securities Lending Transactions ............... 9,919
Total AddIIONS  .....veereerrrnreieirceereenreereee e 2,101,643
DEDUCTIONS
Benefits and Refunds of Deductions ......cccccoeveveirieneene. 1,550,776
Administrative and General ..........cccceeecevrecieeeveresreeences 19,161
Total Deductions ........cccovcceeveveeeccccrmeeecennierenns 1,569,937
Net Increase in Net Assets ......ooeevveeviceiinnneee 531,706
Net Assets Held in Trust for
Pension Benefits:
Beginning of Year ........cceeievcecencoincciiccinneenscneraees 10,876,848
ENA Of YEAN ettt cecnbee s e cenean $ 11,408,554

See notes to basic financial statements.
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1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The City of Chicago (City), incorporated in 1837, is a “home rule” unit under State of lllinois (State) law. The City has
a mayor-council form of government. The Mayor is the Chiet Executive Officer of the City and is elected by general
election. The City Council is the legislative body and consists of 50 members, each representing one of the City's 50
wards. The members of the City Council are elected through popular vote by ward for four-year terms.

The accounting policies of the City are based upon accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). For the year ended December 31,
2010, the City adopted GASB Statement No. 51, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Intangible Assets and GASB
Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments. GASB Statement No. 53 enhances
the usefulness and comparability of derivative instrument information reported by providing for the recognition,
measurement, and disclosure of derivative instrument transactions. Derivative instruments such as interest rate and
commodity swaps, swaptions, forward contracts, and futures contracts are entered into by governments as
investments; as hedges of identified financial risks associated with assets or liabilities, or expected transactions (i.e.,
hedgeable items); to lower the costs of borrowings; to effectively fix cash flows or synthetically fix prices; or to offset
the changes in fair value of hedgeable items. A key provision of GASB Statement No. 53 is that certain derivative
instruments, with the exception of synthetic guaranteed investment contracts that are fully benefit-responsive, are
reported at fair value by governments in their financial statements.

The financial reporting impact resulting from the implementation of GASB Statement No. 53 is the recognition within
the financial statements of a liability for hedging and investment derivative instrument liabilities whose negative fair
value at December 31, 2010 totaled $261.8 million and deferred outflows of resources of $234.0 million. The City
also recorded an investment loss for the year ended December 31, 2010 of $6.0 million. In addition, beginning net
assets within the statement of activities was restated as of January 1, 2010 to reflect investment losses of $21.9
million as a result of the retroactive implementation of this statement. Refer to Note No. 10 for additional disclosures
related to this statement.

a) Reporting Entity - The City includes the Chicago Public Library and the City-related funds of the Public
Building Commission. The financial statements for the City have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), applicable to governmental
units, as required by the Municipal Code of Chicago (Code).

The City’s financial statements blend the following legally separate component units because they are fiscally
dependent on the City and perform services primarily for City employees:

The Municipal Employees’ Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicaqo is governed by a five-member board: three
members are elected by plan participants and two are members ex-officio.

The Laborers’ and Retirement Board Employees’ Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago is governed by an
eight-member board: two members are elected by plan participants, two are members ex-officio, two

members are appointed by the City Department of Human Resources, one member is elected by retired plan
participants and one member is elected by the local labor union.

The Policemen’s Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago is govemed by an eight-member board: four members
are elected by plan participants and four are appointed by the Mayor.

The Firemen's Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago is governed by an eight-member board: four members
are elected by plan participants and four are members ex-officio.

Financial statements for each of the pension plans may be obtained at the respective fund’s office.

Related Organizations - City officials are responsible for appointing a voting majority of the members of the
boards of other organizations, but the City’'s accountability for these organizations does not extend beyond
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b)

c)

making appointments and no fiscal dependency exists between the City and these organizations. Therefore,
the Chicago Park District, Chicago Public Schools, Community College District No. 508, Chicago Housing
Authority and the Chicago Transit Authority are deemed to be related organizations.

Government-wide and fund financial statements - The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the
statement of net assets and the statement of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities
of the government. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these
statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovemmental
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on user fees
and charges for services.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identified with a specific
function or segment. Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or
segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as
general revenues. Separate fund financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary
funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide financial
statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as
separate columns in the fund financial statements.

Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation - The government-wide
financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are
recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both
measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectable within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 90 days of the end of the current fiscal period
with the exception of property tax revenue, which is deferred unless taxes are received within 60 days
subsequent to year-end. Licenses and permits, charges for services and miscellaneous revenues are not
considered to be susceptible to accrual and are recorded as revenues when received in cash. All other
revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the City.
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual basis of accounting, except
for interest and principal on long-term debt, the long-term portion of compensated absences, claims and
judgments and pension obligations.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources except
those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Federal, State and Local Grants Fund accounts for the expenditures for programs, which include
general government, health, public safety, transportation, aviation, cultural and recreational, and capital
outlays. The majority of revenues are provided by several agencies of the Federal government,
departments of the lllinois State government and City resources.

Special Taxing Areas Fund accounts for expenditures for special area operations and maintenance and
for redevelopment project costs as provided by tax levies on special areas.
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Service Concession Agreement Fund accounts for deferred inflows from long-term concession and
lease transactions whose proceeds are restricted to expenditure for specified purposes.

Reserve Fund accounts for a Mid-term and Long-term Reserve. The Mid-term is subject to
appropriation; whereas the Long-term’s principal is legally restricted. These reserves were created as a
result of the Skyway Lease and Meter Parking System transactions.

Bond, Note Redemption and Interest Fund accounts for the expenditures for principal and interest as
provided by property tax, utility tax, sales tax, transportation tax, and investment income.

Community Development and Improvement Projects Funds account for proceeds of debt used to
acquire property, finance construction, and finance authorized expenditures and supporting services for
various activities.

The City reports the following major proprietary funds as business-type activities:

Water Fund accounts for the operations of the Chicago Water System (Water). The Water system
purifies and provides Lake Michigan water for the City and 125 suburbs. The Water Fund operates two
water treatment facilities and 12 pumping stations with a combined pumping capacity of 3,661 million
gallons per day.

Sewer Fund accounts for the operations of the Wastewater Transmission System (Sewer). The Sewer
system transports wastewater to the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago for
processing and disposal. This service is provided for the residents and businesses of the City and certain
suburban customers.

Chicago Midway International Airport Fund records operations of Chicago Midway International
Airport (Midway) that provides regional travelers with access to airlines that generally specialize in low-
cost, point-to-point, origin and destination passenger service. Midway Airport is conveniently located ten
miles from down town Chicago.

Chicago-O’Hare International Airport Fund records operations of Chicago-O’Hare Intemational Airport
(O’Hare), the primary commercial airport for the City. The airlines servicing the airport operate out of four
terminal buildings. Three domestic terminal buildings, having a total of 169 gates, serve domestic flights
and certain international departures. The International Terminal, having a total of 20 gates and five
remote aircraft parking positions, serves the remaining intemational departures and all international
arrivals requiring customs clearance.

Chicago Skyway Fund records operations of the Chicago Skyway (Skyway) which provides vehicle
passage across the Calumet River, between the State of Indiana and the State of lllinois (State) through
the operation of a tollway which consists of a 7.8-mile span connecting the Dan Ryan Expressway to the
indiana Toll Road. Facilities include a single toll plaza consisting of a central office, maintenance garage
and toll collection area. in January 2005, the City entered into a long-term Concession and Lease
Agreement of the Skyway, granting a private company the ability to operate and to collect toll revenue
during the 99-year term of the agreement. The City received a one-time upfront payment of $1.83 billion.

Additionally, the City reports the following fiduciary fund types:

Pension Trust Funds report expenditures for employee pensions as provided by employee and
employer contributions and investment earnings.

Agency Funds account for transactions for assets held by the City as agent for certain activities or for

various entities. Payroll deductions and special deposits are the primary transactions accounted for in
these funds.
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d)

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989, generally
are followed in both the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to the extent that those
standards do not conflict with or contradict guidance of the GASB. Governments also have the option of
following subsequent private-sector guidance for their business-type activities and enterprise funds, subject to
this same limitation. The City has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance.

As a general rule the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payment-in-lieu of taxes and other charges between the City’s
water, sewer, airports and skyway funds. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and
program revenues reported for the various functions concerned.

Amounts reported as program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods and
services, or privileges provided, or fines, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.

Certain indirect costs have been included as part of the program expenses reported for the various functional
activities.

In the fund financial statements, proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from
nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and
producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The
principal operating revenues of the water, sewer and skyway funds are charges to customers for sales and
services. The airport funds principal operating revenues are derived from landing fees and terminal use
charges as well as rents and concessions. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales
and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted
resources first, then unrestricted resources, as they are needed.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Assets, liabilities, deferred inflows, and net assets or equity

i) Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments generally are held with the City Treasurer as required by the
Code. Interest earned on pooled investments is allocated to participating funds based upon their average
combined cash and investment balances. Due to contractual agreements or legal restrictions, the cash
and investments of certain funds are segregated and earn and receive interest directly. The City uses
separate escrow accounts in which certain tax revenues are deposited and held for payment of debt.

The Code permits deposits only to City Council-approved depositories, which must be regularly organized
state or national banks and federal and state savings and loan associations, located within the City,
whose deposits are federally insured.

Investments authorized by the Code include interest-bearing general obligations of the City, State and
U.S. Government; U.S. Treasury bills and other noninterest-bearing general obligations of the U.S.
Government purchased in the open market below face value; domestic money market funds regulated
and in good standing with the Securities and Exchange Commission and tax anticipation warrants issued
by the City. The City is prohibited by ordinance from investing in derivatives, as defined, without City
Council approval. The City values its investments at fair value or amortized cost. U.S. Government
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ii)

i)

iv)

securities purchased at a price other than par with a maturity of less than one year are reported at
amortized cost.

The City’s four retirement plans are authorized to invest in bonds, notes, and other obligations of the U.S.
Government; corporate debentures and obligations; insured mortgage notes and loans; common and
preferred stocks; stock options; real estate; and other investment vehicles as set forth in the lllinois
Compiled Statutes. These investments are reported at fair value.

Repurchase agreements can be purchased only from banks and certain other institutions authorized to
do business in the State. The City Treasurer requires that securities that are pledged to secure these
agreements have a market value equal to the cost of the repurchase agreements plus accrued interest.

Investments generally may not have a maturity date in excess of ten years from the date of purchase.
Certain other investments are held in accordance with the specific provisions of applicable ordinances.

Cash equivalents include certificates of deposit and other investments with maturities of three months or
less when purchased.

Deficit cash balances result in interfund borrowings from the aggregate of funds other than escrowed
funds. Interest income and expense are generally not recognized on these interfund borrowings.

State statutes and the City’s Pension Plans’ policies permit lending Pension Plan securities to broker-
dealers and other entities with a simultaneous agreement to return the collateral for the same securities in
the future. Securities lent at year-end for cash collateral are presented as not categorized in the schedule
of custodial credit risk; securities lent for securities collateral are classified according to the category for
the collateral.

Receivables and Payables activity between funds are representative of services rendered, outstanding
at the end of the fiscal year, and are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current
portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the noncurrent portion of interfund
loans). Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type
activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances.”

All frade and property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles. The allowance is
based on histarical trends. The estimated value of services provided but unbilled at year-end has been
included in receivables.

Inventory includes govemment-wide inventories, which are stated at cost determined principally, using
the average cost methad. For proprietary funds, the costs of inventories are recorded as capital assets
when used (consumption method). Governmental fund inventories are accounted for using the
purchases method and are offset by a reservation of fund balance to indicate that they do not represent
expendable available financial resources.

Assets Held for Resale includes land and buildings of $7.6 million, recorded at lower of cost or market in
the Federal, State and Local Grant Funds. These assets are purchased through the use of federal grants
and City resources and are intended to be resold.

Restricted Assets include certain proceeds of the City’s enterprise fund revenue bonds, as well as
certain resources set aside for their repayment. These assets are classified as restricted in the basic
financial statements because they are maintained in separate bank accounts and their use is limited by
applicable bond covenants.

The Skyway Lease Transaction legally requires the Long-term reserve’s principal to be restricted.
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vi)

The Water and Sewer funds maintain Rate Stabilization Accounts where any net revenues remaining
after providing sufficient funds for all required deposits in the bond accounts may be transferred upon the
direction of the City to be used for any lawful purpose of the specific fund.

The O’Hare and Midway funds maintain Passenger Facility Charge accounts as restricted as they are
subject to Federal Aviation Administration regulation and approval, to finance specific eligible capital and
debt related activities.

Capital Assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g. roads, bridges,
sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities
columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the City as assets,
or a network of assets, with an initial cost of more than $5,000 (not rounded) and an estimated useful life
in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if
purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date
of donation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially
extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Interest
incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of
the capitalization value of the assets constructed. The total interest expense (Governmental and
Business Activities) incurred by the City during the current fiscal year was $848.0 million, of which $74.9
million was capitalized as part of the capital assets under construction projects in proprietary funds.

Property, plant, and equipment of the City are depreciated using the straight-line method, in the year
subsequent to acquisition or when placed into service, over the following estimated useful lives:

ULIItY plant.......oceeceinis et ssessssesssen s 25 - 100 years
Utility structures and improvements........c..ccveinceeennscsnscneninnens 50 - 100 years
Buildings and improvements...........ccvveieninresmecsniiensnnnisensenesinenes 5- 40 years
Airport runways, aprons, tunnels, taxiways, and paved roads....... 5- 40 years
Bridge infrastructure..........cccuevvriciinniiiniscnininensisnessssesssesesenecnas 10 - 50 years
Lighting infrastructure.........eceeiiiecciiciecin et 25 years
Street INfrastructure.........c...eoeeiiisiinininceiiiesiss e 10 - 25 years
Transit INfrastrUCtUre........ccoreciciirecrnenncers et ssensenes 10 - 40 years
Equipment (vehicle, office, and computer) ........ccecevreeirccsnniinenns 4 - 33 years

The City has a collection of artwork and historical treasures presented for public exhibition and education
that are being preserved for future generations. The proceeds from sales of any pieces of the collection
are used to purchase other acquisitions. A portion of this collection is not capitalized or depreciated as
part of capital assets.

vil) Deferred Outflows represent the fair value of derivative instruments that are deemed to be effective.

vili)Employee Benefits are granted for vacation and sick leave, workers’ compensation and health care.

Unused vacation leave is accrued and may be carried over for one year. Sick leave is accumulated at
the rate of one day for each month worked, up to a maximum of 200 days. Severance of employment
terminates all rights to receive compensation for any unused sick leave. Sick leave pay is not accrued.
Employee benefit claims outstanding, including claims incurred but not reported, are estimated and
recorded in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts
is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of employee
resignations and retirements.
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Employees are eligible to defer a portion of their salaries until future years under the City’s deferred
compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The deferred
compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement, death or unforeseeable
emergency. Third-party administrators who maintain the investment portfolio administer the Plan. The
plan’s assets have been placed in trust accounts with the plan administrators for the exclusive benefit of
participants and their beneficiaries and are not considered assets of the City.

The City is subject to the State of Illinois Unemployment Compensation Act and has elected the
reimbursing employer option for providing unemployment insurance benefits for eligible former
employees. Under this option, the City reimburses the State for claims paid by the State. Expenditures
for workers’ compensation are recorded when paid in the governmental funds. A liability for these
amounts is recorded in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.

Judgments and claims are included in the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund
types in the fund financial statements. Uninsured claim expenditures and liabilities are reported when it is
probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated. These
losses include an estimate of claims that have been incurred but not reported. In the fund financial
statements, expenditures for judgments and claims are recorded on the basis of settlements reached or
judgments entered within the current fiscal year. Amounts that related to deferred compensatory time
and reserves for questioned costs are treated the same way.

Long-term obligations are included in the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund
types in the fund financial statements. Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as
liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type
statement of net assets. Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and
amortized over the life of the related debt, except in the case of refunding debt transactions where the
amortization period is over the term of the refunding or refunded debt, whichever is shorter.

The City enters into interest rate swap agreements to modify interest rates on outstanding debt. For
existing swaps the net interest expenditures resulting from these arrangements are recorded as interest
expense. The fair value of derivative instruments that are deemed to be effective is accounted for as
deferred outflows. Derivative instruments that are deemed not effective are adjusted to fair value with the
change in fair value recorded to investment earnings. All interest rate swaps and swaptions are approved
by City Council.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as
bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other
financing sources. Premiums received and discounts given on debt issued are reported as other
financing sources or uses. lssuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds
received, are reported as expenditures.

Certain debt obligations are to be paid from sales tax, motor fuel or special area taxes.

Long-term purchase obligation represents an agreement with DuPage Water Commission to construct
electrical generation facilities not to exceed $15.0 million. The payment of the obligation will be in the
form of credits against the charges for water supplied.

Deferred inflows represent amounts to be recognized as revenue on a straight line basis over the life of
the related long-term lease and concession agreements.

xii) Fund equity in the government-wide statements is classified as net assets and displayed in three

components:
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(1) Invested in capital assets, net of related debt - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds,
mortgages, notes or any other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those assets.

(2) Restricted net assets - Consists of net assets with constraints placed on the use either by (1) extenal
groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or (2)
are legally restricted through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Restricted net assets
for governmental activities represent restrictions associated with the nonmajor special revenue funds.
Restricted net assets for business activities are provided in Exhibit #7, Statement of Net Assets,
Proprietary Funds.

(3) Unrestricted net assets - All other net assets that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or “invested
in capital assets, net of related debt.”

2) Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

a) Explanation of certain differences between the governmental funds balance sheet and the
government-wide statement of net assets.

i) The governmental funds balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance - total
governmental funds and net assets - governmental activities as reported in the government-wide
statement of net assets. One element of that reconciliation explains that “Other long-term assets are not
available to pay for current-period expenditures and therefore are deferred in the funds.” The details of
this $1,378.6 million are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Deferred revenue - propenty tax ........c..ceecivseeremncrrcinnnsesnsnnsnssnens $ 1,233,483
Other assets - PensioN BXCOSS ....c.cvrvriinieiiisinniesieiniissieresanesanaes 169,966
Accounts payable - infrastructure retainage ............cceerciecienrienneen (24,885)

Net adjustment to increase fund balance - total
governmental funds - to arrive at net assets -
governmental activities ..........crrcimmicercnniniiiiicse e $ 1,378,564

ii) Another element of that reconciliation explains that “Certain liabilities, including bonds payable, are not
due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.” The details of this
$13,840.7 million are as follows (dollars in thousands):
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Long-term liabilities:

Total bonds, notes and certificates payable ...........c.cccovecerninanen. $ 8,491,926
Pension obligation .........cccceeeeiverrecererevrreneenseseveeesensesnesssesnessnnenssns 4,216,250
Lease obligation ..........cccccvevieienceicieeirenererersorenessararsssnessensorensess 177,011
Pollution remediation.............cccceeveirerercrmieceicniinneinenranerses e sesesssens 14,263
Claims and JUAgMEents ........c.ccccevcrerecrcieniinienesieenesesecreressnseasaneasasen 641,762
Total Long-term habilities ......cc.ccconeerceinscaninninrerernnnneersenceieenees 13,541,212
Bonds, notes and other obligations payable current ........................ (146,271)
Other assets - iISSUANCE COSES ........cccceveeeecrrreesirreseeesresersseniescsesasans (74,115)
ACCTUE INTEIESE ..ottt e 4,635
Accrued and other liabilities - contractual wages.......c...ccceevevercincens 80,000
Accrued and other liabilities - other post employment benefits ....... 304,483
Derivative inStruments ..........cceveeriericcmeccnninis et 22,680
Accrued and other liabilities - compensated absences .................... 108,071

Net adjustment to reduce fund balance - total
governmental funds - to arrive at net assets -
governmental activities .....c.c.cccveveminiicinnncinniiinnicice s $ 13,840,695

b) Explanation of certain differences bhetween the governmental funds statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities.

i) The governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances inciudes a
reconciliation between net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds and changes in net
assets - governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of activities. One element
of that reconciliation explains that “Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However,
in the statements of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and
reported as depreciation expense.” The details of this $31.3 million are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Capitalized asset expenditures ...........ccceeceevccinirnrcrnncnnne $ 348,205
Depreciation eXpense ............ceeeerercemiiencsneninneensnennnes {379,115)
Loss - disposal of equipment ..........ccrccenererreceerrraccnas (410)

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund
balances - total governmental funds - to arrive at
changes in net assets - governmental activities ............ $ (31,320)

ii) Another element of that reconciliation states that “Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to
governmental funds, but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets.” The
details of this $657.8 million are as follows (dollars in thousands):
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Proceeds of debt .........cccvciiniiriici e
Pramilm ...t ntenne et sseesssenmesen s
Payment of refunded bond escrow agent .............ccerenrnee
Principal retirement ..........cccvceecvneciienicsneieese oo
Payment of cost of iSSUANCE ........cceieeeniceniniinieinecennes
INterest eXPenSse .......c.cceiirvcnirircreoseenesanneresnresseneenese

Net adjustment to reduce net changes in fund
balances - total governmentat funds - to arrive at
changes in net assets - governmental activities ............

(1,398,025)
(36,365)
412,184
389,928
7,402
(32,933)

(657,809)

iif) A third element of that reconciliation states that “Certain expenses reported in the statement of activities
do not require the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in
governmental funds.” The details of this $855.6 million are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Claims and judgments ........cccccevecreevcrieniiereseenrensreneneesaenas
Pension benefit llability .........ccvereecmiinccnriiierecicnieenne
Contractual Wage Settlement..........ccccvmnvinirnvecinncnenes
Pollution remediation ............ccccveiiiriieienircnmeerncrcenscicsnsnes
Other post employment benefits .......cccoereericeciicinnienn.
VACAHON ...oiirieiciicrreereireee e e sresteserseresssnrsoraserasansessssranns
Lease obligations ...........ccceeverirerrerrcrerrenetmneinrensssssnsssssens
0NV 0] (o] o U

Net adjustment to reduce net changes in fund
balances - total governmental funds - to arrive at
changes in net assets - governmental activities ............

3) Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability

(14,392)
(799,281)
(80,000)
23,106
24,557
951
(9,032)
(1,478)

(855,569)

a) Annual Appropriation Budgets are established for the General Fund and the Vehicle Tax, Pension,
Chicago Public Library and certain Miscellaneous, Special Events, Tourism and Festivals nonmajor Special

Revenue Funds, on a non-GAAP budgetary basis:

i) Prior to November 15, the Mayor submits to the City Council a proposed budget of expenditures and the

means of financing them for the next year.

ii) The budget document is available for public inspection for at least ten days prior to passage of the annual
appropriation ordinance by the City Council, which is also required to hold at least one public hearing.

iif) Prior to January 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of the appropriation ordinance.

iv) Subsequent to the enactment of the appropriation ordinance, the City Council has the authority to make
necessary adjustments to the budget, which results in a change in total or individual appropriations. The
legal level of budgetary control is designated in the budget by object grouped by purpose except for the
Motor Fuel Tax Fund, which is subsequently re-appropriated by project. A separate Motor Fuel Tax Fund
Report demonstrates compliance with annual and project-length budgets required by the State. The
separately issued Supplement to the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report provides budgetary
information for all other budgeted funds. Copies of this report are available upon request.
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b) Reconciliation of GAAP Basis to Budgetary Basis - The City’s budgetary basis of accounting used for
budget vs. actual reporting differs from GAAP. For budgetary purposes, encumbrances are recorded as
expenditures but are reflected as reservations of fund balances for GAAP purposes. For budgetary purposes,
proceeds of long-term debt and transfers in are classified as revenues. For budgetary purposes prior years’
resources used to cover current year budgetary expenditures are recorded as revenues.
purposes, proceeds of long-term debt and transfers out are treated as other financing sources. Provision for
doubtful account expenditures are not budgeted. A reconciliation of the different basis of revenue and
expenditure recognition for the year ended December 31, 2010 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

c)

v) All annual appropriations unused and unencumbered lapse at year-end. Encumbered appropriations are
carried forward to the following year. Project-length financial plans are adopted for Capital Project Funds.

Appropriations for Debt Service Funds are established by bond ordinance.

General
Fund

Revenues, GAAP Basis ..........ccovververiieinieeciereneneeneeeesenns $ 2,610,852
Add:

Proceeds of Debt ........cccoovvreeiiiirmrieiieiieiec e e 16,500

Transfers IN .....ueeveeveiierimierieireecireeerererenssaeseeensrsnrsssececenns 502,502

Prior Year's Surplus Utilized ............ccooiiiiinninnniiiiceeneees -
Revenues, Budgetary Basis .........ccccveveriieriiinnniieeniinecens $ 3,129,854
Expenditures, GAAP BasiS .....cccccccvierrviicviccnineineciiesnnenenes $ 3,033,941
Add:

Transfers QUL ......coociiviiieiieeeerrimeeee e s ee e s e v e 13,600

Encumbered in 2010 .......covvriiiiiiirireieeerreeereeesee e eeenenees 33,930
Deduct:

Payments on Prior Years' Encumbrances ..................... (25,341)

Provision for Doubtful Accounts.........cccccoeiiiiiiiniiniinnnnnn. (11,944)
Expenditures, Budgetary Basis ......cc.cccceevvecerneerininncicnnees $ 3,044,186

Individual Fund Deficits include the Motor Fuel Tax Fund, the Special Events,
Service Concession Agreements Fund, which are Special Revenue Funds, and the Chicago Skyway Fund,
an Enterprise Fund, have fund deficits of $6.6 million, $4.0 million, $1,660.4 million, and $1,395.0 million,

respectively, which management anticipates will be funded through operations.
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4) Restricted and Unrestricted Cash, Cash Equivalents and investments

a) Investments As of December 31, 2010, the City had the following Investments (dollars in thousands):

)

i)

Investment Type Investment Maturities (in Years)
Less Than 1 1-5 6-10 More Than 10 __ Fair Value
City Funds

U.S. Treasuries.........cccvuveerereucncrienanne $ 279970 $ 563 § - $ 33,162 §$ 313,685
U.S. Agencies......... 1,238,651 1,693,129 267,612 389,071 3,588,463
Corporate Bonds 139 - - 96,252 96,391
Corporate Equities..........c.coocevecrcncenine 451 - - - 451
Certificates of Deposit and

Other Short-term ..........ccoecenrvneennane 2,836,689 - - - 2,836,689
Total City Funds......c.oceevinninvenninisnnns $ 4355900 $ 1,693,682 §$ 267612 $ 518485 $ 6,835,679

Pension Trust Funds
U.S. and Foreign

Govemment Agencies..........ccvenennne $ 250,966 $ 349,527 $ 203231 $ 512472 $ 1,325,196
Commercial Paper - - - . -
Corporate Bonds........ 54,596 424,371 292,036 342,013 1,113,016
Corporate Equities.........ccooovveenenieevenene 6,272,559 - - - 6,272,559
Pooled Funds.......c..ccocveemimennimeenneccence 1,147,016 - - - 1,147,016
Real Estate..........cccooeevimmeineririnnerarnens 430,115 - - - 430,115
Securities Received from

Securities Lending 1,238,353 - - - 1,238,353
Venture Capital........... 439,219 - - - 439,219
Certificates of Deposit and : .

Other Short-term .........ccenvisicinnenine 440,273 - - - 440,273
(01111 SO PON 83,333 - - - 83,333
Total Pension Trust Funds................... $ 10,365,430 $ 773898 $ 495267 _$§ 854485 _§ 12,489,080
Total..eeieeirerimceneeeeie e $ 14,721,330 _$ 2,467,580 $ 762,879 _$ 1,372,970 _$ 19,324,759 "

———————

Interest Rate Risk As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest
rates, the City’s investment policy limits all securities so purchased, except tax anticipation warrants,
municipal bonds, notes, commercial paper or other instruments representing a debt obligation of the City,
shall show on their face that they are fully payable as to principal and interest, where applicable, if any,
within ten years from the date of purchase.

Credit Risk The Code limits investments in commercial paper to banks whose senior obligations are rated
in the top two rating categories by at least two national rating agencies and who are required to maintain
such rating during the term of such investment. The Code also limits investments to domestic money
market mutual funds regulated by, and in good standing with, the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Certificates of Deposit are also limited by the Code to national banks which provide collateral of at least
105 percent by marketable U.S. government securities marked to market at least monthly; or secured by
a corporate surety bond issued by an insurance company licensed to do business in lllinois and having a
claims-paying rating in the top rating category, as rated by a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization maintaining such rating during the term of such investment. The following schedule
summarizes the City’s and Pension Trust Funds exposure to credit risk (dollars in thousands):
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i)

Quality Rating City Penslon Trust Funds
AaalAAA.........cmeernenen $ 6,696,722 $ 556,335
Aa/AA......eeierenees 72,847 93,893
AfA..rieereciesees - 259,145
Baa/BBB........ccoeeenuennnens - 324,343
Ba/BB......cccoocirieeiennnes - 69,517
B/B..coerrrereecreeeeecrenneens - 86,765
Caa/CCC.....ueeveenireenen. - 31,230
107 ORI UNURUP - 2,574
CC/C..eerrereereeiernn - 6,627
D/D..covreriereererrerseseeerenn - 6,484
Not Rated...................... - 234,942
Not Applicable............... 66,110 634,023
Total Funds................... $ 6,835679 $

2,305,878

Custodial Credit Risk — Cash and Certlficates of Deposit This is the risk that in the event of a bank
failure, the City's deposits may not be returned. The City’s Investment Policy states that in order to
protect the City’s deposits, depository institutions are to maintain collateral pledges on City deposits
during the term of the deposit of at least 105 percent of marketable U.S. government, or approved
securities or surety bonds, issued by top-rated insurers. Collateral is required as security whenever
deposits exceed the insured limits of the FDIC. The bank balance of cash and certificates of deposit with
the City’s various municipal depositories was $211.0 million. Of the bank balance, 100 percent was
either insured or collateralized with securities held by City agents in the City’s name. The remainder was
uninsured and uncollateralized.

Custodial Credit Risk — Investments For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of
the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities
that are in possession of an outside party. Of the investment in corporate bonds of $96.4 million the City
has no custodial credit risk exposure because the related securities are insured, registered and held by
the City.
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v) Foreign Currency Risk - In the case of the Pension Trust Funds, is the risk that changes in exchange
rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment or a deposit. The risk of loss is managed by
limiting its exposure to fair value loss by requiring their international securities managers to maintain
diversified portfolios. The following schedule summarizes the Pension Trust Funds exposure to foreign

currency risk (dollars in thousands):

Foreign Currency Risk

Australian dollar........c.ccoveceeceeieneresennncens $ 92,102
Brazilian real........cc.ccoeeeeenneimeiinniininnninnnn 68,917
British pound..........cceeeiveeeieceecnieneeccreenines 342,838
Canadian dollar...........ccoveecerenrcerircisicnnnnnns 111,812
Chilean peso.......c.corererericsmermrcescnasesesseeens 3,839
Columbian Peso0........cceveeeereeresiiresenscnscssassans 724
Czech Republic koruny...........ccccoeevcrcinvinnnnene 383
Danish Krone..........ccccevcmriniinnenecncnssnnensennans 24 471
Egyptian pound..........c.ceevemrnmniiciesinnnnsanieenens 2,056
EUrOpean eUrO.........c.ccuerecnnsiinessnesssanesves 431,095
Hong Kong dollar...........cccoinnnnnninicninnens 152,573
Hungarian forint...........ccninininenernnnnnn. 787
INAIAN FUPEO.....cceeiieeeceeree e ne 36,213
Indonesian rupiah..........cccoccecveecienecrcierennens 20,445
JapANESE YEMN.....ccocererrccrerecerratnsensaninssssanaann 371,207
Malaysian ringgit........c..ccoevicvccinninininennens 16,025
MeXican PESO......cccveveemreerieiesiessresinssessersens 27,979
Moroccan ditham.........ccoccceviievecnnineninnennns 192
New Israeli shekel.........cccconevrvcrimncniicnicnnens 11,134
New Taiwan dollar.............c.cccceveeeneecsisncneen. 17,841
New Zealand dollar.............ccccceverrecirineiirneene 2,296
Norwegian Krone.........cc.cccnvnnreiniressenienens 17,693
Pakistan rupees.........cccceeeerercsimnricrvesssinnnnens 1,033
Philippines Peso0.....ccccccvrvieciicicnnniennieens 1,142
POlish ZIOtY....c.eecrueeereremireecee et 5,468
Singapore dollar............c.cooeiaiinnieienincneenn. 35,036
South African rand............cocceeevercnecercneinnes 34,462
South Korean Won..........c.cccveeererccssenssessnnns 57,536
Swedish Krona.............ccceeveeereeenicrecresnnnnianse 51,322
SWISS fraNC......cccveereeerererrcecceenteinee st 127,300
Taiwan dollar............cceevrineniiiennnionennn. 14,697
Thailand baht.........cccceevreevriiereereenmiseirennen 9,727
TUKKISH lira....ceeeeeeceieeecrneeesveensre s 10,088
Total Pension Trust Funds...........cccieninne. $ 2,100,433
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vi) The following schedule summarizes the cash and investments reported in the basic financial statements
(dollars in thousands):

Per Note 4:
INVESIMENES - City....cccveveereeenrecrecerinsessiesnscnsesssessrssssssesseosne $ 6,835,679
Investments - Pension Trust Funds.........cccconivirimnnciienranenenn 12,489,080
$ 19,324,759
Per Financial Statements:
Restricted INVESIMENtS........ccccoveiriecrceeeeseeererieseneoneresiesens $ 1,957,201
Unrestricted Investments...........ccccccninineiinscniniiiiincecinnnns 1,083,501
Investments with Fiduciary Funds...........cccooveieeninnniccnnennnee. 10,896,184
Investments with Escrow Agent..........ccccovvvevciiiniiiniinnncnn. 474,474
Invested Securities Lending Collateral............ccocceiveuvennancnn. 1,238,353
Investments included as cash and cash
equivalents on the Statements of Net Assets.................... 3,675,046
$ 19,324,759

5) Property Tax

The City's property tax becomes a lien on real property on January 1 of the year it is levied. The Cook County
Assessor (Assessor) is responsible for the assessment of all taxable real property within Cook County (County),
except for certain railroad property assessed directly by the State. The County Board has established a triennial
cycle of reassessment in which one-third of the County will be reassessed each year on a repeating schedule
established by the Assessor.

Property in the County is separated into nine classifications for assessment purposes. After the Assessor establishes
the fair market value of a parcel of fand, that value is multiplied by one of the classification percentages to arrive at
the assessed valuation (Assessed Valuation) for that parcel. These percentages range from 16.0 percent for certain
residential, commercial, and industrial property to 38.0 percent for other commercial and industrial property.

The lllinois Department of Revenue has the statutory responsibility of ensuring uniformity of real property
assessments throughout the State. Each year, the Department of Revenue furnishes the county clerks with an
adjustment factor to equalize the level of assessment among counties. This factor (Equalization Factor) is then
applied to the Assessed Valuation to compute the valuation of property to which a tax rate will be applied (Equalized
Assessed Valuation). The County Clerk adds the Equalized Assessed Valuation of all real property in the County to
the valuation of property assessed directly by the State (to which the Equalization Factor is not applied) to arrive at
the base amount (Assessment Base) used in calculating the annual tax rates.

The County Clerk computes the annual tax rate by dividing the levy by the Assessment Base and then computes the
rate for each parcel of real property by aggregating the tax rates of all governmental units having jurisdiction over that
particular parcel. The County Treasurer then issues the tax bills. Property taxes are deposited with the County
Treasurer, who remits to the City its respective share of the collections. Taxes levied in one year become due and
payable in two installments during the following year on March 1 and August 1 or 30 days from mailing of tax bills if
later than July 1. The first installment is estimated and is 55.0 percent of the prior year's tax bill. The second
installment is based on the current levy, assessment and equalization and also reflects any changes from the prior
year.
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The City Council has adopted an ordinance beginning in 1994, limiting the City’s aggregate property tax levy to an
amount equal to the prior year's aggregate property tax levy plus the lesser of (a) five percent or (b) the percentage
increase in the annualized Consumer Price Index, all as defined in the ordinance. The ordinance provides a safe
harbor for that portion of any property tax debt service levy equal to the aggregate interest and principal payments on
the City’s general obligation bonds and notes during the 12-month period ended January 1, 1994, subject to annual
increase in the manner described above for the aggregate levy, all as provided by the ordinance. Increases in the
debt service portion of each levy may, however, reduce amounts available within such levy to finance operations.

6) Interfund Balances and Transfers

a) The following balances at December 31, 2010 represent due from/to balances among all funds (dollars in

thousands):
Fund Type/Fund Due From Due To
Governmental activities:
GENEIAL.....ce et s et sess s sanneas $ 254,124  § 295,566
Federal, State and Local Grants............ccoecnnievecniiinnen 29,707 40,850
Special Taxing Areas.......ccccoereeniesrnmeressstiscsssessseensane 6,378 10,657
RESEIVE........uierereeeererccctiececieeesenr s st s st s ssns s sr s s 50,000 -
Bond, Note Redemption and Interest..........ccooeeiniinnnns 1,512 -
Community Development and Improvement Projects.... 68,131 97,910
Nonmajor governmental funds...........cccovercccnncnenen. 94,373 81,010
Total Govermmental activities.......c.cccovevircecnnnnneens 504,225 525,993
Business-type activities:
WaLE ...ttt e e e se s e s 19,501 26,887
SBWE.....cctireeereerriere st i st sbe s e sarsr e e se st sastsressanaanes 26,937 13,312
Chicago Midway International Airport.........ccccevevrvrnenneee 1,064 6,747
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport.........cccveeieeieninennens 20,966 4,656
Chicago SKYWaY.........cccovinirimnnnimsnneniiisemse oo - 15
Total Business-type activities........c.ceviennmnereneinienns 68,468 51,617
Fiduciary activities:
Pension TrUSL.........ccccovieiiininnn e e 4917 -
Total Fiduciary activities........ceeiceeiicniniiiveccecinienennaes 4,917 -
TOtAL.uceereeereeeiee st rer et e seesear s e ses saee e s st s ess s e $ 577,610 § 577,610

The balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided
or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system and (3) payments
between funds are made.
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b) The following balances at December 31, 2010 represent interfund transfers among all funds (dollars in

thousands):
Fund Type/Fund Transfer In Transfer Out
Governmental activities:

GENETAL ...t rereeeeee e ve s s sene st st e saesre s sanans $ 502,502 $ 13,600
Federal, State and Local Grants.......c..c.ccceivivvenerinrennes - 1,000
Special Taxing Areas.........cccveveercerrrsseessessnsssssssaseesaenes 80,824 43,307
Service Concession Agreements...........ccvvecrermrveecaresnns - -
RESEIVE. ... ee e rcerecrere et re e sesseresessnereranevasaes v e enans - 457,852
Bond, Note Redemption and Interest.........c.cc.oovnemrereecns - 22,150
Community Development and Improvement Projects.... 6,296 99
Nonmajor governmental funds.............ccervenrirmiercecicneas 57,785 109,399

Total Governmental activities...........ccccerrerrrrerereseerenen. 647,407 647,407

Transfers are used to move revenues from the fund that the statute or budget requires to collect them to the
fund that statute or budget requires to expend them and to move receipts restricted to debt service from the
funds collecting the receipts to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due.
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7) Capital Assets

a) Capital Assets activity for the year ended December 31, 2010 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Governmental activities:

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
LaANd...ueeccer e $
Works of Art and Historical Collections.........
Construction in Progress.....c.ccccvvcervennirnecnnnees

Total capital assets, not being depreciated......

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and Other Improvements...............
Machinery and Equipment...........cccccuunnnniin.
INfrastruCtUNe........evveeeretrerinn e sennenee s

Total capital assets, being depreciated............

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and Other Improvements...............
Machinery and Equipment...........ccccoeeennniean.
Infrastructure.........ccceeeiiiiiiciicrercccriin

Total accumulated depreciation.........c.....ceueeeee.

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net.....

Total governmental activities...............cc......... $

Business-type activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Construction in Progress......cccccccevvvvicviiiniennne

Total capital assets, not being depreciated......

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and Other Improvements...............
Machinery and Equipment..........c.ccoieviiinnnne,

Total capital assets, being depreciated............

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and Other Improvements...............
Machinery and Equipment...........ccccccceeneeen.

Total accumulated depreciation............c..c........

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net.....

Total business-type activities..............coonuunnnees

Balance Disposals Balance
January 1, and December 31,
2010 Additions Transfers 2010

1,372,742 $ 9,435 § - $ 1,382,177
13,132 - - 13,132
225,323 244,907 (305,590) 164,640
1,611,197 254,342 (305,590) 1,569,949
2,252,114 148,320 - 2,400,434
1,212,885 79,299 (19,831) 1,272,353
6,609,112 179,967 - 6,789,079
10,074,111 407,586 (19,831) 10,461,866
662,326 60,435 - 722,761
877,029 94,519 (19,421) 952,127
2,834,423 224,161 - 3,058,584
4,373,778 379,115 (19,421) 4,733,472
5,700,333 28,471 (410) 5,728,394
7,311,530 § 282,813 $ (306,000) $ 7,288,343
839,543 $ 24468 § - $ 864,011
1,502,450 537,475 (620,291) 1,419,634
2,341,993 561,943 (620,291) 2,283,645
11,741,796 717,132 27,326 12,486,254
567,336 11,172 57,165 635,673
12,309,132 728,304 84,491 13,121,927
3,455,184 264,077 (436) 3,718,825
278,466 16,237 (1,706) 292,997
3,733,650 280,314 (2,142) 4,011,822
8,575,482 447,990 86,633 9,110,105

$ 10,917,475 $ 1,009,933 $ (533,658) $ 11,393,750
$ 18,229,005 $ 1,292,746 $ (839,658) $ 18,682,093

Total Capital Assets.......ccccccvvniiinnmiinieninnniinnnn,
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b) Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the City as follows (dollars in thousands):

Governmental activities:

General government........o.ovceveirniinienenienessseseseneennes $ 75,329
Public safety........cccveremiicivecnirciee e 37,193
Streets and sanitation............ccecereriveiieniiccennen o 13,293
Transportation..........c.cccovcceeceennenenis s 226,950
Healh........cco ettt 2,735
Cultural and recreational............cccovrnmnvvnrenccnievnnnnen, 23,615
Total depreciation expense - governmental activities....... $ 379,115

WALH......oovieeeecenrrereecr et et sass s aene s sass st ss s saes $ 43,152
SEWOT ..ottt e 23,166
Chicago Midway international Airport.............cccoeevnrnnen 44,844
Chicago-O'Hare international Airport..........c.ccceenveneee. 157,952
Chicago SKyway........ccccrrrerirrecncrcerrnsrmsemsercssissessresissanes 11,200
Total depreciation expense - business-type activities....... $ 280,314

8) Leases
a) Operating Leases
The City leases building and office facilities under noncancelable operating leases. Total costs for such

leases were approximately $18.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The future minimum lease
payments for these leases are as follows (dollars in thousands):

20 B PP $ 17,804
2072.ucuueeeererrriercnssaesseesessesnsnesnsecesensssarstssestssanenesenasecs 16,607
b0 1 SOOI 15,970
{0 3 1 SN 10,671
200 1 TP 5,231
2016 = 2020......cceeieerereereintrareenesesseasaseseassessesnssssessasss 6,523
Total Future Rental EXpense..........cccocvccereenerrecseisninnen $ 72,806

b) Capital Leases

During 2003, the City entered into lease and lease back agreements with third parties pertaining to 911
Center Qualified Technological Equipment (QTE), with a book value of $143.3 million at December 31, 2003.
Under the QTE lease agreement, which provides certain cash and tax benefits to the third party, the City
entered into a long-term lease for applicable assets back to the City under a sublease. Under the sublease,
the City is required to make future minimum lease payments.
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During 2005, the City entered into sale and lease back agreements with third parties pertaining to the City
owned portion of a rapid transit line with a book value of $430.8 million at December 31, 2005. Under the
lease agreement, which provides certain cash and tax benefits to the third party, the City entered into a long-
term lease for applicable assets back to the City under a sublease. Under the sublease, the City is required

to make future minimum lease payments.

The future minimum payments for these leases are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ending
December 31,

2021 - 2025.....c.eovviiiinniieiirreees
2026 - 2030.....ccceererirenrenreneianens

2031 - 2032

Total Minimum Future Lease Payments........

Less Interest........coovevvieviineeiennnees

Present Value of Minimum

Future Lease Payments............

c) Lease Receivables

Total

10,216
12,731
9,104
9,000
9,000
42,983
87,018
2,000
165,164

347,216
170,205

177,011

Most of the O’'Hare land, buildings and terminal space are leased under operating lease agreements to
airlines and other tenants. The following is a schedule of the minimum future rental income on noncancelable
operating leases as of December 31, 2010 (dollars in thousands):

2021 - 2025......ccieviieriiinennienens
2026 - 2030.......coceireiiririmrnnreniienns
2031 - 2035

Total Minimum Future Rental Income.......ccccccceevirnenne

............................

............................

72,282
71,723
71,049
57,778
45,711
145,091
8,302
9,591
9,564

491,091

Contingent rentals that may be received under certain leases based on the tenants’ revenues or fuel flow are

not included in minimum future rental income.

Rental income for O’'Hare, consisting of all rental and

concession revenues except ramp rentals and automobile parking, amounted to $381.6 million, including

contingent rentals of $79.4 million.
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Most of the Midway land and terminal space is leased under operating lease agreements to airlines and other
tenants. The following is a schedule of the minimum future rental income on noncancelable operating leases
as of December 31, 2010 (dollars in thousands):

20 1 e O O UTON $ 34,469
20T2ueeeiericereevreereiessisstsessrsssnsessesseassnretessesarnessenssnseans 28,206
b2 {0 I T 4,418
o 0 I OIS 3,390
2005 ceeeereecierireererss e e rreessers e resarase e vanssresasse s e sbeerateant 1,124
Total Minimum Future Rental Income.............c.ccc..... $ 71,607

Contingent rentals that may be received under certain leases based on tenants’ revenues are not included in
minimum future rental income. Rental income for Midway, consisting of all rental and concession revenues
except aircraft parking fees and certain departure fees (turns) and automobile parking, amounted to $86.4
million, including contingent rentals of $35.1 million.

9) Short-term Debt

Matured bonds represent principal due on coupon bonds in which the coupons have not been presented for
payment. For the year ended December 31, 2010, there was minor activity; the balance remained at $0.7 million.
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10) Long-term Obligations

a) Long-term Debt activity for the year ended December 31, 2010 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Amounts
Balance Balance Due
January 1, December 31, within
2010 Additions Reductions 2010 One Year
Governmental activities:
Bonds, notes and certificates payable:
General obligation debt ........cccovimreniiciinnrinnesicnienan $ 6,863,427 $1,398024 $ 756712 $ 7,504,739 $ 144,036
Instaliment purchase agreement ..............ceeeeurinee 3,500 - 2,300 1,200 1,200
Tax iNCreMeNt .......vuvveecsinsiiniiiisississsis 186,158 - 22,580 163,578 23,095
ROVONUB ...ovveretiecrseiccnrenissnissenrossessssssssssnsnnansisssssenne 564,842 - 5,425 559,417 5,715
7,617,927 1,398,024 787,017 8,228,934 174,046
Less unamortized debt refunding transactions ....... 159,810 20,778 9,438 171,150 -
Add unamortized premium ............ccovrcvimnrmiinininnns 173,347 36,365 10,982 198,730 -
Add accretion of capital appreciation bonds ........... 207,878 31,663 4,129 235,412 1,421
Less converted portion of conversion bonds .......... 3,923 - 3,923 - -
Total bonds, notes and certificates payable ........... 7,835,419 1,445,274 788,767 8,491,926 175,467
Other liabilities:
Pension obligations ..........ccccvnenninicinnsninecnnnns 3,453,365 762,885 - 4,216,250 -
Lease obligations .......c..ccoceviiiinseemssnnninsresssensnnns 169,282 9,032 1,303 177,011 10,216
Pollution Remediation .........c...cceennimisnnrenennisessnsans 37,368 - 23,105 14,263 -
Claims and judgments .........ccocevverireniinnneninnenns 627,370 14,392 - 641,762 89,503
Total other iabilities ......cccecmverrccrrrneerecrerneierecenenne 4,287,385 786,309 24,408 5,049,286 99,719

Total governmental activitios .............cccocevnneeenne $ 12122804 _$2231583 _$ 813175 _§ 13541212 _§ 275,186

Business-type activities:
Revenue bonds and notes payable:

WEAEEE c..eeveeeerirrnrneerteneree s e reenressnnarseranessensanesmnanse $ 1464839 $ 365093 $ 76,101 $ 1,753,831 $§ 42,217
SOWEK coecevireeererneenrererseererssessssresssieessessusnsrerssssssassns 902,840 275,865 52,715 1,125,990 25,257
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport ... 5,898,100 1,177,650 505,230 6,570,520 107,295
Chicago Midway international Airport ..................... 1,266,515 331,020 124,155 1,473,380 7,885
9,532,294 2,149,628 758,201 10,923,721 182,654
Less unamortized debt refunding transactions ....... 136,755 6,661 18,148 125,268 -
Add unamortized premium ........ccovvenirinnicniisinens (115,952) 9,311 27,811 (134,452) -
Add accretion of capital appreciation bonds ........... 74,494 8,972 4,034 79,432 4,271
Total business-type activities .........ccceccveeeeerineenens $ 9,585,985 $2142628 $ 716,276 11,012,337 $ 186,925
Total long-term obligations .........coeeeeeincicicriinnans $ 21,708,789 _$ 4,374,211 $ 1,529,451 $ 24,553,549 $ 462,111

The Pension obligation liability will be liquidated through a Special Revenue Fund (Pension Fund) as provided by tax
levy and State Personal Property Replacement Tax revenues.
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b) Issuance of New Debt

i)

ii))

General Obligation Notes

The General Obligation Tender Notes, Series 2010 ($70.4 million) were sold in September 2010 at a
fixed rate of 1.625 percent. The notes mature no later than April 1, 2012. The Series 2010 notes were
issued to meet cash flow requirements of the City's Library Funds; the notes are payable from tax
collections in the following year or from any other resources legally available to the City. Principal
payments for the notes do not require the current appropriation and expenditure of Governmental Fund
financial resources.

During 2010, the City issued $170.7 million in commercial paper notes for certain capital and operating
uses.

General Obligation Bonds

General Obligation Bonds, Project and Refunding Series 2009A-D ($793.3 million) were sold at a
premium in January 2010. The bonds have interest rates ranging from 4.0 percent to 6.257 percent and
maturity dates from January 1, 2018 to January 1, 2040. Series C bonds ($98.3 million) are Build
America Bonds and Series D bonds ($133.2 million) are Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds.
Net proceeds of $812.0 million will be used to finance infrastructure improvements; transportation
improvements; grants or loans to assist not-for-profit organizations or educational or cultural institutions;
or to assist other municipal corporations or units of local government, or school districts; cash flow needs
of the City; acquisition of personal property; acquisition, demolition, remediation or improvement of real
property for industrial, commercial or residential purposes; constructing, equipping, altering and repairing
various municipal facilities including fire stations, police stations, libraries, senior and health centers and
other municipal facilities; enhancement of economic development within the City by making grants or
deposits to secure obligations of not-for-profit or for-profit organizations doing or seeking to do business
in the City; litigation judgments or settlement agreements involving the City, including escrow accounts or
other reserves needed for such purposes; payment of certain pension contributions; providing for
facilities, services, and equipment to protect and enhance public safety; and other uses permitted by the
Ordinance ($376.0 million); and to advance refund certain maturities of general obligation bonds
outstanding ($412.2 million); and to fund capitalized interest ($23.8 million). The advance refunding of
the bonds increased the City’s total debt service payments by $51.1 million and resulted in an economic
gain (difference between the present values of the debt service on the old and new debt) of $9.1 million.

General Obligation Bonds (Modem Schools Across Chicago Program) Series 2010A-B ($150.1 million)
were sold at a premium in August, 2010. Series B bonds ($57.8 million) are Build America Bonds. The
bonds have interest rate ranging from 3.0 percent to 5.364 percent and maturity dates ranging from
December 1, 2011 to December 1, 2029. Net proceeds of $160.6 million will be used to pay for a portion
of the costs for construction, renovation, design and acquisition of elementary and high schaols that are
part of the school system operated by the Board of Education of the City of Chicago ($159.2 million) and
to fund capitalized interest ($1.4 million). The bonds fund Phase Il of the Modern Schools Across
Chicago Program. .

General Obligation Bonds, Taxable Project Series 2010B ($213.6 million) were sold in December 2010.
The bonds are Build America Bonds and have an interest rate of 7.517 percent and maturity dates
ranging from January 1, 2036 to January 1, 2040. Net proceeds of $213.6 million will be used to finance
infrastructure improvements; transportation improvements; grants or loans to assist not-for-profit
organizations or educational or cultural institutions; or to assist other municipal corporations or units of
local government, or school districts; acquisition of personal property; acquisition, demolition, remediation
or improvement of real property for industrial, commercial or residential purposes; constructing,
equipping, altering and repairing various municipal facilities including fire stations, police stations,
libraries, senior and health centers and other municipal facilities; enhancement of economic development
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iii)

within the City by making grants or deposits to secure obligations of not-for-profit or for-profit
organizations doing or seeking to do business in the City; provision of facilities, services and equipment
to protect and enhance public safety, including but not limited to, increased costs for police and fire
protection services, emergency medical services, staffing at the City's emergency call center and other
City facilities, and enhanced security measures at airports and other major City facilities.

In June 2010, the City negotiated a novation of the fixed payer swap associated with a 75 percent portion
of the General Obligation Series 2003B variable rate bonds with a current notional amount of $151.5
million from Lehman Brothers Special Financing Inc. (LBSF) to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. due to LBSF’s
bankruptcy. A J.P. Morgan swap covers the remaining 25 percent balance of the bonds, with a current
notional amount of $50.6 million, which remains unchanged. All economic terms of the interest rate swap
remained identical and the City did not incur any cost in association with reptacing the counterparty to the
swap.

In November 2010, the City entered into swap overlay agreements (i.e., Constant Maturity Swap (CMS)
reversal) associated with the General Obligation Series 2003B variable rate bonds with J.P. Morgan and
Rice Financial Products for notional amounts of $50.6 and $151.5 million respectively. The agreements
are effective March 1, 2011 through March 1, 2014, and the City will pay 66.91 percent of 10 year LIBOR
and receive 75 percent of one month LIBOR, essentially extending the $202.5 million notional amount
CMS reversal in place up to March 1, 2011 with J.P. Morgan. Together with the existing underlying
swaps on the bonds, in which the City pays 4.052 percent and receives 66.91 percent of 10 year LIBOR,
the net effect is that the City will pay a fixed rate of 4.052 percent and receive 75 percent of one month
LIBOR through March 1, 2014, after which time the City will receive 66.91 percent of 10 year LIBOR
through expiration (January 1, 2034). The City received a combined upfront payment of $9.9 million in
November 2010.

In December 2010, the City entered into swap overlay agreements (i.e., basis trades) associated with the
General Obligation Series 2005D variable rate bonds with Rice Financial Products, Loop Financial
Products and Jefferies for notional amounts of $100.0, $61.4 and $61.4 million respectively. The
agreements are effective January 1, 2014 through January 1, 2031, and the City will pay SIFMA and
receive 72.5 percent of one month LIBOR. Together with the existing swaps on the bonds, in which the
City pays 4.104 percent and receives SIFMA, the net effect is that the City will pay a fixed rate of 4.104
percent and receive 72.5 percent of one month LIBOR between January 1, 2014 and January 1, 2031,
before 2014 and after 2031 the City will receive SIFMA through the expiration of the swaps (January 1,
2040). The City received a combined upfront payment of $13.7 in January 2011.

In December 2010, the City entered into two swap overlay agreements (i.e., basis trades) associated with
the G.0O. Series 2007 E, F&G variable rate bonds with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. for a notional amount of
$100.0 million each. The agreements are effective January 1, 2014 through January 1, 2031, and the
City will pay SIFMA and receive 72.5 percent of one month LIBOR. Together with the existing underlying
swaps on the bonds, in which the City pays 3.9982 percent and receives SIFMA, the net effect is that the
City will pay a fixed rate of 3.9982 percent and receive 72.5 percent of one month LIBOR between
January 1, 2014 and January 1, 2031. Before 2014 and after 2031 the City will receive SIFMA through
expiration of the swaps (January 1, 2042). The City received a combined upfront payment of $14.2
million in December 2010.

Sales Tax Revenue Bonds

In August 2010, the City amended its swap agreement associated with the Sales Tax Series 2002
variable rate bonds with J.P. Morgan with a current notional amount of $114.2 million. The amendment
removed J.P. Morgan’s right to cancel the swap if SIFMA exceeds 7 percent for 180 consecutive days by
converting the variable rate the City receives from SIFMA plus 13 basis points to 75.25 percent of three
month LIBOR. The City continues to pay a fixed rate of 4.23 percent and receives 75.25 percent of three
month LIBOR.
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iv) Enterprise Fund Revenue Bonds and Notes

Chicago O’Hare International Airport Third Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A-F ($1,040.0 million) were
sold at a premium in April, 2010. Series B bonds ($578.0 million) are Build America Bonds. The bonds
have interest rates ranging from 1.75 percent to 6.845 percent with maturity dates from January 1, 2011
to January 1, 2040. Net proceeds of $1,048.5 million will be used to finance the costs of certain projects
at the airport including the O’Hare Modernization Program and the capital improvement program ($785.6
million), fund capitalized interest and debt service reserves ($214.0 million) and to advance refund certain
maturities of bonds outstanding ($48.9 million). The advance refunding of the bonds decreased the
Airport’s total debt service payments by $3.1 million and resulted in an economic gain (difference
between the present values of the debt service on the old and new debt) of $2.8 million.

Chicago O’Hare International Airport Passenger Facility Charge Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A-D
($137.7 million) were sold at a discount in May, 2010. The bonds have interest rates ranging from 2.0
percent to 6.395 percent with maturity dates from January 1, 2011 to January 1, 2040. Net proceeds of
$136.5 million and other monies of $.3 million will be used to finance the costs of certain projects at the
airport including the O’Hare Modernization Program and the capital improvement program ($54.1 million),
fund capitalized interest and debt service reserves ($68.7 million) and to advance refund certain
maturities of bonds outstanding ($14.0 million). The advance refunding of the bonds decreased the
Airport’s total debt service payments by $1.2 million and resulted in an economic gain (difference
between the present values of the debt service on the old and new debt) of $.7 million.

Chicago Midway Airport Second Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A1-2 ($80.5 million) were sold in May,
2010. The bonds were initially issued at a daily rate of .29 percent. The bonds have maturity dates of
January 1, 2021 for Series 2010A-1 and January 1, 2025 for Series 2010A-2. Net proceeds of $80.4 will
be used to advance refund certain maturities of bonds outstanding ($10.2 million), repay commercial
paper and other principal due ($65.8 million) and fund capitalized interest and debt service reserves ($4.4
million). The advance refunding of the bonds increased the Airport’s total debt service payments by $5.0
million and resulted in an economic loss (difference between the present values of the debt service on the
old and new debt) of $.9 million.

At the discretion of the City the bonds may bear interest at a daily or weekly rate. Interest on bonds in the
daily mode is payable on the first business day of each calendar month, commencing June 1, 2010.

The City has appointed a remarketing agent for the bonds when in a variable rate mode. The
remarketing agent will use its best efforts to resell the bonds at favorable rates following either an optional
or mandatory tender. In the event the remarketing agent is unable to resell the notes, the City has
obtained an unconditional, irrevocable letter of credit which may be drawn upon for the purchase of the
bonds until the remarketing agent is able to resell the bonds.

The letters of credit securing the Series 2010A1-2 bonds totals $81.4 million and terminates no later than
May 5, 2011. Advances under the letter of credit for Series 2010A-1 (none at December 31, 2010) are
due three years from the date of the advance. Advances bear interest from the date of advance through
the 90™ day at the greater of the prime rate plus 3.0 percent or the Federal Funds rate plus 3.5 percent
per annum (Base Rate) or 6.0 percent. Thereafter until due and payable, advances bear interest at the
higher of the Base Rate plus 1.0 percent or 8.5 percent. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the
interest rate per annum shall equal the Base Rate plus 5.0 percent or 12 percent. The maximum rate of
interest cannot exceed 15.0 percent. Advances under the letter of credit for Series 2010A-2 (none at
December 31, 2010) are due three years from the date of the advance. Advances bear interest from the
date of advance through the 90" day at the greater of the prime rate plus 1.5 percent or the Federal
Funds rate plus 2.0 percent per annum (Base Rate) or 7.5 percent. Thereafter until due and payable,
advances bear interest at the Base Rate plus 1.0 percent. Upon the occurrence of an event of default,
the interest rate per annum shall equal the Base Rate plus 3.0 percent. The maximum rate of interest
cannot exceed 18.0 percent. The letters of credit were issued by third-party financial institutions that are
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expected to be financially capable of honoring its agreements. In the event the bonds are put back to the
bank and not successfully remarketed, or if the letter of credit expires without an extension or substitution,
the bank bonds will convert to a term loan. There is no principal due on potential term loans within the
next fiscal year.

Chicago Midway Airport Second Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2010B, C, D-1 and D-2 ($246.5 million)
were sold at a premium in October, 2010. The bonds have interest rates ranging from 3.532 percent to
7.168 percent with maturity dates from January 1, 2014 to January 1, 2041. Net proceeds of $237.8
million will be used to finance the costs of certain Airport projects ($168.8 million), fund capitalized
interest and debt service reserves ($24.3 million) and to repay commercial paper ($44.7 million).

Second Lien Water Revenue Project and Refunding Bonds, Series 2010A-C ($313.6 million) were sold at
a premium in November, 2010. The bonds have interest rates-ranging from 2.0 percent to 6.742 percent
and maturity dates from November 1, 2011 to November 1, 2040. Series B bonds ($250.0 million) are
Build America Bonds and Series C bonds ($29.7 million) are Qualified Energy Conservation Bonds. Net
proceeds of $313.8 million will be used to finance certain costs of improvements and extensions to the
water system ($277.6 million), advance refund a certain maturities of water revenue bonds outstanding
($36.2 million). The advance refunding of the bonds decreased the Water system’s total debt service
payments by $3.2 million and resulted in an economic gain (difference between the present values of the
debt service on the old and new debt) of $2.4 million.

Second Lien Wastewater Revenue Project and Refunding Bonds, Series 2010A-B ($275.9 million) were
sold at a premium in November, 2010. The bonds have interest rates ranging from 2.0 percent to 6.742
percent and maturity dates from January 1, 2012 to January 1, 2040. Series B bonds ($250.0 million) are
Build America Bonds. Net proceeds of $275.8 million will be used to finance certain costs of
improvements and extensions to the wastewater system ($248.2 million), advance refund a certain
maturities of wastewater revenue bonds outstanding ($27.6 million). The advance refunding of the bonds
decreased the Wastewater system’s total debt service payments by $5.2 million and resuited in an
economic gain (difference between the present values of the debt service on the old and new debt) of
$3.3 million.

During 2010, $.5 million of Chicago O’Hare International Airport Commercial Paper Notes Series A, B and
C were issued. The proceeds were used to finance portions of the costs of authorized airport projects.

During 2010, $35.5 million of Chicago Midway Airport Commercial Paper Notes Series A, B and D were
issued. The proceeds were used to repay debt obligations that were in bank bond mode, tinance portions
of the costs of authorized airport projects and refund a portion of certain outstanding bonds.

During 2010, $51.5 million of Water Revenue Commercial Paper Notes were issued. The proceeds were
used to finance portions of the costs of authorized projects.

In May 2010, the City entered into a two-way Credit Support Agreement (CSA) with J.P. Morgan on its
swap associated with a 40 percent portion of the Midway Airport Series 2004C&D variable rate bonds
with a current notional amount of $60.9 million. A Goldman Sachs swap covers the remaining balance of
the bonds, with a current notional amount of $91.3 million, and remains unchanged. The J.P. Morgan
CSA was required because a termination event was triggered due to the insurer's ratings downgrade.
Both firms had the right to require a two-way CSA, but only J.P. Morgan exercised the right. Goldman
Sachs waived its right as long as the swap remains unchanged. Based on the current second lien ratings
at Midway Airport (A3/A-/A- by Moody's, S&P and Fitch respectively), if the mark-to-market adjustment on
the swap is against the City by more than $10 million, collateral must be posted for the difference. In
August 2010, coliateral was required in the amount of $1.4 million, which was funded with proceeds from
Midway Commercial Paper, but as of December 31, 2010, no collateral posting was required.
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v) Financial Market Related Conversions

The global economic downturn has adversely impacted the City’s variable rate debt. The credit crisis and
the effect on monoline insurers’ credit ratings, as a result of their exposure to subprime mortgages, have
resulted in downgrades by the major rating agencies. As a result, credit spreads increased on the City's
variable rate debt, especially with insured bonds; therefore the City refinanced or converted many of its
variable rate debt issues. In 2010, the City utilized liquidity facilities to convert two variable rate issues in
the amount of $284.7 million and thereby removing the monoline insurers or impaired banks providing

credit support.

c) Annual requirements listed below for each year include amounts payable January 1 of the following year.
Bonds maturing and interest payable January 1, 2011 have been excluded because funds for their payment
have been provided for. Annual requirements to amortize debt outstanding as of December 31, 2010 are as
follows (dollars in thousands):

General Obligation Installment Purchase Tax Increment
Year Ending Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
December 31,
2011 $ 156646 $ 362307 $ 1,200 $ 47 $ 25040 $ 8,793
2012, 238,178 357,137 - 20,815 7,389
2013..ceeemenirsens 205,827 348,585 - 30,264 6,212
2014 215,509 344,558 - 15,237 11,853
2015, e 237,486 338,480 - 8,965 3,951
2016 - 2020........... 1,433,028 1,614,111 - 45,975 9,964
2021 - 2025........... 1,653,090 1,185,521 - 10,585 840
2026 - 2030........... 1,444,048 838,646 - - -
2031 - 2035........... 981,304 498,889 - - -
2036 - 2040........... 691,016 190,537 - - -
2041 - 2045........... 25,645 1,060 - - -
$7181,777 $ 5979831 $ 1,200 $ 47 §$ 156,881 $ 49,002
Revenue Business-type Activities
Year Ending Principal Interest Principal Interest
December 31,
201 e 16295 $ 25971 $ 236253 §$ 529,302
2012, 17,150 25,121 258,162 519,266
2013, 18,040 24,227 362,891 511,834
2014.....eceecerene 18,980 23,286 371,606 496,439
2015..eeeeenenn 18,400 22,315 312,755 479,007
2016 - 2020........... 97,940 97,463 1,757,307 2,161,483
2021 - 2025........... 123,015 71,699 1,941,395 1,715,052
2026 - 2030........... 130,754 64,419 2,426,430 1,191,187
2031 - 2035........... 89,418 53,097 2,056,740 572,439
2036 - 2040........... 23,710 1,793 1,004,295 156,870
$ 553,702 $ 409,391 $10,727834 § 8,332,879
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Debt service requirements above exciude commercial paper issues as the timing of payments is not certain.
For the requirements calculated above, interest on variable rate debt was calculated at the rate in effect or the
effective rate of a related swap agreement, if applicable, as of December 31, 2010. Standby bond purchase
agreements were issued by third party financial institutions that are expected to be financially capable of
honoring their agreements.

d) Derivatives
i) Pay-Fixed, Receive-Variable Interest Rate Swaps
(1) Objective of the swaps. In order to protect against the potential of rising interest rates, the City has

entered into various separate pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swaps at a cost less than what
the City would have paid to issue fixed-rate debt.

Fair Value at
Changes in Fair Value December 31, 2010 Notional
Classification Amount Classification Amount Amount
Governmental Activities
Cash Flow Hedges:
Deferred Deterred
Outflow of Outflow of
Pay-fixed Interest Rate SWAPS.... Resources $ (45,058) Resources $ (120,447) §$§ 792,070
Investment Derivative Instruments:
Investment Investment
Pay-fixed Interest Rate SWAPS.... Revenue (10,848) Revenue (24,529) 201,965
Business-type Activities
Cash Flow Hedges:
Deferred Deferred
Outflow of Outflow of
Pay-fixed Interest Rate SWAPS.... Resources (34,449) Resources (141,379) 973,805
) - | KOO ORR N $  (286,355)

(2) Terms, fair values, and credit risk. The objective and terms, including the fair values and credit
ratings, of the City’s hedging derivative instruments outstanding as of December 31, 2010, are as
follows. The notional amounts of the swaps match the principal amounts of the associated debt. The
City's swap agreements contain scheduled reductions to outstanding notional amounts that are
expected to approximately follow scheduled or anticipated reductions in the associated “bonds
payable” category. Under the swaps, the City pays the counterparty a fixed payment and receives a
variable payment computed according to the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) and/or The

Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (SIFMA) Municipal Swap Index (dollars in
thousands):
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Associated Notional  Effective
Bond Issue Amounts __ Date Terms

Counter-
~ Termi-  party
Fair nation  Credit
_Values Date _Rating

Hedging Instruments
Governmental Activities:

11/08/2007 Pay 3.998%; receive SIFMA
GO VRDB (Series 2007EFG).........c.cvcc.cts $ 200,000 01/01/2014 Pay SIFMA; receive 72.5% of LIBOR *

08/17/2005 Pay 4.104%; receive SIFMA

GO VRDB (Series 2005D)..........ccccuursrnnee 222,790 01/01/2014 Pay SIFMA; receive 72.5% of LIBOR *

GO VRDB (Neighborhoods Alive 21

Program, Series 2002B)...............corsesseenes 206,700 10/03/2002 Pay 3.575%; receive 70% of LIBOR

Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds

(VRDB Series 2002)..........uuummmmmmssssesssaresn 114,150  06/27/2002 Pay 4.23%; receive 75.25% of LIBOR

Tax Increment Allocation Bonds

(Near North TIF, Series 1999A)............... 44900 (00/01/1999 Pay 5.084%; receive 67% of LIBOR

Tax Increment Allocation Bonds

{Stockyards TIF, Series 1996A&B).......... 3975 0211011997 Pay 5.375%; receive SIFMA

Businesg-type Activities:

Chicago Midway Intemational Airport

Revenue Bonds (Series 2004C&D).......... 152,150 12/14/2004 Pay 4.174%; receive SIFMA Plus .05%
Pay 3.886%; receive 95% of 3 Mo. LIBOR
(if UBOR s < 3%) or

232,260  01/03/2011 67% of 3 Mo. LIBOR (if LIBOR is > 3%)
Pay 3.886%; receive SIFMA

Wastewater Transmission Variable (if LIBOR is < 3%)
Rate Revenue Bonds (Series 2008C)...... 99,670 07/20/2004 or 67% of LIBOR (if LIBOR is > 3%)
Water Variable Rate Revenue
Refunding Bonds (Series 2004)............... 193,655 04/16/2008 Pay 3.8694%; receive SIFMA
Water Variable Rate Revenue
Refunding Bonds (Series 2004)............... 195,770  08/05/2004 Pay 3.8669%; receive SIFMA
Second Lien Water Revenue
Refunding Bonds (Series 2000)............... 100,000 (04/16/2008 Pay 3.8694%; receive SIFMA
Investment Instruments
Govemmental Activities:
08/07/2003 Pay 4.052% receive 66.91% of 10 Yr LIBOR
Pay 66.91% of 10 Yr LIBOR:
GO VRDB (Series 2003B)........c.occosmmsseness 202,500 03/01/2011 receive 75% of 1 Mo. LIBOR *

Total. - _$1,968,520

Aad/A+
$ (15,270) 01/01/2042 Al/A+
(16,185 01/01/2031 Aa2/AA

AlA

Aa2A+
(21,194) 01/01/2040 Aaa/AA
(18,240 01/01/2031 Aa3/A+

AallAA-
(24477 01/01/2037 Aa3/A+
(17.445) 01/01/2034 Aat/AA-
(7,302) 01/01/2019 Aa3/A+

(334) 12/01/2014 Aa3/A+

AatlA
(14,896) 01/01/2035 AallAA-

(34,121) 01/01/2039 Aad/A+

{14,994) 01/01/2039 Aal/AA-
(28,6091 11/01/2025 Aad/A+
(30,645) 11/01/2031 A1/A-

(18,114) 11/01/2030 AadA+

(16,372 01/01/2034 AaliAA-
Aa2IpA
(8,157 03/01/2014 Aaa/AA

$ (286,355)

See Table 31 in Statistical Section for Counterparty Entities and additional details for credit ratings.

Type and objective for all the SWAPS is the same, as mentioned earlier.
* Reflects SWAP Overlay agreement.
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3)

C))

®)

(6)

%)

®

Fair Value. As of December 31, 2010, the swaps had a negative fair value of $286.4 million. As per
industry convention, the fair values of the City's outstanding swaps were estimated using the zero-
coupon method. This method calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap,
assuming that the forward rates implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot rates.
These payments are then discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for
hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due on the date of each future net settlement on the swap. Because
interest rates are below the Fixed Rate Paid, the City's swaps had negative values. Note that in the
statement of net assets the combination of the $248.3 million derivative liability and the unamortized
interest rate swap premium balance of $38.1 million, recorded as component of unearned revenue,
together represent the total fair value.

Credit Risk. The City is exposed to credit risk (counterparty risk) through the counterparties with
which it enters into agreements. If minimum credit rating requirements are not maintained, the
counterparty is required to post collateral to a third party. This protects the City by mitigating the
credit risk, and therefore the ability to pay a termination payment, inherent in a swap. Collateral on all
swaps is to be in the form of cash or Eligible Collateral held by a third-party custodian. Upon credit
events, the swaps also allow transfers, credit support, and termination if the counterparty is unable to
meet the said credit requirements.

Basis Risk. Basis risk refers to the mismatch between the variable rate payments received on a swap
contract and the interest payment actually owed on the bonds. The two significant components
driving this risk are credit and SIFMA/LIBOR ratios. Credit may create basis risk because the City's
bonds may trade differently than the swap index as a result of a credit change in the City.
SIFMA/LIBOR ratios (or spreads) may create basis risk. With percentage of LIBOR swaps, if the
City's bonds trade at a higher percentage of LIBOR over the index received on the swap, basis risk is
created. This can occur due to many factors including, without limitation, changes in marginal tax
rates, tax-exempt status of bonds, and supply and demand for variable rate bonds. The City is
exposed to basis risk on all swaps except those that are based on Cost of Funds, which provide cash
flows that mirror those of the underlying bonds. For all other swaps, if the rate paid on the bonds is
higher than the rate received, the City is liable for the difference. The difference would need to be
available on the debt service payment date and it would add additional underlying cost to the
transaction.

Tax Risk. The swap exposes the City to tax risk or a permanent mismatch (shortfall) between the
floating rate received on the swap and the variable rate paid on the underlying variable-rate bonds
due to tax law changes such that the federal or state tax exemption of municipal debt is eliminated or
its value reduced. There have been no tax law changes since the execution of the City's swap
transactions.

Termination Risk. The risk that the swap could be terminated as a result of certain events including a
ratings downgrade for the issuer or swap counterparty, covenant violation, bankruptcy, payment
default or other defined events of default. Termination of a swap may result in a payment made by
the issuer or to the issuer depending upon the market at the time of termination.

Swap payments and associated debt. Bonds maturing and interest payable January 1, 2011 have
been excluded because funds for their payment have been provided for. As of December 31, 2010,
debt service requirements of the City’'s outstanding variable-rate debt and net swap payments,
assuming current interest rates remain the same, for their term are as follows (dollars in thousands):
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Interest
Variable-Rate Bonds Rate

Year Ending Principal Interest Swaps, Net Total
December 31,

P20 3 I ST $ 15310 § 7914 $ 70223 & 93,447
P2{0 i - OO 21,395 7,860 69,594 98,849
2018 e, 22,645 7,784 68,775 99,204
2014t e 36,955 7,703 67,899 112,657
PO 1 - T 37,865 7,589 66,608 112,062
2016 - 2020.....ccueeevreeiieannn. 325,570 35,326 302,909 663,805
2021 - 2025.....cccevereirereennn, 452,930 29,054 232,234 714,218
2026 - 2030.....c.cccevreennienenes 372,980 22,640 161,514 557,134
2031 -2035....ccceeererrenenn, 439,145 14,031 84,287 537,463
2036 - 2040.......ceveeeeeeeennnnn. 217,950 4,838 22,859 245,647
2041 - 2045.....uveeeeeeeeeeeennn 22,195 222 665 23,082

$ 1,964,940 $ 144,961 $ 1,147,567 _$ 3,257,468

il) Swaptions

(1) Objective of the swaptions. The City entered into several swaption contracts that provided the City
upfront payments totaling $42.1 million. The term swaption refers to the City selling an option to a
counterpanty to execute a swap at a certain date in the future if certain conditions exist. If the
conditions do not exist, the counterparty will not execute the option, no swaptions have been
exercised. In the event the options are executed and the City enters into a fixed to floating rate swap,
the City would be exposed to the risks as described under Swaps.

Fair Value at

Changes in Fair Value December 31, 2010 Notional
Classification Amount Classification Amount Amount
Governmental Activities
Investment Derivative Instruments:
Investment investment
Pay-fixed Interest Rate SWAPS.... Revenue $ 499 Revenue $ (17,001) $ 471,875
Business-type Activities
Investment Derivative Instruments:
Investment Investment
Pay-fixed Interest Rate SWAPS.... Revenue (1,761) Revenue (19,813) 380,270
B [ - | RPN $ (36,814)
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(2) Terms. The terms, including fair values of the swaptions as of December 31, 2010, are as follows

(dollars in thousands):

Swap
Varlable Fixed Terml-
Assoclated Notional Trade Rate Rate Falr nation Up-Front
Bond Issue Amounts Date Paid Recelved Values Date Payment
GO Bonds
(GO, Series 2001A; GO
Series 2002A; GO, Serles 2003A; SIFMA+
and GO, Series 2004A)............ccuuet $ 318,670 12/18/2003 30bps 5.000% $ (12,543) 01/01/2024 § 13,384
Chicago Midway Airport Revenue
Bonds (Series 1998A(AMT); Series
1998B({Non-AMT); and Refunding SIFMA+
Serigs 1998C(Non-AMT)).......c.cc..... 380,270 10/27/1999 25hps 5.100 (19,813) 01/01/2030 23,500
Sales Tax Revenue SIFMA+
Bonds (Series 1999).......c.ccccevvnunnnns 23,285 06/21/2002 30bps 4,984 (161) 01/01/2019 728
Sales Tax Revenue SIFMA+
Bonds (Series 1998).....c.ccccovvemnnnnnn 69,275 06/21/2002 30bps 5.250 (2,420) 01/01/2028 2,562
Sales Tax Revenue SIFMA+
Bonds (Series 1897) 60,645 06/21/2002 30bps 5.375 (1.877) 01/01/2027 1,964
TOtALeeeeeeieeeree e e e reeer e $__ 852,145 $ (36,814) $ 42138

@)

4)

()

Fair value. As of December 31, 2010, the swaptions had a negative fair value of $36.8 million. As
per industry convention, the fair values of the City's outstanding swaptions were estimated using the
zero-coupon method. This method calculates the future net settlement payments required by the
swap, assuming that the forward rates implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot rates.
These payments are then discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for
hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due on the date of each future net settlement on the swap. Because
interest rates are below the Fixed Rate Received, the City's swaptions had negative values. The
negative value is also driven by the upfront payment received by the City upon execution of the
swaption agreement. Note that in the statement of net assets the combination of the $13.5 million
derivative liability and the unamortized interest rate swaption premium balance of $23.3 million,
recorded as component of unearned revenue, together represent the total fair value.

Credit Risk. The City is exposed to credit risk (counterparty risk) through the counterparties with
which it enters into agreements. If minimum credit rating requirements are not maintained, the
counterparty is required to post coliateral to a third party. This protects the City by mitigating the
credit risk, and therefore the ability to pay a termination payment, inherent in a swap. Collateral on all
swaptions is to be in the form of cash or Eligible Collateral held by a third-party custodian. Upon
credit events, the swaptions also allow transfers, credit support, and termination if the counterparty is
unable to meet the said credit requirements.

Basis Risk. Basis risk refers to the mismatch between the variable rate payments received on a
swap contract and the interest payment actually owed on the bonds. The two significant components
driving this risk are credit and SIFMA/LIBOR ratios. Credit may create basis risk because the City's
bonds may trade differently than the swap index as a result of a credit change in the City.
SIFMA/LIBOR ratios (or spreads) may create basis risk. With percentage of LIBOR swaps, if the
City's bonds trade at a higher percentage of LIBOR over the index received on the swap, basis risk is
created. This can occur due to many factors including, without limitation, changes in marginal tax
rates, tax-exempt status of bonds, and supply and demand for variable rate bonds. The City is
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exposed to basis risk on all swaptions except those that are based on Cost of Funds, which provide
cash flows that mirror those of the underlying bonds. For all other swaptions, if the rate paid on the
bonds is higher than the rate received, the City is liable for the difference. The difference would need
to be available on the debt service payment date, and it would add additional underlying cost to the
transaction.

(6) Tax Risk. The swap exposes the City to tax risk or a permanent mismatch (shortfall) between the
floating rate received on the swap and the variable rate paid on the underlying variable-rate bonds
due to tax law changes such that the federal or state tax exemption of municipal debt is eliminated or
its value reduced. There have been no tax law changes since the execution of the swaption
transactions.

(7) Termination Risk. The risk that the swap could be terminated as a result of certain events including a
ratings downgrade for the issuer or swap counterparty, covenant violation, bankruptcy, payment
default or other defined events of default. Termination of a swap may result in a payment made by
the issuer or to the issuer depending upon the market at the time of termination.

e) Debt Covenants

)

i)

iii)

Water Fund - The ordinances authorizing the issuance of outstanding Water Revenue Bonds provide for
the creation of separate accounts into which net revenues, as defined, or proceeds are to be credited, as
appropriate. The ordinances require that net revenues available for bonds, as adjusted, equal 120
percent of the current annual debt service on the outstanding senior lien bonds and that City
management maintains all covenant reserve account balances at specified amounts. The above
requirements were met at December 31, 2010. The Water Rate Stabilization account had a balance in
restricted assets of $61.4 million at December 31, 2010.

The ordinances authorizing the issuance of outstanding Second Lien Water Revenue Bonds provide for
the creation of separate accounts into which monies will be deposited, as appropriate. The ordinances
require that net revenues are equal to the sum of the aggregate annual debt service requirements for the
fiscal year of the outstanding senior lien bonds and 110 percent of the aggregate annual debt service
requirements of the outstanding second lien bonds. This requirement was met at December 31, 2010.

Sewer Fund - The ordinances authorizing the issuance of outstanding Wastewater Transmission
Revenue Bonds provide for the creation of separate accounts into which net revenues, as defined, or
proceeds are to be credited, as appropriate. The ordinances require that net revenues available for
bonds equal! 115 percent of the current annual debt service requirements on the outstanding senior lien
bonds. This requirement was met at December 31, 2010. The Sewer Rate Stabilization account had a
batance in restricted assets of $24.6 million at December 31, 2010.

The ordinances authorizing the issuance of outstanding Second Lien Wastewater Transmission Revenue
Bonds provide for the creation of separate accounts into which monies will be deposited, as appropriate.
The ordinances require that net revenues equal 100 percent of the sum of the current maximum annual
debt service requirements of the outstanding senior lien bonds and the maximum annual debt service
requirements of the second lien bonds. This requirement was met at December 31, 2010.

Chicago Midway International Airport Fund - The master indenture securing the issuance of Chicago
Midway International Airport Revenue Bonds requires that the City set rates and charges for the use and
operation of Midway so that revenues, together with any other available monies and the cash balance
held in the Revenue Fund on the first day of such year not required to be deposited in any fund or
account, will be at least sufficient (a) to provide for the operation and maintenance expenses for the year
and (b) to provide for the greater of (i) the amounts needed to be deposited into the First and Junior Lien
Debt Service Fund, the Operations & Maintenance Reserve Account, the Working Capital Account, the
First Lien Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Repair and Replacement Fund, and the Special Project Fund
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f)

iv)

and (i) an amount not less than 125 percent of the Aggregate First Lien Debt Service for such fiscal year
reduced by an amount equal to the sum of any amount held in any capitalized interest account for
disbursement during such fiscal year to pay interest on First Lien Bonds. These requirements were met
at December 31, 2010.

Chicago-O’Hare International Airport Fund - In 1983, the City Council adopted the General Airport
Revenue Bond ordinance authorizing the issuance and sale of Chicago-O’Hare International Airport
General Airport Revenue Bonds in unlimited series for the purpose of financing the cost of improvements
and expansion of O’'Hare and to redeem its existing outstanding bond obligations. The ordinance further
permits the issuance of second lien notes, bonds and other obligations which are payable from, and
secured by, a pledge of amounts deposited in the junior lien obligation debt service account created
under the ordinance. The ordinance requires that net revenues in each year-equal not less than the sum
of (i) the amount required to be deposited for such year in the debt service reserve fund, the maintenance
reserve fund, the special capital projects fund and the junior lien debt service fund, and (ii) 110 percent of
the aggregate first lien and second lien debt service for the bond year commencing during such fiscal
year reduced by an amount equal to the sum of any amount held in any capitalized interest account for
disbursement during such fiscal year to pay interest on bonds. This requirement was met at December
31, 2010. The ordinance provides for the creation of separate accounts that are to be credited with
revenues in a specified priority. At the end of each year, any excess funds over amounts required in
accounts other than Special Capital Projects, Emergency Reserve and Airport Development accounts are
reallocated with the following year's revenues.

The Master Indenture of Trust securing Chicago-O’Hare International Airport Third Lien Obligations
requires that Revenues in each Fiscal Year, together with Other Available Moneys deposited with the
Trustee with respect to that Fiscal Year and any cash balance held in the Revenue Fund on the first day
of that Fiscal Year not then required to be deposited in any Fund or Account, will be at least sufficient: (i)
to provide for the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expenses for the Fiscal Year; and (ii) to provide
for the greater of (a) the sum of the amounts needed to make the deposits required to be made pursuant
to all resolutions, ordinances, indentures and trust agreements pursuant to which all outstanding First
Lien Bonds, Second Lien Obligations, Third Lien Obligations or other Airport Obligations are issued and
secured, and (b) 110 percent the Aggregate First, Second and Third Lien Debt Service for the Bond Year
commencing during that Fiscal Year, reduced by any proceeds of Airport Obligations held by the Trustee
for disbursement during that Bond Year to pay principal of and interest on First Lien Bonds, Second Lien
obligations or Third Lien obligations. This requirement was met at December 31, 2010.

The master indenture securing the Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) Revenue Bonds requires PFC
revenues, as defined, to be deposited into the PFC Revenue Fund. The PFC Revenue Fund is required
to transfer amounts no later than the twentieth day of each month to various funds, as defined, as
appropriate to meet debt service and debt service reserve requirements.

No-Commitment Debt and Public Interest Loans include various special assessment, private activity
bonds and loans. These types of financings are used to provide private entities with low-cost capital financing

for construction and rehabilitation of facilities deemed to be in the public interest. Bonds payable on no-
commitment debt are not included in the accompanying financial statements because the City has no
obligation to provide for their repayment, which is the responsibility of the borrowing entities. In addition,
federal programs/grants, including Community Development Block Grants and Community Service Block

Grants, provide original funding for public interest loans. Loans receivable are not included as assets
because payments received on loans are used to fund new loans or other program activities in the current

year and are not available for general City operating purposes. Loans provided to third parties are recorded

as current and prior year programs/grants expenditures. Funding for future loans will be from a combination
of the repayment of existing loans and additional funds committed from future programs/grants expenditures.
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g) Defeased Bonds have been removed from the Statement of Net Assets because related assets have been
placed in irrevocable trusts that, together with interest earned thereon, will provide amounts sufficient for
payment of all principal and interest. Defeased bonds at December 31, 2010, not including principal
payments due January 1, 2011, are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Amount
Defeased Outstanding
Emergency Telephone System - Series 1993 ........ccccrvvienceeriiceninicenneeens $ 213,730 $ 140,595
General Obligation Refunding Bonds - Series 1993B .........cccvirimviviiereneinnen 17,535 17,535
General Obligation Refunding Bonds - Series 1995A-2 ...........ccecniveveiennenns 32,625 23,575
General Obligation Project and Refunding Bonds - Series 1998 ...................... 338,710 18,830
General Obligation Project and Refunding Bonds - Series 1999A ................... 252,380 10,475
General Obligation Bonds - Series 2001A ........ccvvrimenienienicnnsnsienene, 349,845 137,085
General Obligation Project and Refunding Bonds - Series 2002A ................... 135,690 117,855
General Obligation Project and Refunding Bonds - Series 2003A ................... 89,815 87,510
General Obligation Project Bonds - Series 2003C .........ccccovcmeirmrneriercreeinnenes 87,645 77,395
General Obligation Project Bonds - Series 2004A ..........ccccovrviincvenniniiiinienens 205,535 205,535
General Obligation Project and Refunding Bonds - Series 20058 ................... 3,460 3,280
General Obligation Project and Refunding Bonds - Series 2005E ................... 22,186 17,532
General Obligation Project and Refunding Bonds - Series 2006A ................... 19,230 15,680
General Obligation Direct Access Bonds - Series 2006 ..............cccceevveerieinnee 4,755 4,755
General Obligation Project and Refunding Bonds - Series 2007A ................... 10,300 10,300
Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program - Series 2001A ........oooveevimvenieinneneciiennnns 213,825 60,170
Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program - Series 2002A ............cccoieiiiciiienniieceranens 36,820 15,870
Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program - Series 2003 .........ccevveeimrmvimicnsnnvensencnens 90,600 86,045
Lake Millenium Project Parking Facilities Bonds - Series 1998 ............cccvueeen. 149,880 43,880
Lake Millenium Project Parking Facilities Bonds - Series 1999 ..........ccceeeennene 44,495 44,395
Near South Redevelopment Project Tax Increment - Series 1994A ................ 23,000 9,975
Water Revenue Senior Lien Bonds - Series 2001 ......ccccovcmeeiniienricsianeneasnnean: 242,630 229,155
Special Transportation Revenue Bonds - Series 2001 ...........ccocvveverrierenennns 118,715 103,485
TOLAL ceeeerrecreerrreererieresesassenerarrestsssessanestessesstsntssntersassasesansessirnrsstssnastosnssstorsasassnns $ 2,703,406 $ 1,480,912
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11) Pension Trust Funds

a) Retirement Benefit - Eligible City employees participate in one of four singie-employer defined benefit
pension plans (Plans). These Plans are: the Municipal Employees’; the Laborers’ and Retirement Board
Employees’; the Policemen’s; and the Firemen's Annuity and Benefit Funds of Chicago. Plans are
administered by individual retirement boards represented by elected and appointed officials. Certain
employees of the Chicago Board of Education participate in the Municipal Employees’ or the Laborers’ and
Retirement Board Employees’ Annuity and Benefit Funds for which the City levies taxes to make the required
employer contributions. Each Plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information.

The financial statements of the Plans are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Employer and
employee contributions are recognized in the period in which employee services are performed. Benefits and
refunds are recognized when payable.

Plan investments are reported at fair value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates
fair value. Securities traded on national or international exchanges are valued at the last reported sales price
at current exchange rates. Fixed income securities are valued principally using quoted market prices
provided by independent pricing services. For collective investments, the net asset value is determined and
centified by the investment managers as of the reporting date. Real estate investments are generally valued
by appraisals or other approved methods. Investments that do not have an established market are reported
at estimated fair value.

The Plans have a securities lending program. At year-end, the Plans have no credit risk exposure to
borrowers because the amounts the Plans owe the borrowers exceed the amounts the borrowers owe the
Plans. The contract with the Plans’ master custodian requires it to indemnify the Plans if the borrowers fail to
teturn the securities (and if the collateral is inadequate to replace the securities lent) or fail to pay the fund for
income distributions by the securities’ issuers while the securities are on loan. All securities loans can be
terminated on demand by either the Plans or the borrower, aithough the average term of the loans has not
exceeded 90 days. The Plans’ custodian lends securities for collateral in the form of cash, irrevocable
letters of credit and/or U.S. government obligations equal to at least 102 percent of the fair value of securities
or international securities for collateral of 105 percent. Cash collateral is invested in the iending agents’ short-
term investment pool, which at year-end has a weighted average maturity that did not exceed 101 days. The
Plans cannot pledge to sell collateral securities received unless the borrower defaults. Loans outstanding as
of December 31, 2010 are as follows: market vaiue of securities loaned $1,208.4 million, market value of cash
collateral from borrowers $1,238.3 million and market value of non-cash collateral from borrowers $5.4
million.

The Plans provide retirement, disability, and death benefits as established by State law. Benefits generally
vest after 20 years of credited service. Employees who retire at or after age §5 (50 for policemen and
firemen) with 20 years of credited service qualify to receive a money purchase annuity and those with more
than 20 years of credited service qualify to receive a minimum formula annuity. The annuity is computed by
muitiplying the final average salary by a percentage ranging from 2.0 percent to 2.4 percent per year of
credited service. The final average salary is the employee’s highest average annual salary for any four
consecutive years within the last 10 years of credited service.

State law requires City contributions at statutorily, not actuarially determined rates. The City’s contribution is
equal to the total amount of contributions by employees to the Pian made in the calendar year two years prior,
multiplied by 1.25 for the Municipal Employees’, 1.00 for the Laborers’, 2.00 for the Policemen’s, and 2.26 for
the Firemen’s. State law also requires covered employees to contribute a percentage of their salaries.
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The City’s annual pension cost for the current year and related information for each Plan is as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Municipal
Employees' Lahorers' Policemen's Firemen's Total

Contribution rates:

L0713V (- ) SR 8.5% 8.5% 9.0% 9.125%

Plan members......c.ccoeevemrevrericirenn. 8.5 8.5 9.0 9.125
Annual required contribution............. $ 483948 $ 46665 $ 363625 $ 218388 $ 1,112,626
Interest on net pension obligation..... 54,379 (16,509) 124,994 96,897 259,761
Adjustment to annual required

contribution..........c.oceevemicieniicnnenns (55,907) 16,973 (85,391) (99,619)  (223,944)
Annual pension CoSt.......c..ccvermreeiranes 482,420 47,129 403,228 215,666 1,148,443
Contributions made.......cccccccccveceninan. 154,752 15,352 174,501 80,947 425,552
increase in net pension obligation..... 327,668 31,777 228,727 134,719 722,891
Net pension obligation (excess),

beginning of year..........cccceecieceennen. 679,738 (206,362) 1,562,419 1,211,208 3,247,003
Net pension obligation (excess),

end of year........covvevevenrecncirnnnnnncnas $1,007,406 $ (174,585) $ 1,791,146 $ 1,345,927 $ 3,969,894

Municipal
Employees’ Laborers' Policemen's Firemen's
Actuarial valuation date.................... 12/31/2010 12/31/2010 12/31/2010 12/31/2010
Actuarial cost method............cceeueee, Entry age normal Entry age normal  Entry age normal  Entry age normal
Amortization method.............ccccerven. Level dollar, open Level dollar, open Level percent, open Level dollar, open
Remaining amortization period......... 30 years 30 years 30 years 30 years
Asset valuation method.................... 5-yr. Smoothed  5-yr. Smoothed 5-yr. Smoothed 5-yr. Smoothed
Market Market Market Market

Actuarial assumptions:

investment rate of return (a).......... 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0%

Projected salary increases (b):

Inflation.......cccieineeericricineniesnnen 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Seniority/Merit...........cc.ccceveerveneene (c) (d) (e) )

Postretirement benefit increases...... (9) (9) (h) (h)

(a) Percentage represents amount applied to the employees account and not the total contributed.
{p) Compounded Annually
(c) Service-based increases equivalent to a leve! annual rate increase of 2.4 percent over a full career.
(d) Service-based increases equivalent to a level annual rate increase of 1.9 percent over a full career.
(e) Service-based increases equivalent to a level annual rate increase of 2.8 percent over a full career.
() Service-based increases equivalent to a level annual rate increase of 2.7 percent over a full career.
(g) 3.0 percent per year beginning at the earlier of:
1) the later of the first of January of the year after retirement and age 60;
2) the later of the first of January of the year after the second anniversary of retirement and age 53.
(h) Uses 3.0 percent per year for annuitants age 55 or over, born before 1955 with at least 20 years of service
and 1.5 percent per year for 20 years for annuitants age 60 or over, born in 1955 or later.
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The following tables of information assist users in assessing each fund’s progress in accumulating sufficient assets to
pay benefits when due. The three-year historical information for each Plan is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Annual % of Annual Net Pension
Pension Pension Cost (Excess)
Year Cost Contributed Obligation
Municipal Employees':
2008.......ooieeiceecinreereenre e $ 359,933 40.79% $ 415,207
2009........coovererreiere e 412,576 35.88 679,738
2010, 0eeremrrereierenrevsesressssesans 482,420 32.08 1,007,406
Laborers":
2008.....ccreceeeirrnrrrerisiessnressienas 18,166 83.85 (225,759)
b0 [ SRR 34,024 4299 (206,362)
P20 [0 U 47,129 32.57 {174,585)
Policemen’s:
2008.......eeiereemerimesiesetaenenesiaenas 348,273 49.63 1,360,492
20009.....cccieeeeenreenrnesirieneresanes 373,972 46.00 1,562,419
P20 ) [ T 403,228 43.28 1,791,146
Firemen's:
2008......eocceeereeririereeirerereenrieaas 187,710 43.29 1,099,024
2000.......ccoerirerreerernneerecreeensaeens 201,397 44.30 1,211,208
P20 1 1 0 PR 215,666 37.53 1,345,927

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS
(dollars in thousands)

Unfunded
Actuarial (Surplus)
Accrued AAL as a
Actuarial Liability Unfunded Percentage
Actuarial Value of (AAL) (Surplus) Funded Covered of Covered
Valuation Assets Entry Age AAL Ratio Payroll Payroll
Year Date (a) (b) {b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)
Municipal Employees™:
2008.....evvrerernrennes 12/31/08 $6,669,502 $10,383,158 $3,713,656 64% $1,543,977 241%
2009.....ccceceeerierirennne 12/31/09 6,295,788 10,830,119 4,534,331 58 1,551,973 292
2010....cueieceeeereeenen, 12/31/10 6,003,390 11,828,666 5,825,276 51 1,541,388 378
Laborers":
2008....cceeererereerrens 12/31/08 1,698,427 1,915,324 216,897 89 216,744 100
2009....cocerienrrerniions 12/31/09 1,601,352 1,975,749 374,397 81 208,626 179
2010.uceiieiecrerericreennes 12/31/10 1,529,404 2,030,025 500,621 75 199,863 250
Policemen’s:
2008.....ccceeirereceernaes 12/31/08 4,093,720 8,482,574 4,388,854 48 1,023,581 429
2009....ccccerrreemeerienens 12/31/09 3,884,978 8,736,102 4,851,124 44 1,011,205 480
2010....ccvreeeereececeeens 12/31/10 3,718,955 9,210,056 5,491,101 40 1,048,084 524
Firemen's:
2008.....cceeimereererenes 12/31/08 1,335,695 3,311,269 1,975,574 40 396,182 499
2009.....ccceeerreirreennns 12/31/09 1,269,231 3,428,838 2,159,607 37 400,912 539
2010.....creecmererenrenes 12/3110 1,198,114 3,655,026 2,456,912 33 400,404 614
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b) Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) - Under State law, certain health benefits are available to
employees who retire from the City based upon their participation in the City’s pension plans. The Pension
Ptans and the City agreed to share in the cost of the Settlement Health Care Plan (see Note 12). This single
employee defined benefit plan is administered by the City. Substantially all employees who qualify as
Municipal or Laborers’ pension plan participants older than age 55 with at least 20 years of service and Police
and Fire pension plan participants older than age 50 with at least 10 years of service may become eligible for
postemployment benefits if they eventually become an annuitant. Health benefits include basic benefits for
annuitants and supplemental benefits for Medicare eligible annuitants. The amounts below represent the
accrued liability of the City’s pension pians related to their own employees and a subsidy paid to the City (see

Note 12). The plan is financed on a pay as you go basis (dollars in thousands).

Annual OPEB Cost and Contributions Made
For Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2010

Contribution Rates City:

Annual Required Contribution
Interest on Net OPEB Obiligation
Adjustment to Annual -

Required Contribution

Annual OPEB Cost
Contributions Made

Increase in
Net OPEB Obligation

Net OPEB Obligation,
Beginning of Year

Net OPEB Obligation,
End of Year

Actuarlal Method and Assumptions - Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the
substantive plan (the plan understood by the employer and plan members) and inciuded the types of benefits
provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and
plan members to that point. The actuarial method and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to
reduce the effects of short term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent

Municipal
Employees' Laborers' Policemen's Firemen's Total

A portion of the City's contribution from the tax levy is used to
finance the health insurance supplement benefit payments.

$ 2295 § 3609 $ 10659 $ 4,428 $ 41,651

1,900 164 3N 243 2,678
{2,480) (214) (294) (317) (3,305)
22,375 3,559 10,736 4,354 41,024

9,550 2,587 9,354 2,644 24,135
12,825 972 1,382 1,710 16,889
42,220 3,647 8,237 5,397 59,501

$ 55045 $ 4619 $ 9619 $ 7,107 $ 76,390

with the long term perspective of the calculations.
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Municipal

Employees' Laborers' Policemen's Firemen's
Actuarial Valuation Date 12/31/2010 12/31/2010 12/31/2010 12/31/2010
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Entry Age Entry Age Entry Age

Normal Normal Normal Normal
Amortization Method Level Dollar, Level Dollar, Level Percent, Level Dollar,
Open Open Open Open

Remaining
Amortization Method 30 years 30 years 30 years 30 years
Asset Valuation Method No Assets No Assets No Assets No Assets

Actuarial assumptions:
OPEB Investment
Rate of Return (a)

Projected Salary Increases (a)
Inflation

Seniority / Merit
Healthcare Cost Trend Rate (f)

( a) Compounded Annually

(Pay-as-you-go)

4.5%

3.0%

(b)
0.0%

(Pay-as-you-go)

4.5%

3.0%

(c)
0.0%

(Pay-as-you-go)

4.5%

3.0%

(d)
0.0%

(Pay-as-you-go)

4.5%

3.0%

(e)
0.0%

( b) Service-based increases equivalent to a level annual rate of increase of 2.4 percent over a full career
( ¢) Service-based increases equivalent to a level annual rate of increase of 1.9 percent over a full career
(d) Service-based increases equivalent to a level annual rate of increase of 2.8 percent over a full career
(e ) Service-based increases equivalent to a level annual rate of increase of 2.7 percent over a full career
( f) Trend not applicable - fixed dollar subsidy

OPEB COST SUMMARY
(doliars in thousands)
Annual % of Annual Net
OPEB OPEB OPEB
Year Cost Obligation Obligation
Municipal Employees' 2008 §$§ 23,580 38.29% $ 29,307
2009 22,561 42.77 42,220
2010 22,375 42.68 55,045
Laborers' 2008 3,546 66.20 2,563
2009 3,646 70.29 3,647
2010 3,559 72.68 4,619
Policemen's 2008 11,378 77.78 5,640
2009 11,863 78.11 8,237
2010 10,736 87.13 9,619
Firemen's 2008 4,281 58.09 3,723
2009 4,319 61.24 5,397
2010 4,354 60.74 7,107
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Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the
probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment,
mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual
required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revisions as the results are compared with past
expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presents, as required,
supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements (dollars in thousands, unaudited).

Unfunded
Actuarial (Surplus)
Accrued AAL as a
Actuarial Liability Unfunded Percentage
Actuarial Value of (AAL) (Surplus) Funded Covered of Covered
Valuation Assets Entry Age UAAL Ratio Payroll Payroll
Date (a) (b) {b-a) (alb) (c) {(ba)/c)
Municipal
Employees' 12/31/2010 § - $ 223564 §$ 223,564 - $ 1,541,388 14.50
Laborers' 12/31/2010 - 41,361 41,361 - 199,863 20.69
Policemen's 12/31/2010 - 164,796 164,796 - 1,048,084 15.72
Firemen's 12/31/2010 - 48,222 48,222 - 400,404 12.04

12) Other Postemployment Benefits — City Obligation

The annuitants who retired prior to July 1, 2005 received a 55 percent subsidy from the City and the annuitants who
retired on or after July 1, 2005 received a 50, 45, 40 and zero percent subsidy from the City based on the annuitant's
length of actual employment with the City for the gross cost of retiree health care under a court approved settlement
agreement. The pension funds contributed $65 for each Medicare eligible annuitant and $95 for each Non-Medicare
eligible annuitant 1o their gross cost. The annuitants contributed a total of $64.1 million in 2010 to the gross cost of
their retiree health care pursuant to premium amounts set forth in the above-referenced settlement agreement.

The cost of health benefits is recognized as an expenditure in the accompanying financial statements as claims are
reported and are funded on a pay-as-you-go basis. In 2010, the net expense to the City for providing these benefits
to approximately 24,253 annuitants plus their dependents was approximately $107.4 million.

The City’'s net expense and the annuitants’ contribution indicated above are preliminary and subject to the
reconciliation per the court approved settlement agreement.

Plan Description Summary - The City of Chicago is party to a written legal settlement agreement outlining the
provisions of the retiree health program, The Settlement Health Care Plans (the Plans), through June 30, 2013. The
agreement does not require or extend continuation of the Plans after June 30, 2013. Pursuant to the Settlement, the
City administers a single employer defined benefit healthcare plan (the Health Plan), for which the City pays a portion
of the costs on a pay as you go method. Under the Settlement agreement, the City of Chicago sponsors health
benefit plans for employees, former employees and retired former employees. The provisions of the program provide
in general, that the City pay a percentage of the cost (based upon an employee’s service) for hospital and medical
coverage to eligible retired employees and their dependents for a specified period, until June 30, 2013.
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In addition, Hlinois Compiled Statutes authorize the four respective Pension Funds (Police, Fire, Municipal, and
Laborers) to provide a fixed monthly dollar subsidy to each annuitant who has elected coverage under the Health
Plan through June 30, 2013. After that date, no supplements are authorized.

The liabilities for the monthly dollar supplements paid to annuitants enrolled in the retiree medical plan by their
respective Pension Funds are included in the liabilities and reports of the respective four Pension Funds (see Note
11).

Funding Policy - The City’s retiree heaith plan is a single employer plan which operates on a pay as you go funding
basis. No assets are accumulated or dedicated to funding the retiree health plan benefits.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation - The City’s annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost
(expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC). The ARC (Annual
Required Contribution) represents a level of funding, that if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover the normal
cost each year and to amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period of three years (the remaining years of
coverage under the Settlement agreement).

The following table shows the components of the City's annual OPEB costs for the year for the Settlement Plan, the
amount actually contributed to the plan and changes in the City's het OPEB obligation to the Retiree Health Plan.
The Net OPEB Obligation is the amount entered upon the City's Statement of Net Assets as of year end as the net
liability for the other postemployment benefits — the retiree health plan. The amount of the annual cost for the retiree
heatlth plan which is to be recorded in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets for 2010 is the Annual OPEB Cost
{expense).

Annual OPEB Cost and Contributions Made
(dollars in thousands)

Retiree

Settlement

Health Plan
Contribution Rates: ,
City Pay As You Go
Plan Members N/A
Annual Required Contribution $ 189,328
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation 9,871
Adjustment to Annual Required Contribution (116,325)
Annual OPEB Cost 82,874
Contributions Made 107,431
Increase in Net OPEB Obligation (24,557)
Net OPEB Obligation, Beginning of Year 329,040
Net OPEB Obligation, End of Year $ 304,483
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The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB
obligation for fiscal year 2010 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Schedule of Contributions,
OPEB Costs and Net Obiigations

Fiscal Annual Percentage of Net

Year OPEB Annual OPEB OPEB

Ended Cost Cost Contributed _ Obligation
12/31/2010  $§ 82,874 129.6% $ 304,483
12/31/2009 157,809 62.1 329,040
12/31/2008 218,897 44.8 269,275

Funded Status and Funding Progress - As of December 31, 2009, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the
actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $533.4 million all of which was unfunded. The covered payroll (annual
payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was approximately $2,547.0 miltion and the ratio of the unfunded
actuarial accrued liability to the covered payroll was 21 percent.

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the
probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment,
mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual
required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revisions as the results are compared with past
expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presents, as required,
supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements (dollars in thousands, unaudited).

Unfunded
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial
Valuation Value of Accrued Accrued Liability Funded Covered
Date Assets Liability (AAL) (UAAL) Ratio Payroll
12/31/2009 $ - $ 533387 $ 533,387 0% $ 2,546,961

Actuarial Method and Assumptions - Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the
substantive plan (the plan understood by the employer and plan members) and included the types of benefits
provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattem of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and
plan members to that point. The actuarial method and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to
reduce the effects of short term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent
with the long term perspective of the calculations.

For the Settlement Plan benefits (not provided by the Pension Funds) in the actuarial valuation for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2010, the projected unit credit actuarial cost method was used. The actuarial assumptions
included an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 12 percent initially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 10.5
percent. Both rates inciuded a 3 percent inflation assumption. The plan has not accumulated assets and does not
hold assets in a segregated trust. However, the funds expected to be used to pay benefits are assumed to be
invested for durations which will yield an annual return rate of 3.0 percent. The Unfunded Accrued Actuarial Llablllty
is being amortized as a level dollar amount over 3 years.
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Summary of Assumptions and Methods

Settlement
Health Plan
Actuarial Valuation Date December 31, 2009
Actuarial Cost Method Projected Unit Credit
Amortization Method Level Dollar, Closed
Remaining Amortization Period 3 years
Asset Valuation Method Market Value
Actuarial Assumptions:
Investment Rate of Retum 3.00%
Projected Salary Increases 2.50%
Healthcare Inflation Rate 12% initial to 10.5% ultimate

13) Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors and
omissions; certain benefits for and injuries to employees and natural disasters. The City provides worker’s
compensation benefits and employee health benefits under self-insurance programs except for insurance policies
maintained for certain Enterprise Fund activities. The City uses various risk management techniques to finance these
risks by retaining, transferring and controlling risks depending on the risk exposure.

Risks for O’'Hare, Midway, and certain other major properties, along with various special events, losses from certain
criminal acts committed by employees and public official bonds are transferred to commercial insurers. Claims have
not exceeded the purchased insurance coverage in the past three years, accordingly, no liability is reported for these
claims. All other risks are retained by the City and are self-insured. The City pays claim settlements and judgments
from the self-insured programs. Uninsured claim expenditures and liabilities are reported when it is probable that a
loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses include an estimate of
claims that have been incurred but not reported. The General Fund is primarily used to record all non-Enterprise
Fund claims. The estimated portion of non-Enterprise Fund claims not yet settled has been recorded in the
Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Assets as claims payable along with amounts related to deferred
compensatory time and estimated liabilities for questioned costs. As of December 31, 2010, the total amount of non-
Enterprise Fund claims was $498.5 million. This liability is the City’s best estimate based on available information.
Changes in the reported liability for all funds are as follows (dollars in thousands):

2010 2009
Balance, January 1......cocevcrvcenennnnnnennns $ 513,333 $497,527
Claims incurred on current and
prior year events........cooceviicmncieininenes 632,765 605,506
Claims paid on current and
prior year evernts.........ccooceeeeenccecriienaee (590,813)  (589,700)
Balance, December 31..........cccccoceeuennene $ 555,285 $513,333
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14) Commitments and Contingencies

The City is a defendant in various pending and threatened individual and class action litigation relating principally to
claims arising from contracts, personal injury, property damage, police conduct, alleged discrimination, civil rights
actions and other matters, City management believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a
material adverse effect on the financial position of the City.

The City participates in a number of federal-and state-assisted grant programs. These grants are subject to audits by
or on behalf of the grantors to assure compliance with grant provisions. Based upon past experience and
management’s judgment, the City has made provisions in the General Fund for questioned costs and other amounts
estimated to be disallowed. City management expects such provision to be adequate to cover actual amounts
disallowed, if any.

As of December 31, 2010, the Enterprise Funds have entered into contracts for approximately $414.1 million for
construction projects.

The City's pollution remediation obligation of $14.3 million is primarily related to Brownfield redevelopment projects.
These projects include removal of underground storage tanks, cleanup of contaminated soil, and removal of other
environmental pollution identified at the individual sites. The estimated liability is calculated using the expected cash
flow technique. The pollution remediation obligation is an estimate and subject to changes resulting from price
increases or reductions, technology, or changes in applicable laws or regulations.

15) Service Concession Agreements

The major fund entitled Service Concession Agreements is used for the primary purpose of accounting for the
deferred inflows associated with governmental fund long-term lease and concession transactions. Deferred inflows
are amortized over the life of the related lease and concession agreements. Proceeds from these transactions may
be transferred from this fund in accordance with ordinances approved by city council that define the use of proceeds.

In February 2009, the City completed a $1.15 billion concession agreement to allow a private operator to manage and
collect revenues from the City’s metered parking system for 75 years. The City received an upfront payment of $1.15
billion which was recognized as a deferred inflow that will be amortized and recognized as revenue over the term of
the agreement. In 2009, the City recognized $15.3 million of revenue and will continue to recognize $15.3 million for
each subsequent year through 2083.

in December 20086, the City completed a long-term concession and lease of the City’s downtown underground public
parking system. The concession granted a private company the right to operate the garages and collect parking and
related revenues for the 99-year term of the operating lease. The City received an upfront payment of $563.0 miliion
of which $347.8 million was simultaneously used to purchase three of the underground garages from the Chicago
Park District. The City recognized a deferred inflow that will be amortized and recognized as revenue over the term of
the lease. [n 2007, the City recognized $5.7 million of revenue and will continue to recognize $5.7 million for each
subsequent year through 2105.

In January 2005, the City completed a long-term concession and lease of the Skyway. The concession granted a
private company the right to operate the Skyway and to collect toli revenue from the Skyway for the 99-year term of
the operating lease. The City received an upfront payment of $1.83 billion; a portion of the payment ($446.3 million)
advance refunded all of the outstanding Skyway bonds. The City recognized a deferred inflow of $1.83 billion that will
be amortized and recognized as revenue over the 99-year term of the operating lease. In 2005, the City recognized
$18.5 million of revenue related to this transaction and will recognize $18.5 million for each subsequent year through
2103. Skyway land, bridges, other facilities and equipment continue to be reported on the Statement of Net Assets
and will be depreciated, as applicable, over their useful lives. The deferred inflow of the Skyway is reported in the
Proprietary Funds Statement of Net Assets.
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16) Subsequent Events

in January 2011, the City sold General Obligation Taxable Project Bonds Series 2010C-1 ($299.3 million). The bonds
were issued at an interest rate of 7.781 percent and mature January 1, 2035. Proceeds will be used to pay for a
portion of the costs of various capital projects of the City.

In January 2011, Fitch Ratings downgraded the Chicago O’'Hare International Airport's Passenger Facility Revenue
Bonds from “A” to “A-" and the General Airport Third Lien Revenue Bonds from “A+” to “A-” In April 2011, Fitch
Ratings upgraded the Chicago O’'Hare International Airport’s Passenger Facility Revenue Bonds from “A-" to “A.”

The City reached a new collective bargaining agreement with Chicago Fire Fighters Union Local No. 2, effective
March 9, 2011, with a stated term of July 1, 2007 through June 30, 2012. This agreement covers approximately
4,900 firefighters and paramedics in the Chicago Fire Department. The City paid $86.3 million in retroactive wages in
April 2011.

In April 2011, $86.3 million of General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes, Series 2002B were issued. Proceeds will
be used for operations as identified in the 2011 Annual Appropriation Ordinance.

In April 2011, the City sold Chicago O’'Hare International Airport General Airport Third Lien Revenue (Non-AMT)
Bonds Series 2011A, General Airport Third Lien Revenue (Non-AMT) Bonds Series 2011B and General Airport Third
Lien Revenue (Non-AMT) Bonds Series 2011C ($1.0 billion). The bonds were issued at interest rates ranging from
3.0 percent to 6.5 percent and maturity dates from January 1, 2014 to January 1, 2041. Proceeds will be used to pay
a portion of the costs of certain projects at Chicago O'Hare International Airport including the O'Hare Modernization
Program.

In April 2011, the City sold Chicago O'Hare International Airport Passenger Facility Charge Revenue Refunding (Non-
AMT) Bonds Series 2011A and Passenger Facility Charge Revenue Refunding (AMT) Series 2011B Bonds ($46.0
million). The bonds were issued at interest rates ranging from 5.0 percent to 6.0 percent and maturity dates from -
January 1, 2017 to January 1, 2033. Proceeds will be used to pay a portion of the costs of certain projects at Chicago
O'Hare International Airport including the O'Hare Modernization Program and to refund certain outstanding
Passenger Facility Charge Revenue bonds.

in April 2011, the City novated its $60.9 million notional amount swap associated with the Midway Airport Series
2004C&D variable rate bonds with J.P. Morgan to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. The fixed rate the City pays increased
from 4.174 percent to 4.247 percent, and the City will sign a one-way Credit Support Agreement (CSA) that no longer
requires the City to post collateral if the mark-to-market exceeds the threshold, as previously defined in the J.P.
Morgan agreement. A Goldman Sachs swap covers the remaining balance of the bonds, with a current notional
amount of $91.3 million, which does not have a two-way CSA and remains unchanged.

In May 2011, the City entered into a two-way Credit Support Agreement (CSA) with J.P. Morgan in connection with
the $397.7 million original notional amount swaption associated with the Midway Airport Series 1998 A,B&C fixed rate
bonds. The CSA was required because a termination event was triggered due to the insurer's ratings downgrade.
Based on the current second lien ratings at Midway Airport (A3/A-/A- by Moody’s, S&P and Fitch respectively), if the
mark-to-market on the swap is against the City by more than $25 million, the City/Airport must post collateral for the
difference. To mitigate the risk of posting collateral, the City obtained a $25 million Letter of Credit (LOC) as
collateral. The LOC is not expected to be drawn upon as long as there is no event of default by the bank or the City.
Based on the current second lien ratings at Midway Airport, if the mark-to-market on the swaption is against the City
by more than the combined $25 million threshold provided in the CSA and the $25 million LOC, for a total of $50
million, the City must post collateral for the difference.

In June 2011, $221.5 million of the General Obligation Bonds Series 2005D bonds became bank bonds due to the

deterioration of the liquidity support provider's credit quality. The remarketing agent continues to use best efforts to
remarket the bonds out of bank mode. There is no principal due on the bank bonds within the next fiscal year.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS FUNDING PROGRESS
Last Three Years (dollars are in thousands)

Unfunded
Unfunded ' (Surplus)
Actuarial Actuarial AAL as a
Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Accrued Percentage
Valuation Value Liability (AAL) Liability Funded Covered of Covered
Date of Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
(a) (b) (b-a) (ab) (c) ((b-a)/c)
Municipal
Employees'’
2008 ....coccereeerercens 12/31/2008 $ - $ 222691 § 222,691 - % §$ 1,543,977 1442 %
2009 .....coveiecrrenenne 12/31/2009 - 224173 224,173 - 1,651,973 14.44
2010 .o 12/31/2010 - 223,564 223,564 - 1,541,388 14.50
Laborers'
2008 ......coeeriirieneene 12/31/2008 - 42,064 42,064 - % 216,744 1941 %
2009 ....cccovirenirenns 12/31/2009 - 41,738 41,738 - 208,626 20.01
2010 .cccvrerirreninne 12/31/2010 - 41,361 41,361 - 199,863 20.69
Policemen's
2008 .....ccerveeerunnies 12/31/2008 - 169,972 169,972 - % 1,023,581 16.61 %
2009 ..o 12/31/2009 - 164,800 164,800 - 1,011,205 16.30
2010 .covreecreeenenes 12/31/2010 - 164,796 164,796 - 1,048,084 15.72
Firemen's
2008 ...cooeeierreeenne 12/31/2008 - 47,309 47,309 - % 396,182 11.94 %
2009 ....ccoeveerermnenne 12/31/2009 - 47,933 47,933 - 400,912 11.96
2010 e 12/31/2010 - 48,222 48,222 - 400,404 12.04
City of Chicago
2007 .cereeerienrennns 12/31/2007 - 1,062,864 1,062,864 - % 2,562,007 4149 %
2008 ....ocorerererernens 12/31/2008 - 787,395 787,395 - 2,475,107 31.81
2009 .....cooeienniinnns 12/31/2009 - 533,387 533,387 - 2,546,961 20.94
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER
MATTERS BASED UPON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING
STANDARDS

To the Honorable Rahm Emanuel, Mayor,
and Members of the City Council
City of Chicago, Illinois

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Chicago, Illinois (the “City”), as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2010, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents, and have issued our report thereon dated June 29, 2011. Our
report was modified to include a reference to other auditors and to include an emphasis of a matter
paragraph related to the adoption of Statement No. 53 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments. We conducted our audit in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States. Other auditors audited the financial statements of the City’s Pension Plans, as described in
our report on the City’s financial statements. This report does not include the results of the other auditors’
testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance and other matters that are reported on
separately by those auditors. The financial statements of the City’s Pension Plans were not audited in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting. In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City’s internal control over
financial reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our
opinion on the basic financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the
preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial
reporting that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, and therefore, there can be no
assurance that all deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses have been identified.
However, as described in the accompanying summary of basic financial statement findings, we identified
certain deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses
and other deficiencies that we consider to be significant deficiencies.

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited



A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We
consider the deficiencies described in the accompanying summary of basic financial statements findings
to be material weakness: 2010-1 to 2010-5.

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance. We consider the deficiencies described in the accompanying summary of basic financial
statement findings to be significant deficiencies: 2010-6 and 2010-7.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s basic financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

We noted certain matters that we reported to management of the City in a separate letter of
recommendation dated June 29, 2011.

The City’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying summary of
basic financial statement findings. We did not audit the City’s responses, and accordingly, we express no
opinion on them.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Mayor, members of the City Council,

management of the City, federal awarding agencies, and pass-through entities, and is not intended to be,
and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

el %/Imrjva, LLP

June 29, 2011
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SUMMARY OF BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

ADEQUACY OF STAFFED AND/OR TRAINED FINANCIAL PERSONNEL AND

RESULTANT IMPLICATIONS ON THE FINANCIAL REPORTING AND CLOSING PROCESS*
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

FINDING 2010-1

Criteria — Sufficient levels of properly trained management and staff-level personnel are required to carry
out the daily tasks of the Office of the Comptroller, including effective and efficient external audit and
financial reporting preparation.

Condition — The Office of the Comptroller is not adequately staffed and/or trained at either the management
or staff levels, thereby creating competing demands of their time and priorities.

Effect — The proper and timely completion of daily tasks, such as the preparation of account reconciliations
or creation of financial reports, may not be completed in an efficient and effective manner causing operating,
reporting, and external audit preparation inefficiencies.

Cause — The Office of the Comptroller has been unable to successfully transfer-in or hire adequate levels of
management and/or staff.

Recommendation — Perform a personnel needs assessment for the Finance Department and other
departments that issue stand-alone financial reports. Ensure that properly trained management and staff fill
existing or necessary vacancies to facilitate the proper and timely completion of audit-related tasks in an
effective and efficient manner. Complete a financial reporting timeline, communicate deadlines to, and hold
City personnel accountable for, ensuring that all responsibilities are met. Continuously provide appropriate
technical training, cross-train departmental employees, and document succession plans.

Views of the Responsible Officials — The City, like many other state and local governments, is faced with
the continuation of the nation’s most significant recession in decades while attempting to maintain appropriate
levels of staff to manage the City’s core functions, such as public safety, and health etc. The City will reassess
additional requests for staffing as justified by responsibilities and available City resources. Managerial staff
assignments and organizational structures are being reviewed concerning responsibilities on a yearly basis.

Staff and management continue to devote time in accommodating the development, testing, training, and
implementation of the City’s financial systems and report writing capabilities.

Enterprise will work to increase communication with the Chicago Department of Aviation (CDA) on the need
for information and reports to minimize delays in the overall audit process.

*Comment repeated from previous fiscal years.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SUMMARY OF BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER — SPECIAL ACCOUNTING DIVISION
FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING*

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

FINDING 2010-2

Criteria — The Special Accounting Division of the Office of the Comptroller (SAD) should monitor annual
activity within the Federal, State, and Local Fund, specifically over land held for resale, due from other
government receivables and deferred revenue.

Condition — The SAD does not currently monitor and manage the inventory listing of land held for resale,
certain significantly aged grant receivables for collectability, review certain liability accounts for accuracy, or
monitor certain deferred revenue balances. The SAD’s grant accounting process should be reviewed to
identify and create efficiencies in financial reporting.

Effect — The City may experience difficulty in the ability to properly monitor asset acquisitions and/or
disposals of certain aged assets and may not have the ability to properly record associated gains and/or losses
on those assets. Further, the SAD may experience difficulty in the ability to properly monitor receivables for
validity and collectability and liabilities for accuracy. Errors in accounting for grant activity may occur given
current system and manual processes.

Cause — During the course of the basic financial statement audit for the year ended December 31, 2010, and
as communicated to management in previous fiscal years, the SAD is not staffed adequately at the leadership
and managerial levels, nor do they have sufficiently trained staff personnel. The Deputy Comptroller of the
SAD retired in 2010 and has not been replaced. Current management of the SAD responsible for the overall
accounting and financial reporting of the Federal, State, and Local Fund has not demonstrated proactive
ownership of the annual external audit process. Reconciliations and audit schedules are typically not prepared
timely. Corrective action plans communicated to us in response to our prior-year recommendations have not
been fully implemented.

Recommendation — Ensure adequate levels of properly trained management and staff within the SAD.
Ensure that personnel within the SAD take complete and proactive ownership of the Federal, State, and Local
Fund accounting and financial reporting responsibilities throughout the fiscal year. Prepare reconciliations
and reviews of the general ledger on a regular basis. Record adjusting entries to remove aged receivables and
liabilities for which no supporting documentation is maintained. Review the accounting records to properly
match offsetting credits with the respective receivable balances and record such activity timely, and prior to
the audit process. Perform year-end financial reporting adjusting entries at the grant level (as opposed to the
fund-class level). Ensure that prior-year audit recommendations are implemented.

Views of Responsible Officials — As of the date of the completion of the FY 2010 basic financial statement
(BFS) audit in 2011, the SAD had lost three managers. Requests were made for replacements where
appropriate, but SAD had been unable to fill any of the current vacant positions. During this time, SAD made
use of a limited number of temporary accounting staff to assist in division obligations.

* Comment repeated from previous fiscal years.
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The Finance Department played an integral role in the implementation of the Oracle Grant Module system
that was being installed in 15 City departments on May 23, 2011. Further, SAD was required to spend a great
deal of time working on the Oracle 12R upgrade. Despite these obstacles, SAD managed to perform its daily
responsibilities as well as prepare all of its schedules and complete its reconciliations so that the annual BFS
audit could be issued on time.

SAD has been running an aged accounts receivable schedule and distributing it to accounting supervisors and
directors. In 2010, SAD spent a great deal of time reviewing cash receipts and journal entries over recent
years to make needed adjustments. During 2011, we made continued progress in the reduction of older
receivables still on our books. Throughout 2010 and 2011, our office has been working with the Illinois
Department of Transportation, the Chicago Department of Transportation, and an outside consultant to
review, bill, and close approximately 140 old transportation projects. Several additional projects are in the
process of being completed.

The land held for resale activity is managed by the City’s Department of Housing and Economic
Development (HED), which evolved from the merger of the Department of Community Development with
other City departments. The SAD operations currently do not handle appraisals and valuations. The
communication between HED and SAD has drastically improved in 2011. SAD regularly receives updated
reports on land inventory from HED, and the SAD director of the Community Development Block Grant Unit
follows up with HED.

Throughout 2011, SAD will review the liability and deferred revenue general ledger balances and make any
necessary adjusting entries.

Current SAD management has been working to make it easier to make these entries at fund level by gradually

transitioning to a “single-grant-to-a-single-fund” setup. This will allow us to make fund level entries for the
2011 audit, leaving a much cleaner audit trail.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SUMMARY OF BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

EXPENDITURE CUTOFF*

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

FINDING 2010-3

Criteria — The City’s current expenditure cutoff policy allows for certain expenses incurred in a given fiscal
year to be recorded in the subsequent fiscal year for financial reporting purposes.

Condition — The City does not maintain effective accounting and financial reporting policies and procedures
for expenditure cutoff to ensure that financial activity is recorded timely and in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

Effect — The City may experience difficulty in the ability to properly account for, analyze, and report all
expenditures in accordance with GAAP.

Cause — The City utilizes a fiscal year cutoff date of March 15 of the following fiscal year whereby the City
records all invoices received subsequent to this cutoff date in the subsequent fiscal year, regardless of when
the expense was incurred or service period. During our audit, we identified a significant amount of expenses
that were recorded in the incorrect fiscal year based on this policy. In addition, as a result of the decentralized
nature of the various City departments, we also identified invoices held at the individual departments that
were not communicated or provided to the Finance Department in a timely manner.

Recommendation — Implement effective accounting policies and procedures to efficiently and appropriately
account for and report financial activity in the correct fiscal period, and in accordance with GAAP. Continue
to initiate policies to centralize the invoicing function and to enable the Finance Department to take complete
ownership of the related accounting. Implement software systems and/or functionality that facilitates proper
internal controls associated with expenditure cutoff. Train personnel on any policy or procedural changes; and
to review invoices, contracts, and/or supporting documents to ascertain the appropriate period to which the
goods and/or services relate.

Views of Responsible Officials —Central invoice processing was implemented in March 2011, and we
continue to work with both City departments and vendors who do work with the City to obtain 100%
compliance.

The City continues to provide additional training and meets with departmental finance officers and voucher
auditors relating to proper cutoff dates of expenditures.

* Comment repeated from previous fiscal years.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SUMMARY OF BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

DISBURSEMENT RECONCILIATIONS BETWEEN THE CITY TREASURER’S OFFICE AND
THE FINANCE DEPARTMENT*

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

FINDING 2010-4

Criteria — The City does not regularly reconcile checks cut to the City Treasurer’s Office (CTO) for
purposes of initiating certain wire transfers to ensure that daily cash activity is properly accounted for and
presented, despite timing differences, in accordance with GAAP.

Condition — The City does not maintain effective accounting and financial reporting policies and procedures
for certain aspects of capital assets, expenditure cutoff, encumbrance reserves, and certain disbursements to
the CTO to ensure that financial activity is recorded timely and in accordance with GAAP.

Effect — The City may experience difficulty in the ability to properly account for, analyze, and report all
disbursement activity in accordance with GAAP.

Cause — The City’s current process to reconcile checks cut to the CTO for purposes of initiating certain wire
transfers is not adhered to on a regular basis.

Recommendation — Regularly reconcile checks written to the CTO at the end of the accounting period to
ensure that the transaction are appropriately and timely recorded within the general ledger.

Views of Responsible Officials — The City will review and expand existing cash reconciliation procedures
as they relate to wire transfers to ensure that financial activity is recorded accurately and timely in the general
ledger. Any differences will be resolved in a timely manner.

The Comptroller’s Office is working with the Treasurer’s Office during the implementation of the Oracle
Treasury and the Oracle Cash Management modules to assist with streamlining this process. Once the
Treasurer’s Office is in the Oracle system, this should not be an issue.

* Comment repeated from previous fiscal years.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SUMMARY OF BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

CAPITAL ASSETS*

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

FINDING 2010-5

Criteria — Develop and maintain formal policies and procedures to properly identify, account for, monitor,
and report capital asset activity. Utilize system functionality to centralize capital asset processes. Ensure that
procedures are consistently applied for transferring completed projects from construction in progress to their
respective depreciable fixed asset category.

Condition — The City does not maintain formal policies and procedures for capital assets and utilizes
decentralized systems and departmental tools to identify, account for, monitor and report capital asset activity.
The City does not utilize system functionality to centralize capital asset processes. Procedures for transferring
completed projects from construction in progress to a depreciable fixed asset category are not consistent.

Effect — The City may experience difficulty in the ability to properly track and analyze capital asset activity
in accordance with GAAP.

Cause — The City does not maintain formal policies and procedures or system functionality to properly
identify, account for, monitor, and report all capital asset activity. The City does not have centralized capital
asset processes. The City’s procedures for transferring completed projects to a depreciable fixed asset
category are not consistently applied.

Recommendation — Implement system functionality to accumulate, track, and analyze capital asset
movements. Develop and monitor appropriate policies and procedures to update the capital asset module for
future activity relating to additions, disposals, transfers, and impairments. Expenses should be regularly
reviewed by someone outside of the originating department to ensure that they are being properly classified as
an expense or capitalized. Lastly, ensure that consistent procedures are in place to appropriately and timely
transfer completed projects from construction in progress to a depreciable fixed asset category.

Views of Responsible Officials — The City is implementing the Fixed Asset module to address these issues.
Within this module, fixed assets can be tagged. Construction work in progress, additions, and disposals, as
well as transfers are automatically entered through mass addition to the Fixed Asset module. Individual assets
maintained at a department level can be uploaded to the Fixed Asset module through a journal. In addition,
the City is developing new interfaces from other systems to provide all asset information from shadow
systems.

A standardized procedure has been developed to report capital asset via a secondary or subsidiary ledger.
Business object reports can be developed for additional reporting and managing assets. The secondary ledger
will distinguish all capital expenditure and provide the proper accounting for fixed asset financial reporting.
The Fixed Asset module as well as the new Project Grant module have a “date placed in service” field which
is updated monthly.

* Comment repeated from previous fiscal years.
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Enterprise accounting will work in conjunction with the CDA and its project management consultants to
develop and analyze separate computations of year-end retainage on construction contracts to assure retainage
on all construction contracts are included in the year-end adjustments.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SUMMARY OF BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

ENCUMBRANCE ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING*

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

FINDING 2010-6

Criteria — GASB Codification Section 1600.125 defines encumbrances as commitments related to
unperformed (executory) contracts for goods or services. The City utilizes an encumbrance system to track
outstanding purchase commitments that have not yet resulted in liabilities. When a purchase order contract is
issued or any other commitment is made, the City reduces the amount of budgetary appropriation remaining
in a given budget category and records an outstanding encumbrance, or reservation of fund balance.

Condition — The City does not maintain effective accounting and financial reporting policies and procedures
for encumbrance reserves to ensure that financial activity is recorded timely and in accordance with GAAP.

Effect — The City may experience difficulty in the ability to properly account for, analyze, and report all
encumbrance activity in accordance with GAAP.

Cause — Encumbrances for which goods/services had been received/rendered during the current fiscal year
did not have the associated encumbrances removed from the general ledger. The City currently does not have
a formal process to evaluate encumbrances in relation to contract services provided to ensure that the
encumbrances that are recorded are still valid. This could resuit in aged encumbrances that represent an
overstatement of reserved fund balance.

Recommendation — Monitor and review encumbrances to ensure they represent valid reserves of fund
balance for existing purchase orders and valid contracts. Remove aged or invalid reserves from the general
ledger.

Views of Responsible Officials — The City has been reviewing and eliminating old encumbrances,
specifically within the Capital Project funds. We have increased our reporting processes and will be reviewing
these reports more frequently in order to eliminate discrepancies and to ensure aged or invalid reserves are
accounted for.

* Comment repeated from previous fiscal years.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SUMMARY OF BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS
OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

MANAGEMENT ESTIMATES”

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

FINDING 2010-7

Criteria — Develop and maintain formal policies and procedures to determine management estimates that
affect the financial statements to ensure that recorded values are reasonable, and that all financial reporting
risks are adequately addressed.

Condition — The City does not maintain formal policies and procedures for determining estimates related to
investments whose fair value is not readily determinable, medical incurred but not paid liability, police
overtime, and other postemployment benefits and ensuring that all financial reporting risks are adequately
addressed.

Effect — The City may not accurately record management estimates based on reasonable methodologies and
assumptions.

Cause — Management has established certain policies and procedures for determining estimated amounts
that affect the financial statements; however, certain policies, procedures, and related documentation should
be improved to ensure that recorded values are reasonable, and that all financial reporting risks are adequately
addressed. City employees should be responsible for all assumptions, methodologies and related reporting
risks.

Recommendation — Establish and document effective policies and procedures to ensure the accurate
recording of all management estimates based on reasonable methodologies and assumptions. Ensure such
policies and procedures adequately address all financial reporting risks, ensure the retention of complete and
accurate underlying data, and support management’s estimates with current, relevant facts, and circumstances.
Perform a regular look-back analysis to determine that policies and procedures used to determine estimates
continue to be adequate for the City’s financial reporting needs. Continue to enhance the review of the
financial statements to ensure that all assets and liabilities are accounted for within the basic financial
statements.

Views of Responsible Officials — The City will review its policies and procedures relating to certain
management estimates, including use of experts, to derive actuarial liabilities.

* Comment repeated from previous fiscal years.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
ON SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

To the Honorable Rahm Emanuel, Mayor,
and the Members of the City Council

City of Chicago

Chicago, Illinois

We have audited the accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards of the City of Chicago, Illinois
for the year ended December 31, 2010. This financial statement is the responsibility of the City of Chicago’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statement based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and
Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statement is free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statement.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards referred to above presents fairly, in all material
respects, the expenditures of federal awards of the City of Chicago, lllinois for the year ended December 31,
2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Federal Federal Grant/ State 2010 2010 2010
CFDA Pass-Through Federal Non-Federal Subrecipient
Agency/ Program/ Grant Title Number Number Expenditures Expenditures Expenditures
I.  Department of Agricuiture
A. Food and Nutrition Service
Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, & Children
{passed through the Hlinois Department of Human Services)
Women, Infants and Children Program 2007 10.557 811G8087900 11,631 § - -
Women, Infants and Children Program 2009 10.557 1.11GL087900 2,529,093 - 416,989
Women, Infants and Children Program 2010 40.557 M11GM087900 1,995,241 - 102,389
All Our Kids Early Chiidhood Network 2009 10.557 L11GL087570 63,620 - -
All Our Kids Early Chiidhood Network 2010 10.557 M11GM087570 44,569 - -
Healthy Child of liinois 2009 10.557 L11GL087420 16,971 - -
Healthy Child Care of lllinois 2010 10.557 M11GM087420 4,386 - -
Breastfeeding Peer Counseling 10.557 L11GL087671 6,188 - 6,188
4,671,699 R 625,566
Child Nutrition Cluster
Summer Food Services Program for Children
{passed through the illinois Department of Public Health)
Summer Food Program IDPH 2009 10.559 05280286 2,880 - .
Summer Food Program IDPH 2010 10.559 05280495 69,125 - .
{passed through the illinois State Board of Education)
Summer Food 2010 Program i{SBE 2010 10.559 14016298P00 1,363,835 - 1,150,078
1,435,840 - 1,150,078
Total Chiid Nutrition Cluster 1,435,840 - 1,160,078
Total Food and Nutrition Service 6,107,539 - 1,675,644
B. Forest Service
Urban and Community Forrestry Program
2009 Green Street Program USDA Grant 10.675 09DG 11420004 47,838 47,837 -
47,838 47,837
Recovery Act of 2009: Wildland Fire Management
ARRA Restoring Chicago Jobs and Habitat 10.688 10-DG-11244419-026 320,726 - -
320,726 R N
Total Forest Service 368,564 47,837 -
Total Department of Agriculture 6,476,103 47,837 1,675,644
Ii. Department of Commerce
A. National Telecommunications and information Administration
Public Safety interoperable Communications Grant Program
{passed through lllinois Emergency Management Authority)
2007 Public Safety Interoperable Communication Grant 11,655 107PSICCHGO 8,519,598 2,839,866 -
8,519,598 2,839,866 -
ARRA Broadband Technology Opportunities Program (BTOP)
ARRA BTOP/Sustainable Broadband Technology Adoption Program 11.657 1743810507 1,446,317 - 1,446,317
1,446,317 - 1,446,317
Total National Telecommunications and Information Administration 9,965,915 2,839,866 1,446,317
Total Department of Commerce 9,965,915 2,839,866 1,446,317
ill. Department of Housing and Urban Development
A. Office of Housing - Federal Housing Commissioner
Multi-Family Property Disposition
Upfront Grant - Lawndale Restoration 14.198 UFGO6FW00001 1,036,167 - -
1,036,167 - -
Totai Office of Housing - Federal Housing Commissioner 1,036,167 - .
B. Office of Community Planning and Development
CDBG -- Entitlement Grants Ciuster
Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants
Community Development Block Grant - YR28 14.218 B02MC170006 {1,000} - -
Community Development Block Grant - YR29 14.218 BO3MC1700G6 1 - -
Community Development Biock Grant - YR32 14.218 B0O6MC170006 {15,926) - {210)
Community Development Biock Grant - YR33 14.218 BO7MC170006 (1,337,677) - (3,634)
Community Deveiopment Block Grant - YR34 14.218 B08MC170006 (1,799,849} - {7,515)
Community Development Block Grant - YR35 14.218 BOSMC170006 6,667,873 - 113,716
Community Development Block Grant - YR36 14.218 B10MC170006 75,896,643 . 22,770,588
Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP1) HERA 14.218 BO8MN170002 16,294,644 - 14,795,040
95,704,709 . 37,667,985
See accompanying notes to schedute of expenditures of federal awards. Page 2



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Federal Federal Grant/ State 2010 2010 2010
CFDA Pass-Through Federal Non-Federal Subrecipient
Agency/ Program/ Grant Title Number Number Expenditures Expenditures Expenditures
Community Development Block Grant ARRA Entitlement Grants (CDBG-R)
(Recovery Act Funded)
ARRA Community Development Block Grant - Recovery 14.253 B-09-MY-17-0006 $ 9,230,815 $ - 8 8,217,766
9,230,815 - 8,217,766
Total CDBG - Entitlement Grants Cluster 104,935,524 - 45,885,751
Emergency Shelter Grants Program
Emergency Shelter 2009 14.231 $-09-MC-17-0006 563,557 563,557 191,716
Emergency Shelter 2010 14.231 $-10-MC-17-0006 2,666,679 2,666,679 2,461,740
3,230,236 3,230,236 2,653,456
Supportive Housing Program
Supportive Housing Program 14.235 1L0132B5T100801 92,129 - -
Supportive Housing Program , 14.235 11.0132B5T100802 47,787 - -
139,926 - .
Sheiter Pius Care
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 ILO1C510153 1,370 - -
Shelter Plus Care 14,238 1L01C510135 {4,883) - {4,883)
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L01C610138 (802) - (802)
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L01C710123 {600) - (600)
Shelter Ptus Care 14.238 1L01C710124 (910) - -
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 IL0O1C710125 (944) - -
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 ILO1XC31060 (922) - -
Shelter Pius Care 14.238 1L01C010155 17,705 - 17,705
Shelter Ptus Care 14.238 ILO1C710116 17,575 - 17,575
Sheiter Pius Care 14.238 (LG1C710001 73,364 - 73,364
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 iL0143C57100801 18,346 - 18,346
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0148C5T7100801 88,074 - 88,074
Shelter Plus Care 14,238 1L0151C5T100801 28,137 - 28,137
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0161C5T100801 8,211 - 8,211
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0189C5T100801 206,419 - 206,419
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0220C5T100801 122,984 - 122,984
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 IL0220C5T100801 26,001 - 26,001
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0112C5T100801 256,480 - 256,480
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 iLO1C710125 132,110 - -
Sheiter Ptus Care 14.238 1L0116C5T100801 139,103 - -
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 1L.01C710126 173,239 - -
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1.0190C5T100801 44,893 - 44,893
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0130C5T160801 65,942 - 65,942
Sheilter Plus Care 14.238 1L0107C5T100801 477,891 - 477,891
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0134C5T100801 71,409 - 71,409
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 [L0135C57100801 212,758 - 212,756
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 IL0136C5T100801 145,694 - 145,694
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 iL0137C5T100801 88,688 - 88,688
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0138C5T100801 122,885 - 122,885
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1.0152C5T100801 469,968 - 469,968
Sheiter Plus Care 14,238 1L0149C5T100801 215,676 - 215,676
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 ILO150C5T100801 263,133 - 263,133
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0172C57100801 67,718 - 67,718
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0176C5T100801 22,572 - 22,572
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L.0208C57100801 70,557 - 70,557
Shelter Plus Care 14,238 1L0223C5T100801 131,141 - 131,141
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0224C57100801 240,124 - 240,124
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0226C5T100801 279,051 - 279,051
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L01C610002 57,272 - 57,272
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 ILO1C610005 113,228 - 113,228
Sheiter Pius Care 14,238 [LO1C610007 33,170 - 33,170
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 iL01C110051 81,516 - 81,516
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 1L01C110050 81,469 - 81,469
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1.01C310001 162,474 - 162,474
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L.01C210050 36,014 - 36,014
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 ILO1XC31060 306,233 - -
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 ILO1C710116 77,288 - 77,288
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 iL01C710001 308,651 - 308,651
Shelter Pius Care 14.238 1L.01C610002 115,936 - 115,936
Shelter Pius Care 14,238 1L01C610005 265,070 - 265,070
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0143C5T100802 219,732 - 219,732
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 ILO374C5T100901 127,232 - 127,232
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 {LO171C57100802 6,157 - 6,157
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 ILO137C5T100802 178,438 - 178,438
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 11.0220C57100802 365,905 - 365,905
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0401C5T100901 109,376 - 109,376
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 1L0371C5T160901 118,867 - 118,867
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 IL0116C5T100802 286,485 - -
Shelter Pius Care 14.238 {L01C610007 83,478 - 83,478
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 it.0108C5T100802 39,122 - 39,122
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 11.0108C57100802 294,235 - 294,235
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 11.0148C5T100802 245,029 - 245,029
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0189C5T 100802 378,274 - 378,274
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 IL0149C5T100802 415,379 - 415,379
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 IL0134C5T100802 70,882 - 70,882

See accompanying notes to schedute of expenditures of federal awards. Page 3
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Sheiter Plus Care (cont.)

Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0130C5T100802 $ 22,126 % - 8 22,126
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 IL0176C5T100802 21,600 - 21,600
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 £.0223C5T100802 134,005 - 134,005
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 1L0190C5T100802 33,023 - 33,023
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L.0138C5T100802 178,950 - 178,950
Sheilter Plus Care 14.238 1L0136C5T100802 103,388 - 103,388
Sheiter Plus Care 14,238 1L0400C5T100901 110,280 - 110,280
Sheilter Plus Care 14,238 1L0151C5T100802 312,981 - 312,981
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0201C57100802 104,883 - -
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0110C57100802 188,345 - -
Sheiter Plus Care 14.238 1L0203C57100802 34,997 - 34,997
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0152C5T100802 154,903 - 154,303
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 1L0226C57100802 128,751 - 128,751
Shelter Plus Care 14.238 L0150C5T100802 1,877 - 1,877
10,397,176 - 9,068,184
HOME investment Partnerships Program
HOMED1 14.239 MO1MC170006 {10,000) - -
HOMEOS 14.239 MO5MC170201 {10,000) - -
HOME®E 14.239 MO6MC170201 {369,031) - -
HOMED7 14.239 MO7MC170201 {488,399} - -
HOMEO0S 14.239 MOSMC170201 8,254,076 - -
HOMEO0S 14.239 MOIMC170201 4,715,889 144,968 -
HOME10 14.239 M10MC170201 2,621,907 - -
14,714,442 144,968 .
Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS
HOPWA SPNS 14.241 1LH060032 1,568 - -
HOPWA 07 14.241 1ILHO7F001 3,450 - 3,450
HOPWA 08 14.241 1LHO8F001 89,544 - 86,000
HOPWA 09 14.241 ILHO9F001 1,088,225 - 1,097,972
HOPWA 10 14.241 ILH10F001 5,318,338 - 4,956,702
HOPWA SPNS 14.241 ILH096013 427,873 - 417,247
6,938,998 6,561,371
Community Development Block Grants/Brownfields Economic
Development Initiative
Calumet Redevelopment Initiative - ED} 14.246 B0O6SPILO730 10,766 - -
10,766 -
Neighborhood Stabilization Program {Recovery Act Funded}
ARRA Neighborhood Stabilization Program 2 14.256 B-09-LN-IL-0025 1,658,867 - 1,633,332
1,658,867 - 1,633,332
Homelessness Prevention and Rapid Re-Housing
ARRA Homelessness Prevention and Rapid Re-Housing 14.257 S09MY 170006 12,548,685 - 12,222,502
12,548,685 - 12,222,502
Tax Credit Assistance Program (Recovery Act Funded}
ARRA TCAP 14.258 18,422,879 -
18,422,879 B
Total Office of Community Planning and Development 172,997,499 3,375,204 78,024,596
C. Office of Public and Indian Housing
Public and Indian Housing
{passed through the Chicago Housing Authority)
Resident Service Coordinator 14.850 9027 21,263 - -
Service Connector 2007 14.850 0688 (3,036) . (3,036)
Family Work 2008 14.850 IGA (967} - (967)
CHA - 2010 14.850 1018 319,500 - 309,308
336,760 - 305,306
Housing Voucher Cluster
Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers
{passed through the Chicago Housing Authority)
Substance Abuse Assessment/CHA 14.871 7092 130,714 - 130,714
CHA - Summer Nutrition & Youth Development 14.871 8056 6,605 - 6,605
CHA - 2010 14.871 1018 1,504,970 - 1,457,161
1,642,289 - 1,694,480
Total Housing Voucher Cluster 1,642,289 - 1,594,480
CFP Cluster
Public Housing Capital Fund
Violence Prevention & Intervention 14.872 11,468 - -
11,468 - B
Total CFP Cluster 11,468 - -
Total Office of Public and Indian Housing 1,990,617 - 1,899,786
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards Page 4
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D. Office of Healthy Homes and Lead Hazard Control
Lead-Based Paint Hazard Control in Privately-Owned Housing
Lead Controf HUD 2007 14.900 ILLHB0347-07 $ 478,615 $ - 438,329
478,615 - 438,329
Lead Hazard Reduction Demonstration Grant Program
Lead Hazard Reduction Demonstration 14.905 {LLHDG140-05 68,609 -
68,609
Total Office of Healthy Homes and Lead Hazard Centrol 547,224 - 438,329
Total Department of Housing and Urban Development 176,571,407 3,375,204 80,362,711
V. Department of the |aterior
A. Fish and Wildlife Service
Coastal Wetlands Planning, Protections and Restoration Act
Hegewisch Marsh National Coastline Wettands Project 15.614 C-4-D-1 93,140 - -
93,140 . N
Total Fish and Wildlife Service 93,140 - -
Total Department of the Interior 93,140
V. Department of Justice
A. Violence Against Women Office
Supervised Visitation, Safe Havens for Children
Supervised Visitation and Safe Exchange Program 16.527 2007CWAX0002 {346} - {346}
Supervised Visitation and Safe Exchange Program 16.527 2009CWAXK013 93,942 - 90,894
93,596 - 90,548
Violence Against Women Formuta Grants
{passed through the llinois Criminal Justice Information Authority)
Chicago Domestic Violence Help Line 16.588 606115 280,736 355,916 -
Chicago Domestic Violence Help Line 16.588 607115 101,761 -
Domestic Violence Law Enforcement Yr. 10 16.588 605007 110,345 54,082
492,842 409,998
Total Violence Against Women Office 586,438 409,998 90,548
B. Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention
Juveniie Accountability Incentive Block Grants
(passed through iftinois Criminat Justice Information Authority)
Juvenile Intervention & Support Center 16.523 507026 63,496 1,053 63,496
Juvenile Intervention & Support Center 16.523 507026 144,065 6,184 -
207,561 7,237 63,496
Juvenile Mentoring Program
Mentoring Initiative for System Involved Youth 16.726 2006JUFXK012 67,902 51,967
67,902 51,967
Enforcing Under Age Drinking Laws Program
(passed through lilinois Department of Human Services)
Enforcing Underage Drinking Laws FY'09/10 16.727 11GL480000 14,584 - -
Stop Alcohol to Minors FY*10/11 16.727 11GM480000 71,898 - -
86,482
Total Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention 361,945 7,237 115,463
C. Bureau of Justice Assistance
Edward Byrne Memorial Formula Grant Program
Domestic Violence Law Enforcement FY'10/11 16.579 608007 29,228
29,228
Community Prosecution and Project Safe Neighborhoods
Comprehensive Anti-Gang Initiative 16.609 2008-PG-BX-0007 219,456 -
{passed through University of lliinois)
Project Safe Neighborhoods Program FY'09-10 16.609 2008GPCX4020 67,591 -
287,047 A
Gang Resistance Education & Training
Gang Resistance Education & Training FY'08-10 16.737 2008JVFX0096 49,911 - -
49,911 B s
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards Page 5
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Support for Adam Waish Act implementation Grant Program
Adam Walsh Act Implementation Grant FY'08/09 16.750 2008AWBX0024 $ 75,405 $ - % -
75,408 - -
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant FY2008 16.738 2006DJBX0689 332,380 - -
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant FY2007 16.738 2007DJBX 1059 1,288,763 - 1,232,450
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant FY2008 16.738 2008DJBX0222 640,520 - 41,842
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant FY2009 16.738 2009DJBX0589 4,558,806 - -
6,820,469 - 1,274,292
Recovery Act - Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG)
Program/Grants to States and Territories
{passed through Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority)
ARRA Campaign to Break the Code of Silence 16.803 809109 21,608 - -
ARRA Starcomm 16.803 809204 138,432 - -
ARRA Arc Community Partnership 16.803 809042 24,300 - -
184,340 - .
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Program
Program/Grants to Units of Local Government
ARRA Recovery Justice Assistance Grant Program FY 2009 16.804 2009-SB-B9-0835 14,329,069 - -
14,329,069 - -
Total Bureau of Jfustice Assistance 21,775,469 - 1,274,292
D. Office of Victims of Crime
Services for Trafficking Victims
Human Trafficking Task Force & Victim Services Program
Services for Trafficking Victims 16.320 2005-VT-BX-1161 75,020 - -
FY'10/11 Human Trafficking Task Force and Victim Services 16.320 2010-VT-BX-0005 28,027 - -
103,047 N R
Crime Victim Assistance
(passed through the lilinois Criminal Justice Information Authority)
Service to Victims of Domestic Violence FY'09/10 16.575 209289 135,495 95,986 -
Service to Victims of Domestic Violence FY'10/11 16.575 209389 80,955 - -
216,450 95,986 -
Total Office of Victims of Crime 319,497 95,986 -
E. National Institute of Justice
National Institute of Justice Research, Evaluation and Development
Project Grants
Evolution of Gang Hot Spots Policing in Chicago 16.560 2006-1J-CX-0023 17,675 - -
Predictive Policing Demonstration and Evaluation 16.560 2009-DE-BX-K223 30,400 - -
Solving Cold Cases with DNA 16.560 2007-DN-BX-K025 188,761 - -
236,836 - -
Total National Institute of Justice 236,836 - -
F. Executive Office for Weed and Seed
Community Capacity Development Office - The Weed and Seed Program
Bethel New Life Garfield Park Weed and Seed Project (2009/2610) 16.595 2009-WS-QX-0154 30,576 - -
30,576 - -
Total Executive Office for Weed and Seed 30,576 - -
G. Office of Community Oriented Policing Services
Public Safety Partnership and Community Policing Grants
COPS 2007 Technology Program 16.710 2007-CK-WX-0034 1,294,956 934,955 -
COPS 2007 Methamphetamine Initiative 16.710 2007-CK-WX-0239 56,763 - -
COPS Secure Our Schools 16.710 2008-CK-2X-0661 233,179 - -
ARRA Cops Hiring Recovery Program 16.710 2009-RJ-WX-0044 2,207,829 - -
3,792,727 934,955 -
Total Office of Community Oriented Policing Services 3,792,727 934,955 -
Total Department of Justice 27,103,488 1,448,176 1,480,303
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards Page 6
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VI. Department of Labor
A. Employment Training Administration
Senior Community Service Employment Program
(passed through the lllinois Department on Aging/ National Councit for
Senior Citizens)
Senior Community Service Employment Program {Titie V) 2009 17.235 V-10-12 699,637 $ 435,487
Senior Community Service Employment Program (Title V) 2010 17.238 V-11-12 438,622 16,180
ARRA Stimuius Funding-Senior Community Service Employment Program 20¢ 17.235 V-ARRA-12 131,474 104,057
1,270,733 555,724
WIA Cluster
WIA Adult Program
(passed through the lilinois Department on Commerce and
Economic Opportunity):
WIA Aduit Training 17.258 0568108 (1,689) (1,689)
WIA Aduit Training 17.258 07681009 (17,127) (10,939}
WIA PY'07 Incentive Grant 17.258 06-672009 20,286 -
WIA 2008 incentive Grant 17.258 07-632009 109,480 21,661
WIA PY 2008 Aduit 17.258 08-681009 1,495,623 491,562
High Speed Internet 17.258 08-632009 (4,057) -
WIA Incentive 17.258 08-672009 16,938 -
WIA PY 2009 Aduit 17.258 09-681009 8,138,025 3,897,619
WIA Aduit Training 17.258 10-681009 4,783,436 3,205,133
High Speed Internet 17.258 08-632009 20,770 20,770
ARRA WIA Adult 17.258 08-761009 4,473,728 2,958,848
19,035,413 10,582,965
WIA Youth Activities
{passed through the lllinois Department on Commerce and
Economic Opportunity):
High Speed Internet FY'08/09 17.258 08-632009 {4,372) -
High Speed Internet £Y'09/10 17.258 09-632009 22,387 22,387
ARRA The Community Garden/Local Food/Video Project 17.25% 08735013 67,055 67,055
ARRA WIA Youth 17.259 08762009 1,247,749 1,214,563
WIA Youth Grant Statewide Activities Incentives 2008 17.259 07632009 57,615 -
WIA Youth Training 17.259 06681009 (8,803) (8,803}
WIA Youth Training 17.259 07681009 {6,254) {6,254)
WIA Youth Training 17.259 08681009 578,816 260,316
WIA Youth Training 17.2589 09681009 6,524,084 4,767,159
WIA Youth Grant Statewide Local incentives 2009 17.259 08672009 194,886 -
WIA Youth Training 17.259 10681009 4,547,637 3,720,046
13,220,800 10,036,469
WIA Dislocated Workers
(passed through the lllinois Department on Commerce and
Economic Opportunity):
WIA Dislocated Workers 17.260 07681009 928,335 183,567
WIA Rapid Response 17.260 05-651009 1,952 -
WIA Discretionary 17.260 06673009 9,362 9,362
WIA incentive 17.260 06-672009 33,098 -
WIA TMA/CSS| Manufacturing 17.260 07634094 94,960 87,360
WIA 2008 Incentive Grant 17.258 07-632008 145,124 28,714
WIA Dislocated Workers PY'08 17.260 08681009 766,398 {169,723}
High Speed Internet 17.258 08-632009 (4,961) .
WIA Incentive 17.260 08-672009 20,701 -
WIA PY 2009 Distocated Worker 17.260 09681009 6,083,544 1,622,439
High Speed Internet 17.260 09-632009 30,340 30,340
ARRA WIA Dislocated Worker 17.260 08761009 6,091,560 3,102,947
14,200,413 4,895,006
WIA Distocated Worker Formula Grants
(passed through the lllinois Department on Commerce and
Economic Opportunity)
WIA Dislocated Workers 17.278 10-681009 3,783,351 2,533,057
3,783,351 2,533,057
Total WIA Cluster 50,239,977 28,047,497
WIA Pilots, Demonstrations and Research Projects
Preparing Ex-Offenders Via Beneficiary Choice 17.261 YF165020760A 585,764 551,298
585,764 551,298
Total Employment and Training Administration 52,096,474 29,154,519
Total Department of Labor 52,096,474 29,154,519
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards. Page 7
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Vil. Department of Transportation
A. Federal Aviation Administration
Airport improvement Program

Federal Airport O'Hare Field Development 2006 20.106 $ 43,755,984 §$ - 8
ARRA Federal Airport O'Hare Field Development 2006 20.106 395,810 -
{passed through the lilinois Department of Transportation)
Federal Airport O'Hare Field Development 2006 20.106 12,146,382 -
Federal Airport Midway 20.106 966,030 -

57,264,206 -

Total Federal Aviation Administration 57,264,206
B. Federal Highway Administration
Highway Planning and Construction Cluster
Highway Planning and Construction

{passed through the lilinois Department of Transportation)
Pedway Signage 20.205 Various 342 86
2006 Bridge & Viaduct Painting Citywide 20.205 Various 155,620 38,905
Expressway Gateway Beautification 20.205 Various 487 122
Haisted Street Bridge over North Branch 20.205 Various 13,249 5,678
Cermak/Blue Island Streetscape 20.205 Various 24,874 -
Chicago Avenue(650 W to 850 W} & Halsted St (725 N to 850 N) 20,205 Various 33,371 8,343
Chicago IDOT Data Integration Project 20.205 Various 68,974 -
North Avenue Bridge Over Chgo River Phase il 20.205 Various 116,192 29,048
Laramie Avenue Viaduct at Polk Street 20.205 Various 715,649 79,517
Grand Avenue improv: Narragansett to Central 20.205 Various 989 247
Grand Avenue improv: Central Avenue to Lamon Ave 20.205 Various 2,866 716
PE t & {l Design for Arterial Street 20.205 Various 1,037,794 -
Commuter Bicycle Parking and Promotion 20.205 Various 82,102 9,122
Bike to Transit Connections 20.205 Various 6,022 1,506
Valley Line Bicycle Path 20.205 Various 34,733 14,886
71st St over |-94 Dan Ryan Expressway 20.205 Various 195,189 48,797
Instaliation of Bicycle Lane Pavement Marking and Signs 20.205 Various 34,602 8,651
Installation of Bicycle Race @ Various Locations 20.205 Various 21,458 5,364
Solidarity Drive Pedestrian Underpass & Traffic Circle Museum Campus 20.205 Various 502,605 125,651
Chicago Bikes Marketing Campaign 20.205 Various 38,157 -
Lake Front/Navy Pier Flyover 20,205 Various 121,722 81,148
Millennium Park Access Study 20.205 Various 22,356 5,589
35th St Bicycle & Pedestrian Bridge Over South LSD 20.205 Various 11,244 2,811
43rd Street Pedestrian Bride Ph 1 20.205 Various 79,532 19,883
41st Street Bicycle and Pedestrian Bridge 20.205 Various 62,579 15,645
LSD Viaduct Over Lawrence Avenue & Wilson 20.205 Various 5,499 1,375
Lakeshore Drive Viaduct Over LaSalle Drive 20.205 Various 23,755 5,939
Madison Street Viaduct Over Union Station 20.205 Various 53,677 13,419
18th St. Damen to Halsted 20.205 Various 19,681 4,895
Streets for Cycling 20.205 Various 14,194 3,549
Streets for Cycling 20.205 Various 230,363 57,591
Peterson Traffic Signal 20.208 Various 1,044 261
$. LSD Burntham Park 20.205 Various 456 1,827
Canal St. Viaduct @ 16th Street 20.205 Various 89,085 22,271
Putaski Road Traffic Signal - 87th St. to I-55 Interchange 20.205 Various 9,347 2,337
91st St Viaduct Over Dan Ryan Expressway 20.205 Various 35,862 8,966
Lake Street @ Ogden: CTA Column Relocation 20.205 Various 2,617,940 654,485
Lake Street: Western to Damen 20.205 Various 40,843 10,211
Root St. Viaduct Over Dan Ryan Exp {-90/94 20.205 Various 35,392 3,932
Oakwood Boulevard Over Metra/iCC 20.208 Various 2,970 742
Division St. Bridge Over N. Chicago 20.205 Various 87,168 21,792
Burley Avenue: 106th to 126th Place 20.206 Various 17,561 4,390
STP TSM 2004 Engineering 20.205 Various 7,989 1,997
95th St. from Western Avenue to Ewing Avenue 20.205 Various 22,840 5,710
87th St. Western Avenue to Dan Ryan Expressway 20.205 Various 39,810 9,953
Wacker Drive: Viaduct Utility Relocation 20.205 Various 4,865,360 540,595
Wacker Drive/Randolph to Congress (Value Engineer) 20.205 Various 427 107
Wacker Dr. Randolph St./Adams St. 20.205 Various 731,259 487,506
Wacker Drive {Congress to Adams Street) 20.205 Various 2,214,302 948,987
Wacker Drive Row for Interchange 20.205 Various 1,802,007 475,502
Airport Rail Coordination and Plans 20.205 Various 3,822 955
West Loop Transportation Center - Phase 2 20.205 Various 104,000 26,000
Preliminary Planning 20.205 Various 1 -
Centrat Area Bus Rapid Transit - East/West Transit Corridor 20.205 Various 28,390 9,464
Preliminary Planning 20.205 Various 6,804 1,701
TiP Development and Monitoring 20.2058 Various 122,572 -
Preliminary Planning 20.205 Various 4,394 -
Chicago Avenue improvement - Grant to Milwaukee 20.205 Various 2,664 666
LSD/Cotumbus Traffic Monitor 20.205 Various 103,267 103,266
Lawrence Ave. Over Kennedy Expressway 1-90 20.205 Various 6,081,654 1,520,414
Milwaukee Ave: Montrose to Kilpatrick 20.205 Various 8,854,620 -
Morse Avenue Streetscape 20.205 Various 1,390,726 -
L. SD 79th St. to Harbor Avenue 20.208 Various 27,555 110,220

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards Page 8
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Highway Pianning and Construction (cont.)

2005/2006 Structural Bridge Inspection 20.205 Various $ 744,085 $ 186,021 $ -
Lincoln/Ashland/Belmont Phase | & il 20.205 Various 36,227 - -
Misericordia Job Program 20.205 Various 145,077 - -
STP-2007 Traffic Signal Modernization 20.205 Various 26,062 6,515 -
West Jackson Bivd. Over Union Station 20.205 Various 9,589,062 - -
Grand Avenue: Fullerton - Jefferson 20.205 Various 27,258 6,814 -
Milwaukee Avenue Improvements - Montrose Avenue to Gale Street 20.205 Various 1,098,201 122,022 -
Arterial Street ADA Ramp 2007 Program 20.205 Various 1,361,766 340,442 -
Arterial Street ADA Ramp 2008 Program 20.205 Various 458,529 - -
Laramie Avenue Viaduct At Polk St 20.205 Various 729 182 -
Milwaukee Avenue: Lawrence to Erie 20.205 Various 284,840 71,210 -
63rd Street: Western to Wallace 20.205 Various 39,018 13,007 -
130th Street: Torrence Ave/Branard Ave 20.205 Various {279,375) {1,117,501) -
Jackson Blvd/Union Station 20.205 Various 223,992 55,998 -
City Wide Traffic Studies 20.205 Various 11,208 2,802 -
Lake St. from Canal to Western Avenue 20.208 Various 1,227 307 -
Traffic Controt Signals At Various Locations 20,208 Various 35,295 8,824 .
Laramie Ave. Viaduct at Polk Street 20,205 Various 24,450 - -
Consuit PH | - Design 20,205 Various 38,514 9,629 -
Near West Traffic Signal Interconnection 20.205 Various 135,411 33,853 -
Racine Avenue: 35th to 39th St/37th St: Morgan St. to Racine Avenue 20.205 Various 134,971 33,743 -
Halsted Street: Madison/Fullerton 20.205 Various {36,998) {9,250) -
Burham Park, Gateway Landscaping (23rd St to } 20.205 Various 10,435 2,609 -
Citywide TSMS - Group 5 20.205 Various 11,450 2,862 -
Sleepy Hollow - HIPP H/WPA New Str Construction 20.205 Various 28,274 7,068 -
Midway Airport ITS Project HAR & Enhanced Traveler Information 20.205 Various 155,630 38,907 -
Montrose Harbor Bridges and Underpass 20.205 Various 15,530 3,883 -
Ashland Avenue Viaduct over Pershing Road 20.206 Various 6,876 1,719 -
Vertical Clearance IMP. Cermak Rd @ Kenton 20.205 Various 6,399 - -
Fullerton Streetscape - Ashland to Southport 20.205 Various 79,248 19,812 -
Fulterton Drive Bridge Over Lincoln Park Lagoon 20.206 Various 542 542 -
Wells Street Bridge over Main Branch of Chicago River 20.205 Various 61,150 15,288 -
Western Avenue Viaduct over Belmont Avenue 20,205 Various 121,788 30,447 .
Chicago Avenue Bridge Over the North Branch of Chicago River 20.205 Various 33,253 8,313 -
East Jackson Drive Over Metra Railroad Reconstruction 20.205 Various 596,524 255,653 -
47th St Pedestrian Bridge Over North Bound LSD 20.205 Various 9,441 14,161 -
2007 Bridge & Viaduct Painting 20.205 Various 129,684 32,421 -
2007 Bridge & Viaduct Painting Contract B 20.205 Various 3,769 942 -
Halsted Street: Maxwell to -290 20.205 Various 335 144 -
Torrence Avenue Bridge Rehab 20.205 Various 1,576 3,675 -
2003/2004 Struct Br Insp 20.205 Various 6,947 1,737 -
Wacker Drive Riverwalk - Wabash Plaza 20.205 Various 67,395 16,849 -
2008 Bridge and Viaduct Painting Contract A 20.205 Various 756,850 189,212 -
2008 Bridge and Viaduct Painting Contract B 20.205 Various 378,149 94,637 -
Arterial Streets ADA Ramps - 2009 20.205 Various 1,256,811 314,203 -
Chicago Avenue Laramie - Kennedy Expwy 20.205 Various 280,028 70,007 -
W. Grand Improvement Lamon to Pulaski Road 20.205 Various 2,203,798 550,949 -
Traffic Control at Various Locations Citywide (STP 2008 TSM Design) 20.205 Various 2,657 864 -
79th Street - Cicero to Ashland Signal Interconnect System (Design} 20.205 Various 720 180 -
ASR Project #51 North Area 20.205 Various 667,638 166,909 -
ASR Project #52 Centrai Area 20.205 Various 635,468 158,867 -
ASR Project #53 South Area 20.205 Various 288,911 72,228 -
ASR Project #54 Far South Area 20.205 Various 805,675 226,419 -
LSD Viaduct Over Lawrence Avenue & Wilson Avenue 20.205 Various 129,986 32,496 -
Wacker Drive Congress Parkway Interchange Imp 20.205 Various 8,930,341 2,232,585 -
Safe Routes to School 20.206 Various 15,649 - -
ARRA - Arterial Street Resurfacing: {North Area) Project 20.205 Various 1,567,535 . 92,009
ARRA - Arterial Street Resurfacing: (Central Area) Project 20.205 Various 445,160 - (92,009)
ARRA - Arteriai Street Resurfacing: (South Area) Project 20.205 Various 4,421,154 - -
ARRA - Arterial Street Resurfacing: (Far South Area} Project 20.205 Various 773,390 - -
ARRA - Congress Parkway Wells and Michigan 20.205 Various 948,710 - -
ARRA - CDOT - Chicago Avenue Improvements - Grand to Laramie 20.205 Various 2,328,837 - -
ARRA - La Salle Drive/Clark/l.ake Shore Drive 20.205 Various 2,546,755 - -
78,111,924 9,893,646 -

Total Highway Planning and Construction Cluster 78,111,924 9,893,646 -
Total Federal Highway Administration 78,111,924 9,893,646 .

C. Federal Transit Administration
Federal Transit Cluster
Federal Transit -- Capital Investment Grants

Grand/State Station Rehab 20,500 Various 10,626,382 2,656,595 -
Conrail Bikeway -PHS HI 20.500 Various 85,254 21,313 -
DRBRN/JCKSN-STA-PLTFRM/MEZZ 20,500 Various 1,310,858 - -
Mid-City Transitway PHSNG STDY 20.500 Various 53,189 13,297 -
Mid-City Transitway PHSNG STDY 20.500 Various 422 105 -
Dan Ryan EXT MJR INV ANALYSIS 20.500 Various 6,551 1,638 -
Southwest Transit Ext Row 20.500 Various 5,777 1,444 -
Preliminary Planning 20.500 Various 190,710 - -
CTA Rail Station Access 20.500 Various 19,784 - -
Transportation Planning and Programming 20.500 Various 79,718 19,929 -
West Loop Terminal Area Plan 20.500 Various 3,980 995 -
L.a Salle/Congress Intermodal Transfer 20.500 Various 1,972,179 493,045 -
14,354,804 3,208,361 -

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards. Page 9



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINCIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Federal Federal Grant/ State 2010 2010 2010
CFDA Pass-Through Federal Non-Federal Subrecipient
Agency/ Program/ Grant Title Number Number Expenditures Expenditures Expenditures
Federal Transit Formuia Grants Urbanized Area Formula Program
Morgan Street El CTA Green Line Station 20.507 365,161 §$ 91,290 $
365,161 91,290
Total Federal Transit Ciuster 14,719,965 3,299,651
Transit Services Program Cluster
Job Access Reverse Commute
{passed through Regional Transit Authority)
Jobs Access Reverse Commute 20.516 JARC200104 58,239 -
58,239 -
Total Transit Services Program Cluster 58,239 -
Alternatives Analysis
Carroll Avenue Alternatives Analysis 20.522 5,105 1,276
5,105 1,276
Total Federal Transit Administration 14,783,309 3,300,927
D. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration
Highway Safety Cluster
State and Community Highway Safety
(passed through the iilinois Department of Transportation)
Chicago Bicycle Safety Initiative Daley's Ambassador Program 20.600 Various 1,942 1,943
Chicago Bicycle Safety Initiative FY 2010 20.600 Various 127,244 54,533
Chicago Pedestrian Safety Initiative 20.600 Various 31,840 31,840
Chicago Pedestrian Safety Initiative 20.600 Various 163,391 70,025
Holiday Mobilization Grant FY'08 20.600 AL91051540 23,277 -
Protector's Program FY'08/09 20.600 0P9-1051-143 177,900 -
Protector's Program FY'09/10 20.600 0P0-1051-229 101,953 -
Holiday Mobilization Grant FY'09/10 20.600 AL0-1051-576 184,129 -
Crosswalk Enforcement Initiative FY'09/10 20.600 BP0-1051-231 70,194 -
881,870 158,341
Alcohol impaired Driving Countermeasures Incentive Grants
{passed through lllinois Department of Transportation)
DUI Strikeforce/Roadside Safety check FY'09/10 20.601 ALO-1051-228 372,753 -
372,753 R
Occupant Protection
Speed Enforcement Program FY'08/09 20.602 SP9-1061-141 5,877 -
5,877 -
State Traffic Safety Information System improvement Grants
Crash Data Quality Improvement Project 20.610 61,232 -
61,232 R
Total Highway Safety Cluster 1,321,732 158,341
Total National Highway Traffic Safety Administration 1,321,732 158,341
E. Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration
Hazardous Materials Public Sector Training and Planning Grants
(passed through lilinois Emergency Management Authority)
Hazardous Materials Emergency Preparedness FY'09/10 20,703 38,750 -
38,750 -
Total Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration
Hazardous Materials Public Sector Training and Planning Grants 38,750 -
F. Research and Innovative Technology Administration
Transportation Planning, Research and Education
Stony island Streetscape Master Plan 20.931 150-04-32580 5,900 53,103
5,900 53,103
Total Research and Innovative Technology Administration 5,900 53,103
Total Department of Transportation 151,525,821 13,406,017

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Agency/ Program/ Grant Title

Federat Federai Grant/ State 2010
CFDA Pass-Through Federal
Number Number Expenditures

2010
Non-Federal
Expenditures

2010
Subrecipient
Expenditures

Viil. Department of the Treasury

XI.

ARRA-Tax Credit Exchange Program (TCEP)

Total Department of the Treasury

Institute of Museum and Library Services
A. Office of Library Services
Grants to States Program
Talking Book Center

Total Office of Library Services

Total Institute of Museum and Library Services

Small Business Administration
Congressional Grants
Formerly Incarcerated Entrepreneurship Program

Total Small Business Administration

Environmental Protection Agency
A. Office of Air and Radiation
Air Pollution Control Program Support

(passed through the lllinois Environmental Protection Agency)

Air Pollution Control Grant 08-09
Air Pollution Control Grant 09-10
Air Pollution Controi Grant 10-11

ARRA National Clean Diesel Emissions Reduction Program
ARRA National Clean Diesel Funding Assistance Program

Climate Showcase Communities Grant Program
Chicago Green Healthcare tnitiative

Total Office of Air and Radiation

B. Office of the Chief Financial Officer

Congressionally Mandated Projects - Congressional Earmarks
(passed through lilinois Department of Commerce and

Economic Opportunity)
Stag Grant

Total Office of the Chief Financial Officer

C. Office of Water

ARRA Capitalization Grants for Clean Water State Revolving Funds
{passed through litinois Environmental Protection Agency)

ARRA Ciean Water Revolving Funds

Capitalization Grants for Drinking Water State Revolving Funds
{passed through {llinois Environmental Protection Agency)

Safe Drinking Water
ARRA Safe Drinking Water

Total Office of Water

21.UNKNOWN TCEP $ 11,316,231

$

11,310,231

11,310,231

45.310 0951258007 30,147

30,147

30,147

30,147

59.059 SBAHQ-08-1-0197 61,853

61,853

61,853

61,853

61,853

61,853

66.001 104,663
66.001 412,000
66.001 151,110

103,815

667,773

66.039 2A-00E85501 883,457

103,815

883,457

66.041 AF8334538010 210,625

210,625

1,761,855

66.202 485,000

103,815

485,000

485,000

66.458 10,000,000

10,000,000

66.468 2,147,049
66.468 6,051,467

8,198,516

18,198,516

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards.
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Federal Federal Grant/ State 2010 2010 2010
CFDA Pass-Through Federal Non-Federat Subrecipient
Agency/ Program/ Grant Title Number Number Expenditures Expenditures Expenditures
D. Office of Chemicai Safety and Pollution Prevention
Source Reduction Assistance
Source Reduction Assistance Grant Program 66.717 X900E94701 $ 1,557 % - -
1,557 - p
Total Office of Chemical Safety and Poliution Prevention 1,657 -
E. Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response
Brownfields Assessment and Cleanup Cooperative Agreements
Brownfields Assessment and Cleanup Cooperative 66.818 BFO0ES83011 4,850 - -
4,350 - -
Total Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response 4,850 - .
Total Environmental Protection Agency 20,451,778 103,815 .
XIi. Department of Energy
ARRA Conservation Research and Development
ARRA Chicago Area Alternative Fuel Deployment 81.086 DE-EE0002541 2,505,001 - -
2,505,001 - .
ARRA Electricity Delivery and Energy Reliability, Research, Development and Analysis
ARRA Local Energy Assurance Planning Initiative 81122 DEOE0000367 34,746 - -
34,746 - R
ARRA Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block Grant Program (EECBG)
ARRA Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block Grant Program (EECBG) 81.128 DEEE000815 10,878,957 - -
10,878,957 - .
Total Department of Energy 13,418,704 - -
XIil. Department of Education
A. Office of Safe and Drug-Free Schools
Safe and Drug-Free Schools and Communities - State Grants
Substance Abuse & AIDS Prevention Program 84.186 11GL097000 6,809 - -
6,809 . N
Total Department of Education 6,809 - -
XiV. Department of Health and Human Services
A. Office of Population Affairs
Family Planning - Services
(passed through the lilinois Department of Human Services)
Family Planning Services 2009 93.217 111GL087350 304,691 41,217 -
Family Planning Services (HIV testing & Prevention Program} 93.217 M11GM087350 6,386 864 -
Family Planning Services 2010 93.217 M11GMO087350 253,069 35,045 -
570,146 77,126 -
Total Office of Population Affairs 570,146 77,126 -
B. Administration on Aging
Aging Cluster
Special Programs for the Aging - Title lil, Part B - Grants
for Supportive Services and Senior Centers
{passed through the Hlinois Department on Aging}
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2008 93.044 (333,878) 94,822 -
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2009 93.044 3,037,794 4,893,712 807,468
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2010 93.044 729,086 265,093 100,369
3,433,002 5,253,627 1,007,835
Special Programs for the Aging - Title Ill, Part C - Nutrition Services
{passed through the lllinois Department on Aging)
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2008 93.045 218,495 - -
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2009 93.045 2,040,676 - 764,061
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2010 93.045 796,254 - 265,602
3,055,425 - 1,029,663
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards. Page 12



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Federal Federal Grant/ State 2010 2010 2010
CFDA Pass-Through Federal Non-Federal Subrecipient
Agency/ Program/ Grant Title Number Number Expenditures Expenditures Expenditures
Nutrition Services Incentive Program
(passed through the illinois Department on Aging)
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2008 93.053 2,932,762 $ - $ 2,950,602
2,932,762 . 2,950,602
ARRA-Aging Home-Delivered Nutrition Services for States
{passed through the lllinois Department on Aging)
ARRA Aging Home-Delivered Nufrition Services for States 93.705 ARRA-12 218,363 17,302 173,007
218,363 17,302 173,007
ARRA-Aging Congregate Nutrition Services for States
{passed through the lllinois Department on Aging)
ARRA Nutrition Program - 2008 93.707 ARRA-12 517,909 107,267 495,218
517,909 107,207 495,218
Tota! Aging Cluster 10,157,461 5,378,136 5,656,325
Special Programs for the Aging - Titie VIi, Chapter 3 - Program
for Prevention of Elder Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation
(passed through the lllinois Department on Aging)
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2010 93.041 17,967 - -
17,967 - -
Special Programs for the Aging - Title VHl, Chapter 2 - Long-
term Care Ombudsman Services for Older Individuals
{passed through the lllinois Department on Aging)
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2008 93.042 86,576 - -
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2009 93.042 51,464 - -
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2010 93.042 10,752 - -
148,792 . .
Special Programs for the Aging - Title Ili, Part D -
Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Services
(passed through the Hiinois Department on Aging)
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2009 93.043 282,665 - 263,372
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2010 93.043 13,860 - 13,860
296,525 - 277,232
National Family Caregiver Support
(passed through the lllinois Department on Aging)
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2008 93.052 (63,057) - -
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2009 93.052 1,099,544 - -
Senior Citizen Nutrition and Social Services Program 2010 93.052 285,776 - -
1,322,263 . .
Special Programs for the Aging - Title Il and Title iV
Discretionary Projects and Programs
{pass through AGE Options}
Senior Medicare Patrol Program 93.048 FY2010SMP 14,660 - -
14,660 . B
ARRA - Communities Putting Prevention to Work: Chronic Disease
Seif-Management Program
ARRA-Chronic Disease Self Management Program 93.725 03288716 12,191 - 7,545
12,191 . 7,545
Total Administration on Aging 11,969,859 5,378,136 5,941,102
C. Administration for Children and Families
TANF Cluster
Temporary Assistance for Needy Families
{passed through the lilinois Department of Human Services)
Healthy Families of {llinois 2009 93.558 L119L.087400 143,157 - 96,132
143,157 - 96,132
ARRA - Emergency Contingency Fund for temporary Assistance
for Needy Families (TANF) State Program
(passed through the lllinois Department of Commerce and
Economic Opportunity)
ARRA - Emergency Contingency Fund {TANF) State Program 83.714 10-671009 6,875,973 - 6,384,897
6,875,973 B 6,384,897
Total TANF Ciluster 7,019,130 - 6,481,029
Refugee and Entrant Assistance-State Administered Programs
{passed through the lifinois Department of Public Heaith)
Refugee Program 93.566 00180012/08 194,545 - -
Refugee Program 93.566 10180032/26 189,636 - -
384,181 . R

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federat awards.
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CITY OF CHICAGQ, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Federal Federal Grant/ State 2010 2010 2010
CFDA Pass-Through Federal Non-Federal Subrecipient
Agency/ Prograny Grant Title Number Number Expenditures Expenditures Expenditures
CSBG Cluster
Community Services Block Grant
(passed through the Illinois Department of Commerce
and Economic Opportunity)
C.S.B.G. Loan Program Repaid Principal Funds 93.569 Various (prior years) $ 659,005 $ - 8 -
C.S.B.G. 2009 93.569 09231036 797,381 - {2,639)
C.8.B.G. 2010 93.569 10231036 11,097,367 388,506 2,754,835
12,553,733 388,506 2,752,196
ARRA - Community Services Block Grant
(passed through the lllinois Department of Commerce
and Economic Opportunity)
ARRA - C.S5.B.G. Stimulus FY'09 93.710 09-211036 14,421,177 - 14,085,430
14,421,177 - 14,085,430
Total CSBG Cluster 26,974,910 388,506 16,837,626
CCDF Cluster
Child Care and Development Block Grant
{passed through Hlinois Department of Human Services}
Healthy Child Care of lilinois 2009 93.575 £11GL087420 103,372 - -
Healthy Child Care of lilinois 2010 93.575 M11GM087420 26,713
130,085 -
Total CCDF Cluster 130,085 -
Head Start Cluster
Head Start
Early Headstart 2007 93.600 05CH010143 (793) (793)
Early Headstart 2008 93.600 05CH010144 (701) (701)
Early Headstart 2009 93.600 05CHO010145 1,018 51,017
Early Headstart 2010 $3.600 05CH010146 3,329,211 - 2,992,756
Early Headstart 2011 $3.600 05CH010147 237,988 - 215,914
Headstart 2006 93.600 05CH010142 (12,625) - (12,625)
Headstart 2007 93.600 05CHO10143 {27,187) - {4,475)
Headstart 2008 93.600 05CH010144 {43,766) - (43,766)
Headstart 2009 93.600 05CH010145 {21,519) - (51,194)
Headstart 2010 93.600 05CH010146 108,469,369 - 100,292,741
Headstart 2011 93.600 05CH010147 4,142,606 - 3,334,614
116,073,631 - 106,773,488
ARRA-Head Start
ARRA - Headstart Expansion Year 2 93.708 055H010102 436,088 - 434,095
ARRA - Headstart Expansion Year 1 93.708 05SH010101 2,554,208 - 1,997,380
USDHHS ARRA Headstart COLA & Quality tmprovement 93.708 05SE0101/01 5,855,102 - 3,278,146
8,845,398 - 5,709,621
Total Head Start Cluster 124,919,029 - 112,483,109
Sociai Services Block Grant
(passed through the lllinois Department of Human Services)
Domestic Violence Special Project 93.8667 11GL87300 1,244
Maternat and Child Health 2008 93.667 K11G9087280 8,190
Maternat and Child Health 2009 93.667 L11GL087280 341,823 -
Maternat and Child Health 2010 93.667 M11GM087280 278,666 24,834
Donated Funds Initiative 93.667 81X9025000 1,622 - -
Empowerment Zone 93.667 751,592 - 1,000,000
Family Planning Services 2009 93.667 L11GLO87350 175,823 -
HIV Testing and Prevention Project 93.667 M11GM087350 3,685 - -
Family Planning Services 2010 93.667 M11GM087350 149,497 - -
Donated Funds Initiative - Alternative Schools Network 93.667 81X1.025000 470,290 156,763 438,898
Donated Funds Initiative - Safer Foundation 93.667 81X1.025000 630,370 210,123 569,647
2,812,802 366,886 2,033,379
Total Administration for Chiidren and Families 162,240,137 755,392 137,835,143
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards Page 14
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Federal Federa! Grant/ State 2010 2010 2010
CFDA Pass-Through Federal Non-Federal Subrecipient
Agency/ Program/ Grant Title Number Number Expenditures Expenditures Expenditures
D. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
Medicaid Cluster
Medicaid Assistance Program {Medicaid; Title XiX)
{passed through the lilinois Department of Healthcare and
Family Services)
Chicago Family Case Management - Medicaid 93.778 40C70G1111 666,119 § -
Chicago Family Case Management - Medicaid 93.778 40C70G1111 1,419,349 -
2,085,468 - -
Total Medicaid Cluster 2,085,468 - B
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Research,
Demonstrations and Evaluation
Senior Health Assistance Program 2010 93.779 SHAP1012 35,232 131,436 -
35,232 131,436
Total Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services 2,120,700 131,436
E. Centers for Disease Controt and Prevention (CDC)
Public Health Emergency Preparedness (PHEP)
Public Health Preparedness and Response for Bioterrorism 93.069 5U90TP517008-08 (3,413} - -
Public Heaith Preparedness and Response for Bioterrorism 93.069 5U90TP517008-09 371,996 - (762}
Pandemic Influenza - ELR 93.069 1U90TP000130-01 {35) - (35)
Public Health Emergency Response - PHER 93.069 1H75TP000379-01 4,281,831 - 465,384
Public Health Preparedness and Response for Bioterrorism 93.069 5U90TP517008-10 6,382,948 - 775,101
11,033,327 B 1,239,688
Project Grants and Cooperative Agreements for Tuberculosis
Control Programs
TB Elimination and Laboratory 93.116 CCU500444-28 88,441 13,913
TB Elimination and Laboratory 93.116 CCUS500444-29 1,674,724 - -
1,763,165 - 13,913
Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Projects - State and Local
Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention and Surveitfance of
Blood Lead Levels in Children
Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program 93.197 SH64EH000157-01 {248) - (248)
Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program 93.197 5H64EH000157-04 688,836 - 159,883
Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program 93.197 5H64EH000157-05 411,188 - -
1,099,776 - 159,635
immunization Ciuster
immunization Grants
Immunization and Vaccines for Children 93.268 H23CCH522565-07 41,660 5,851
Immunization and Vaccines for Children 93.268 H23CCH522565-08 4,877,571 645,502
4,919,231 651,353
ARRA - Immunization
ARRA immunization and Vaccines for Children 93.712 3H231P5622565-07S1 190,208 183,702
190,208 . 183,702
Total Immunization Cluster 5,109,439 - 835,055
Aduit Vira! Hepatitis Prevention and Control
Adult Viral Hepatitis Coordinator 93.270 U50/PS000906-03 7,636 -
7,636 - -
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention - Investigations and
Technical Assistance
Aduit Viral Hepatitis 93.283 U50/PS000906-02 853 - -
Epidemiology & Lab Grant 93.283 U50/Ct000490-03 442,647 -
Aduit Vira! Hepatitis 93.283 U50/PS000906-03 116,565 - -
Reach Us Action Community 93.283 5U58DP000968-03 352,242 86,098
Reach Us Action Community 93.283 5U58DP000968-04 47,117 - -
Public Health Preparedness and Response for Bioterrorism 93.283 U90CU517008 (500)
(passed through Hlinois Department of Public Health)
Breast and Cervical Cancer 93.283 06180006 302,133
Breast and Cervical Cancer 93.283 16180005 183,196 -
1,444,253 - 86,098
ARRA - Prevention and Wellness - State, Territories and Pacific islands
ARRA - Chronic Disease Nutrition/Headstart Project 93.723 03288782 17,720 - 17,720
17,720 - 17,720
HIV Prevention Activities - Health Department Based
HIV Prevention Project 93.940 5U62PS523481-05 260,721 9,138
HIV Behavioral Surveillance 93.940 1U62PS000976-02 34,147 - 27,686
HIV Prevention Project 93.940 5U62PS523481-06 5,272,146 - 457,500
HIV Behavioral Surveillance 93.940 1U62PS000976-03 308,279 -
5,875,293 494,324
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federat awards. Page 15
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Federat Federal Grant/ State 2010 2010 2010
CFDA Pass-Through Federai Non-Federal Subrecipient
Agency/ Program/ Grant Title Number Number Expenditures Expenditures Expenditures
HIV Demonstration, Research, Pubtic and Professional Education Projects
AIDS Surveillance and Seroprevalance Project 93.941 1U62PS001042-02 28,650 $ 1,946
HIV/AIDS Surveillance Perinatal 93.941 1U62P5001433-01 19,686 - 19,586
HIV/AIDS Surveillance Perinatal 93.941 1U62PS001433-02 129,207 - 68,196
AIDS Surveillance and Seroprevatance Project 93.941 1U62PS001042.03 1,172,911 - 92,225
1,350,354 181,953
Epidemiologic Research Studies of Acquired Immunodeficiency
Syndrome (AIDS) and Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
Infection in Seiected Population Groups
Mutti-Site Opt-Out Rapid HIV Testing 93.943 5U62PS000769-02 1,477,705 - 1,672,192
Multi-Site Opt-Out Rapid HIV Testing 93.943 5U62PS000769-03 790 -
1,478,495 B 1,672,192
Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HiV) / Acquired Immunodeficiency
Virus Syndrome (AIDS) Surveillance
Morbidity/Risk Behavior Surveillance 93.944 1U62PS001610-01 212,370 -
Morbidity/Risk Behavior Surveillance 93.944 1U62PS001610-02 265,568 - 38,419
477,938 38,419
Prevention Health Services - Sexually Transmitted Diseases
Controf Grants
Comprehensive STD Prevention System 93.977 CCH504338-17 (1,673) - (1,673)
Comprehensive STD Prevention System 93.977 1H25PS001367-01 7,527 -
STD Surveillance Network 93.977 5H25PS001275-02 113,401 97,329
Comprehensive STD Prevention System 93.977 1H25PS001367-02 1,913,439 118,936
STD Surveittance Network 93.977 5H25PS001275.03 1,541 -
2,034,235 214,592
Total Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 31,691,631 4,953,589
F. Office of the Secretary
National Bioterrorism Hospital Preparedness Program
Bioterrorism Hospital Preparedness Program 93.889 U3RHS05588-01 {35,548) - (32,162}
Bioterrorism Hospital Preparedness Program 93.889 U3RHS07591.-01 (6,371) - {4,907)
Bioterrorism Hospital Preparedness Program 93.889 U3REP0708004-01 (3,883) - {3,406)
Pandemic Healthcare 93.889 U3REP090192-01 333,468 -
Bioterrorism Hospital Preparedness Program 93.889 U3REP090230-01 3,349,538 - 2,556,086
Bioterrorism Hospital Preparedness Program 93.889 U3REP090230-02 256,775 - 120,421
3,893,981 . 2,636,032
Total Office of the Secretary 3,893,981 - 2,636,032
G. Heaith Resources and Service Administration
HIV Emergency Relief Project Grants
HIV Emergency Retief Project 93.914 2H89HAQ0008-16 12,400 -
HIV Emergency Relief Project 93.914 2H8SHA00008-19 7,373,737 6,270,920
Minority AIDS Initiative 93.914 5H3MHA08490-03 1,253,800 1,152,804
HIV Emergency Relief Project 93.914 2H89HAD00008-20 17,716,032 - 15,145,382
26,355,969 - 22,569,106
Grants to Provide Outpatient Early Intervention Services with Respect
to HiV Disease
Ryan White Part C Qut Patient EIS 93.918 5H76HA00114.17 18,731 -
Ryan White Part C Out Patient EIS 83.918 5H76HA00114-18 444,019 -
462,750 - -
Healthy Start initiative
Healthy Start 93.926 §H49MC00103-08 (1,500) -
Healthy Start $3.926 5H49MC00103-09 419,710 -
Healthy Start 93.926 5H49MC00103-10 366,285 -
784,495 ;
Maternal and Child Heaith Services Block Grant to the States
(passed through the Hiinois Department of Human Services)
Maternal and Child Health 2008 93.994 K11G9087280 54,810 - -
Maternal and Child Health 2009 93.994 L11GL087280 2,287,587 - 166,196
Maternal and Child Health 2010 93.994 M11GM087280 1,864,920 - 16,588
Chicago Family Case Management 2009 93.994 L11GL087310 20 1,141,552 -
Healthy Child of illinois 2009 93.994 L11GL087420 33,943 -
Healthy Child of lllinois 2010 93.994 M11GMO087420 8,771 - -
{passed through lllinois Department of Pubiic Health}
Dental Sealant 93.994 03480138 10,164 - -
4,260,215 1,141,552 182,784
Total Heaith Resources and Services Administration 31,863,429 1,141,552 22,751,890
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H. Substance Abuse and Mental Heaith Services Administration
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Projects of Regional
and National Significance
HIV Strategic Prevention Project 93.243 5U79SP13343-05 $ 223,806 % - $ 203,653
223,806 - 203,653
Block Grants for Community Mental Health Services
{passed through [llinois Department of Human Services)
Mental Health 93.958 40CK001111 135,669 - -
135,669 . .
Biock Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse
(passed through the lllinois Department of Human Services)
{DASA 93.959 40C8001111 4,088 - -
iDASA 93.959 40CL001111C 364,326 - 364,873
iDASA 93.959 40CL001111C 172,890 - 172,890
SAAPPHI 2009 | 93.959 11GL097000 65,205 - -
SAAPPHI 2010 93.959 M11GM066562 80,665 - -
687,174 - 537,763
Total Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration 1,046,649 - 741,416
Yotal Department of Health and Human Services 245,396,532 7,483,642 174,859,172
XV. Corporation for National and Community Service
Foster Grandparent/ Senior Companion Cluster
Foster Grandparent Program
Foster Grandparent Program 2009 94.011 09SFNILO0S 239,753 54,000 -
Foster Grandparent Program 2010 94.011 09SFNILO0S 302,726 190 -
542,479 54,190
Senior Companion Program
Senior Companion 2006 94.016 06SCNIL001 425
Senior Companion 2007 94.016 06SCNIL007 9,584
Senior Companion Program - Year 3 2008 94.016 06SCNIL001 27,473 -
Senior Companion Program 2009 94.016 09SCNIL0O1 127,737 81,704
Senior Companion Program 2010 94.016 09SCNILCO1 165,421 -
330,640 81,704
Total Foster Grandparent/ Senior Companion Cluster 873,119 135,894 -
Totai Corporation for National and Community Service 873,119 135,894
XVI. Social Security Administration
Social Security -- Work Incentives Planning and Assistance Program
Work Incentive Planning & Assistance Program 2009 96.008 14W50030504 65,037 -
Work Incentive Planning & Assistance Program 2010 96.008 14W5003005 160,749 -
225,786 .
Total Social Security Administration 225,786 -
XVI Department of Homeland Security
Disaster Grants-Public Assistance (Presidentially Declared Disasters)
(passed through lllinois Emergency Management Authority)
2007 Northern Storm Reimbursement Public Assistance 97.036 1729 10,350 -
10,350 -
Law Enforcement Officer Reimbursement Agreement Prog.
{Enforcement Officers)
LEO - O'Hare 2008 97.090 2,198,615 . .
LEO - Midway 2008 97.090 769,044 - -
2,967,659 - -
Emergency Management Performance Grant
{passed through lilinois Emergency Management Authority)
Emergency Management Assistance Grant 2009 97.042 909EMACHICA 138,264 -
Emergency Management Assistance Grant 2010 97.042 110EMACHICA 237,326 -
375,590 R
Assistance to Firefighters Grant
Assistance to Firefighters-Fire Prevention and Safety FY'08 97.044 EMW2008FP011 179,276 - -
179,276 - -

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards Page 17



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Federal Federal Grant/ State 2010 2010 2010
CFDA Pass-Through Federal Non-Federal Subrecipient
Agency/ Program/ Grant Title Number Number Expenditures Expenditures Expenditures
Port Security Grant Program
Port Security Grant FY'06 97.056 2006GBT60020 $ 855,120 $ 285,039 $ -
Port Security Grant FY'67 97.056 2007GBT70136 4,581,581 1,627,194 -
5,436,701 1,812,233 -
Homeiland Security Cluster
Homeland Security Grant Program
(passed through itlinois Emergency Management Authority}
2006 Urban Areas Security Initiative and Communications 97.067 006UASICHIC 109,982 - -
2007 Urban Areas Security Initiative and Communications 97.067 007UASICHIC 8,632,673 - -
2008 Urban Areas Security Initiative and Communications 97.067 008CHGOUAS! 8,516,627 - -
Metropolitan Medical Response System - 2008 97.067 08CHGOMMRS 310,088 - -
2008 interoperable Emergency Communication Grant Program 97.067 4,778 - -
2009 Citizen Corp Grant 97.067 1009CCPCHGO 861 - -
2009 Urban Areas Security Initiative Communications 97.067 109UASICHIC 3,390,641 - -
20,865,650 - -
Metropotitan Medical Response System
Metropolitan Medical Response System FY 2001 97.071 233-03-0061 20,599 - -
20,599 - -
Total Homeland Security Cluster 20,886,249 - -
National Explosive Detection Canine Team Program
National Explosive Detection Canine Team Program 97.072 HSTS0206HMLS 400,500 - -
National Explosive Detection Canine Team Program - O'Hare 97.072 677,294 - -
National Explosive Detection Canine Team Program - Midway 97.072 169,324 - -
1,247,118 - R
Rail and Transit Security Grant Program
FY 2009 Transit Security Grant Program 97.075 2009-RA79K016 922,387 - -
FY 2008 Transit Security Grant Program 97.075 2008-RL.-T8-K001 1,913,822 - -
FY 2007 Transit Security Grant Program 97.075 07SUPCTCP2 1,083,145 - -
3,919,354 - -
Buffer Zone Protection Plan (BZPP)
{passed through illinois Emergency Management Authority)
2006 Bufferzone Protection Program Grant (CPD) 97.078 Various 307,910 - -
2006 Bufferzone Protection Program Grant {OEMC} 97.078 Various 185,000 - -
2006 Bufferzone Protection Program Grant (CFD) 97.078 Various 123,718 - -
2008 Bufferzone Protection Program Grant (CPD) 97.078 Various 2,293 - -
618,921 . R
Airport Checked Baggage Screening Program
TSA/EDS - O'Hare 2006 97.100 3,839,368 - -
3,839,368 - .
Regional Catastrophic Preparedness Grant Program
{passed through illinois Emergency Management Authority)
Regional Catastrophic Preparedness Grant Program 97.11 008CHIRCPGR 1,731,551 577,183 -
1,731,551 §77,183 -
Rail and Transit Security Grant Program {(ARRA)
ARRA Rait and Transit Secutiy Grant 97.113 2009RAR10093 1,204,371 - -
1,204,371 - R
Closed Circuit Security Cameras
Closed-Circuit TV Cameras - O'Hare 97.118 40,247 - -
ARRA Closed-Circuit TV Cameras - Midway 97.118 1,739,538 -
1,778,785 - N
Total Department of Homeland Security 44,196,293 2,389,416 -
TOTAL $ 759,803,600 $ 31,229,867 § 289,040,519
See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards. Page 18



CITY OF CHICAGO

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

NOTE 1 — REPORTING ENTITY

The City of Chicago (the “City”) is a governmental entity established by laws of the State of lllinois and has
the powers of a body corporate, as defined in the statutes. All significant operations of the City are
included in the scope of the Office of Management and Budget (*OMB”) Circular A-133 audit (the “Single
Audit’). The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD") has been designated as the
City’'s cognizant agency for the Single Audit. The reporting entity for the City is based upon criteria
established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.

Programs Subject to Single Audit — A Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (“SEFA”) is
presented for each federal program and a summary of expenditures by federal agency is as follows:

U.S. Department of Agriculture $ 6,476,103
U.S. Department of Commerce 9,965,915
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 176,571,407
U.S. Department of the Interior 93,140
U.S. Department of Justice 27,103,488
U.S. Department of Labor 52,096,474
U.S. Department of Transportation 151,525,821
U.S. Department of the Treasury 11,310,231
U.S. Institute of Museum and Library Services 30,147
U.S. Small Business Administration 61,853
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 20,451,778
U.S. Department of Energy 13,418,704
U.S. Department of Education 6,809
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 245,396,532
U.S. Corporation for National and Community Services 873,119
U.S. Social Security Administration 225,786
U.S. Department of Homeland Security 44,196,293

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 759,803,600

Passenger Facility Charges collected and expended, as prescribed by Sections 9110 and 9111 of the
Aviation Safety and Capacity Expansion Act of 1990 issued by the Federal Aviation Administration of the
United States Department of Transportation, are not included in this Single Audit report and are audited
separately.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accounting records for some grant programs are maintained on the modified accrual basis of
accounting. Under the modified accrual basis, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e.,
both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures are recorded when the liability is
incurred. The accounting records for other grant programs are maintained on the accrual basis, i.e., when
the revenue has been earned and the liability is incurred.
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CITY OF CHICAGO

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING (cont.)

Certain financial awards were received by the City in the form of noncash awards. These noncash awards
are discussed in Note 3. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes a column titled Non-
Federal Expenditures. Amounts reported in this column include the City's required match for federal
programs.

The City has a cost allocation plan for allocation of common and indirect costs related to grant programs.
The amounts allocated to 2010 grant programs are based primarily on 2009 budgeted amounts.
Variances between actual costs and budgeted amounts are adjusted on a prospective basis. A copy of the
cost allocation plan is kept on file at the City. Individual City departments’ indirect cost rates for 2010 have
been prepared on a consistent basis, certified by responsible City officials, and retained in City files for use
in charging federal and other programs in accordance with OMB Circular A-87.

NOTE 3 - NonNCcASH AWARDS

~

Certain federal financial assistance programs do not involve cash awards to the City. These programs
include providing the City with loan guarantees, vaccines, personnel, travel, and vouchers. Such noncash
awards applicable to the year ended December 31, 2010, are as follows:

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development-Loan Guarantees;

CFDA No. 14.221: Balance of loans is: $4,732,613. Section 119 of the Housing and Community
Development Act of 1974 established the Urban Development Action Grant Program (UDAG).
This program was created to assist cities and urban counties experiencing severe economic
stress. Grants were made to local governments who used the funds to make loans to private
developers for commercial, residential, or industrial projects in order to stimulate economic
development necessary for local economic recovery. The federal program no longer exists;
however, revenue from repayment of the UDAG loans can currently be used to fund CDBG-
eligible activities, including economic development loans. At December 31, 2010, the outstanding
balance of the loans made by the City totals $4,732,613.

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development-Section 108 Loans;
CFDA No. 14.248: Balance of loans at December 31, 201 for which the federal government is at risk:
$14,765,000.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services;
CFDA No. 93.069: Vaccines H1N1 valued at $824,980.
CFDA No. 93.116: Personnel valued at $107,352.
CFDA No. 93.268: Vaccines valued at $44,755,661; and personnel valued at $199,262.
CFDA No. 93.712: Vaccines values at $846,625.
CFDA No. 93.977: Personnel valued at $1,470,381.

U.S. Department of Agriculture;
CFDA No. 10.557: The lllinois Department of Public Health provides vouchers to WIC program
participants for the purchase of nutritional commodities. Fiscal year 2010 vouchers totaled
$6,128,070.

The City of Chicago had no noncash federally-funded insurance in effect during 2010.
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Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP
Ten Terrace Ct, PO Box 7398
Madison, W153707-7398

tel 608 249 6622

fax 608 249 8532

bakertilly.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE
WITH REQUIREMENTS THAT COULD HAVE A DIRECT AND
MATERIAL EFFECT ON EACH MAJOR PROGRAM
AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133

To the Honorable Rahm Emanuel, Mayor,
and the Members of the City Council

City of Chicago

Chicago, lllinois

Compliance

We have audited the City of Chicago, lllinois’ compliance with the types of compliance requirements described
in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the
City of Chicago’s major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2010. The City of Chicago’s major
federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs. Compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants
applicable to each of its major federal programs is the responsibility of the City of Chicago’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the City of Chicago’s compliance based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program
occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City of Chicago’s compliance with
those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal
determination of the City of Chicago’s compliance with those requirements.

In our opinion, the City of Chicago complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred
to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended
December 31, 2010. However, the results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance with
those requirements, which are required to be reported in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 and which are
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as Findings 2010-8, 2010-9, 2010-10,
2010-11, 2010-12, 2010-13, 2010-14, 2010-15, 2010-16, 2010-17, 2010-18, 2010-19, 2010-20, 2010-21,
2010-23, 2010-24, 2010-25, 2010-26, 2010-27, and 2010-28.
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To the Honorable Rahm Emanuel, Mayor,
and the Members of the City Council
City of Chicago

Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the City of Chicago is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and grants applicable to federal programs. In
planning and performing our audit, we considered the City of Chicago’s internal control over compliance with
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program to determine the auditing
procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and report on internal control
over compliance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of
Chicago’s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect
and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A
material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that
might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in
internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, we
identified certain deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be significant deficiencies
as described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as Findings 2010-8, 2010-9,
2010-14, 2010-16, 2010-19, 2010-21, 2010-22, 2010-23, 2010-24, 2010-27, and 2010-28. A significant
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance.

The City of Chicago’s response to the findings identified in our audit is referenced in the accompanying schedule
of findings and questioned costs. We did not audit the City of Chicago’s response and, accordingly, we express
no opinion on it.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the mayor, members of the city council,

management of the City, federal awarding agencies, and pass-through entities and is not intended to be, and
should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Chicago, Illinoi:u/Qﬁ
September 26, 2011
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CITY OF CHICAGO

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

SECTION | - SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Information obtained from separate report audited by other auditors)

Type of auditors’ report issued:  unqualified

Internal control over financial reporting:

>  Material weakness(es) identified? X yes no

> Significant deficiencies identified that are
not considered to be material weaknesses? X yes none reported

Noncompliance material to basic financial

statements noted? yes X no
FEDERAL AWARDS
Internal control over major programs:
>  Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no
>  Significant deficiencies identified that are
not considered to be material
weakness(es)? X vyes none reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs: unqualified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to
be reported in accordance with section 510(a) of

Circular A-1337?

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

X  yes no

yes X no

Identification of major programs:

CFDA Numbers

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

10.557
10.559
11.555
14.218

14.231
14.239
14.241
14.253

14.256
14.257
14.258
16.710
16.710

Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children

Summer Food Service Program for Children

Public Safety Interoperable Communications Grant Program

CDBG Entitlement Grants Cluster — Community Development Block
Grants/Entitlement Grants

Emergency Shelter Grants Program

Home Investment Partnerships Program

Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS

CDBG Entitlement Grants Cluster - ARRA — Community Development
Block Grant ARRA Entitlement Grants

ARRA - Neighborhood Stabilization Program

ARRA — Homelessness Prevention and Rapid Re-housing Program

ARRA — Tax Credit Assistance Program

Public Safety Partnership and Community Policing Grants

ARRA - Public Safety Partnership and Community Policing Grants
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CITY OF CHICAGO

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

SECTION | — SUMMARY OF AUDITORS’ RESULTS (cont.)

FEDERAL AWARDS (cont.)
CFDA Numbers

16.804
17.258
17.258
17.259
17.259
17.260
17.260
17.278
20.106
20.106
20.205
20.205
21.unknown
66.458
66.468
66.468
81.086
81.128
03.044

93.045

93.053
93.069
93.268
93.558
93.569
93.667
93.705
93.707
93.710
93.712
93.714

93.994
97.067
97.071
97.075
97.100
97.113

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

ARRA — Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program

WIA Cluster — WIA Adult Program

WIA Cluster — ARRA — WIA Adult Program

WIA Cluster — WIA Youth Activities

WIA Cluster — ARRA — WIA Youth Activities

WIA Cluster — WIA Dislocated Workers

WIA Cluster — ARRA — WIA Dislocated Workers

WIA Cluster — WIA Dislocated Worker Formula Grants

Airport Improvement Program

ARRA — Airport Improvement Program

Highway Planning and Construction

ARRA - Highway Planning and Construction

Tax Credit Exchange Program

ARRA - Capitalization Grants for Clean Water State Revolving Funds

Capitalization Grants for Drinking Water State Revolving Funds

ARRA — Capitalization Grants for Drinking Water State Revolving Funds

ARRA — Conservation Research and Development

ARRA — Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block Grant Program

Aging Cluster — Special Programs for the Aging — Title Ill, Part B — Grants
for Supportive Services and Senior Centers

Aging Cluster — Special Programs for the Aging — Title lll, Part C — Nutrition
Services

Aging Cluster — Nutrition Services Incentive Program

Public Health Emergency Preparedness

Immunization Cluster — Immunization Grants

TANF Cluster — Temporary Assistance for Needy Families

CSBG Cluster — Community Services Block Grant

Social Services Block Grant

Aging Cluster ~ ARRA —Aging Home-Delivered Nutrition Services for States

Aging Cluster — ARRA — Aging Congregate Nutrition Services for States

CSBG Cluster — ARRA — Community Services Block Grant

Immunization Cluster — ARRA - Immunization

TANF Cluster -~ ARRA — Emergency Contingency Fund for Temporary
Assistance for Needy Families State Program

Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grant to the States

Homeland Security Cluster ~ Homeland Security Grant Program

Homeland Security Cluster — Metropolitan Medical Response System

Rail and Transit Security Grant Program

Airport Checked Baggage Screening Program

ARRA - Rail and Transit Security Grant Program

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between

type A and type B programs:

$ 3,000,000
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CITY OF CHICAGO

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

SECTION H — FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

See findings 2010-1, 2010-2, 2010-3, 2010-4, 2010-5, 2010-6, and 2010-7 in the separate bound report
titled “Basic Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 2010, Independent Auditors’ Report
and Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Compliance and Other
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards for the Year Ended December 31, 2010.”

SECTION Il -~ FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

Finding 2010-8

CFDA Nos. 10.557 Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and
Children
14.218 Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants
14.241 Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS
93.069 Public Health Emergency Preparedness
93.994 Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grant to the States
93.268 Immunization Grants
93.712 ARRA — Immunization Grants

Federal Agencies U.S. Department of Agriculture, U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Pass-through Agency  lllinois Department of Human Services
City Department Chicago Department of Public Health

Repeat of prior year finding 2009-13.

Criteria: Payroll expenditures must be recorded in the City's financial records in accordance with OMB
Circular A-87. Additionally, payroll charges must be supported by the documentation required by OMB
Circular A-87. When employees work on one sole federal award or cost objective, charges for their
salaries and wages will be supported by periodic certifications that the employees worked solely on that
program for the period covered by the certification. These certifications must be prepared at least semi-
annually and must be signed by the employee or supervisory official having first-hand knowledge of the
work performed by employees. When employees work on multiple activities or cost objectives, a
distribution of their salaries or wages will be supported by personnel activity reports or equivalent
documentation. This activity must reflect an after-the-fact distribution, must account for the total activity for
each employee, must be prepared at least monthly and coincide with one or more pay periods, and must
be signed by the employee.

Condition: During our testing, we found deficiencies with the City's compliance with OMB Circular A-87:

> If employees are charged to one sole federal program, they should sign semi-annual certification
forms. During our testing of health programs, the City was unable to produce semi-annual
certification forms for most of the payroll charges selected in our samples.

> When employees are charged to multiple grants, the City does not prepare personnel activity
reports. Instead, each employee completes only the semi-annual certification form, which does
not meet the requirements of OMB Circular A-87.
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CITY OF CHICAGO

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

SECTION Ill — FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS {(cont.)

Finding 2010-8 (cont.)

Effect: It is possible that actual distributions the employees’ time was different than what was charged to
federal program.

Questioned Costs: Questioned costs are unable to be determined.

Recommendation: The City should review its overall process for charging salaries and wages to federal
grants. Consideration may be given to the capabilities of the payroll system and City-wide policies
regarding salary certification forms and departmental responsibilities for supporting allocations among
multiple activities.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.

Finding 2010-9

CFDA No. 93.069 Public Health Emergency Preparedness
Federal Agency U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Pass-through Agency  N/A

City Department Chicago Department of Public Health

Criteria: The City is required to maintain supporting records for reports submitted to federal agencies.
Condition: The City was required to file an interim Financial Status Report for the period August 10, 2009
to August 9, 2010 for the Public Health Emergency Preparedness and Public Health Emergency
Response grants. The City was unable to provide supporting schedules which agree these reports to the
general ledger. As such, we cannot determine that these reports were properly prepared.

Effect: We were unable to determine if the interim Financial Status Reports were properly prepared.

Questioned Costs: None

Recommendation: We recommend that the City ensure that supporting schedules aré retained with the
Financial Status Reports to substantiate the amounts reported.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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CITY OF CHICAGO

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

SECTION Ill ~ FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (cont.)

Finding 2010-10

CFDA No. 93.069 Public Health Emergency Preparedness
Federal Agency U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Pass-through Agency  N/A

City Department Chicago Department of Public Health

Criteria: Expenditures charged against federal awards must be for actual costs.

Condition: In a sample of forty expenditures tested, it was found that the City overpaid one invoice by
$2,000. This overpayment was caused by clerical errors made by the vendor in the invoice that were not
caught by City staff.

Effect. Federal expenditures are overstated by $2,000 for the program.

Questioned Costs: Known questioned costs are $2,000, which is the amount that the City overpaid the
invoice. When this error is projected to the entire population of expenditures, the potential questioned
costs are $10,470.

Recommendation: We recommend that the City ensure that review procedures are in place to verify that
invoices are paid for correct amounts.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.

Finding 2010-11

CFDA No. 93.994 Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grant to the States
Federal Agency U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Pass-through Agency  lliinois Department of Human Services

City Department Chicago Department of Public Health

Criteria: OMB Circular A-87 requires that costs charged to federal awards be adequately documented.

Condition: As part of our testing, a sample of 31 payroll expenditures was selected from the City of
Chicago’s general ledger system. The City was not able to provide appropriate supporting documentation
for three items which were tested.

Effect: As supporting documentation could not be reconciled to the amounts charged to the program, we
were unable to determine if the costs were permissible.

Questioned Costs: Known questioned costs are $5,990, the amount that did not have proper supporting
documentation. When this error is projected to the entire population of expenditures, the potential
questioned costs are approximately $39,000.

Recommendation: We recommend that the City ensure that documentation exists to support all
amounts recorded as program expenditures.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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CITY OF CHICAGO

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

SECTION lil — FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (cont.)

Finding 2010-12

CFDA No. 93.268 Immunization Grants

Federal Agency U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Pass-through Agency  N/A

City Department Chicago Department of Public Health

Repeat of prior year finding 2009-07.

Criteria: The City receives vaccines under the Immunization and Vaccines for Children (VFC) Grants
program which are passed through to various providers throughout the City of Chicago. Under terms of
the Immunization and VFC Grants agreement, the vaccines given to providers are reported as non-cash
expenditures on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards of the City of Chicago. It is the
responsibility of the City to ensure that these vaccines are being properly administered by providers to
eligible VFC program participants.

Condition: The City conducts comprehensive quality assurance site visits to approximately one third of
its Immunization and VFC Grant providers each year. The City has quality assurance policies and
procedures which identify the scope of the annual site visit. As part of our audit, we noted several
exceptions where the City did not adhere to its policy:

> Itis the policy of the City to perform a chart audit of 30 charts to determine that program
participants were eligible to receive vaccinations under the Immunization Grants program. In a
sample of forty provider site visits selected for testing during our audit, we determined that two
provider site visits sampled fewer than 30 charts although the population was greater than 30.

> Itis the policy of the City to require that the evaluator from the City and the physician or clinic
manager from the provider both sign the site visit evaluation form. We found that one site
evaluation form, out of the forty examined, was not signed by the evaluator from the City.

> Itis the policy of the City to conduct follow-up visits with providers if findings were noted during the
site visit. In a sample of examined, it was found that one site visit did not have a follow-up visit.

Effect. Program providers were not monitored in accordance with the City’s site visit policy.

Questioned Costs: None

Recommendation: We recommend that the City personnel performing the annual site visits adhere to the
City's policies and procedures for this monitoring. The City may consider performing inspections of
completed site visits to ensure that staff are appropriately performing and documenting the results of the
site visit. The City may also consider creating a process where site visit forms are reviewed before being
placed in the provider's file to ensure that all pertinent documentation is maintained and all required
procedures have been performed.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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SECTION Il — FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS {cont.)

Finding 2010-13

CFDA No. 93.268 Immunization Grants

Federal Agency U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Pass-through Agency  N/A

City Department Chicago Department of Public Health

Criteria: OMB Circular A-87 requires that costs charged to federal awards be adequately documented.
Condition: As part of our testing, a sample of 24 payroll expenditures was selected from the City of
Chicago’s general ledger system. The City was not able to provide appropriate supporting documentation
for twelve items which were tested.

Effect: Supporting documentation couid not be reconciled to the amount reported as program
expenditures; therefore we were unable to determine if the costs were permissible.

Questioned Costs: Known questioned costs are $10,353, as this is the amount that did not have proper
supporting documentation. When this error is projected to the entire population of expenditures, the
potential questioned costs are approximately $50,230.

Recommendation. We recommend that the City ensure that documentation exists to support all program
expenditures.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.

Finding 2010-14

CFDA No. 14.241 Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS
Federal Agency U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
Pass-through Agency  N/A

City Department Chicago Department of Public Health

Criteria: The City is required to maintain supporting records for reports submitted to federal agencies.
Condition: The City is required to file an annual Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation
Report (CAPER). This report includes financial data which is reported in Part 3 of the report. The City was
unable to provide supporting documentation for the amounts reported in this section of the CAPER; and
as such, we were unable to determine that this portion of the CAPER was properly prepared.

Effect. We were unable to determine if Part 3 of the CAPER was properly prepared.

Questioned Costs: None

Recommendation: We recommend that the City ensure that supporting schedules are retained with the
CAPER to substantiate the amounts reported.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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SECTION [ll — FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (cont.)

Finding 2010-15

CFDA No. 10.557 Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and
Children (WIC)

Federal Agency U.S. Department of Agriculture

Pass-through Agency  lllinois Department of Human Services

City Department Chicago Department of Public Health

Criteria: Individuals served under the WIC program must meet the eligibility requirement of having a
nutritional risk. One of the nutritional risk factors is anemia; and as such, hematological tests for anemia
must be performed. A hematological test for anemia must be reported or documented at certification if the
applicant has no nutritional risk factor other than anemia. Other certified applicants with qualifying
nutritional risks other than anemia must be tested for anemia within ninety days of certification.

Condition: Two out of forty patients tested did not have the hemoglobin test administered as required.
Effect: Patients may have received services for which they were not eligible.
Questioned Costs: None

Recommendation: The City should have systems in place to ensure that hematological tests are
performed as required. The City may consider providing additional training to staff to ensure hematological
tests are ordered if required.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.

Finding 2010-16

CFDA Nos. 14.218 Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants
14.241 Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS
93.069 Public Health Emergency Preparedness (PHEP)

Federal Agencies U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, U.S. Department
of Health and Human Services

Pass-through Agency  N/A

City Department Chicago Department of Public Health

Criteria. OMB Circular A-133, Section 400 (d) identifies the responsibilities of pass-through entities.
These responsibilities include ensuring that subrecipients expending $500,000 or more in federal awards
during the subrecipient's fiscal year have met the audit requirements for that fiscal year and issuing a
management decision on audit findings within six months after receipt of the subrecipient's audit report to
ensure that the subrecipient takes appropriate and timely corrective action.
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SECTION lll - FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (cont.)

Finding 2010-16 (cont)

Condition: The Office of Compliance is responsible for conducting an initial review of A-133 reports
submitted by subrecipients (delegate agencies). The Office of Compliance notifies City departments via
written communications when there are findings or other matters noted in those reports that could warrant
a management decision by the granting department. During 2010, we noted that the Department of Public
Health did not appropriately address or respond to four communications where the Office of Compliance
was recommending issuance of a management decision. We selected a sample of 40 subrecipients
across all City departments and noted that four subrecipients of the department required additional follow-
up as communicated by the Office of Compliance. As noted above, the department had no evidence that
any follow-up was completed or management decisions issued in regards to all four communications
received from the Office of Compliance.

Effect. There is the potential that noncompliance by subrecipients is occurring and is not adequately
addressed or resolved by the granting department.

Questioned Costs: Unable to be determined.

Cause: It was noted by the department that the communications from the Office of Compliance likely did
not reach specific program personnel who would be responsible for follow-up procedures with the
subrecipient.

Recommendation: We recommend the department develop workflow steps that address the tasks to
appropriately respond to communications regarding potential subrecipient noncompliance received from

the Office of Compliance.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.

Finding 2010-17

CFDA Nos. 97.075 Rail and Transit Security Grant Program

97.113 ARRA - Rail and Transit Security Grant Program
Federal Agency U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Pass-through Agency  N/A
City Department Chicago Police Department

Criteria: The Intergovernmental Cooperation Agreement between the Chicago Transit Authority and the
City of Chicago requires the Chicago Police Department to submit annual performance reports and
quarterly fiscal reports for each of the grant awards, due 15 days after each period ends.

Condition: It was discovered during our review of these programs that two annual performance reports
and two quarterly reports tested were not submitted within 15 days of year end, as required by the City’s
agreement with the Chicago Transit Authority.

Effect: The Department is not in compliance with the intergovernmental Cooperation Agreements with the
Chicago Transit Authority.
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SECTION HI — FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (cont.)

Finding 2010-17 (cont)
Questioned Costs: None

Recommendation: The Department should strengthen existing policies and procedures surrounding
reporting to ensure compliance with federal requirements.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.

Finding 2010-18

CFDA No. 16.804 ARRA — Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant
Program

Federal Agency U.S. Department of Justice

Pass-through Agency  N/A

City Department Chicago Police Department

Repeat of prior year finding 2009-15.

Criteria: Requirements for cash management of federal awards contained in 31 CFR section 205 state
that grant recipients should track and utilize funds earned from interest on cash advances for eligible
program costs.

Condition: During our testing, it was noted that the City was awarded an ARRA Justice Assistance Grant
and received an advance on July 6, 2009 for $28,633,983. Throughout 2010, the City had not been
tracking interest earned related to this grant.

Effect:. The City is not in compliance with federal cash management requirements,

Questioned Costs: None

Recommendation: The City should review its procedures and controls around cash advances and, in
particular, the tracking of interest earned on cash advances.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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SECTION Il ~ FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (cont.)

Finding 2010-19

CFDA Nos. 14.218 Community Development Block Grant - Entitlement Grants
14.253 ARRA — Community Development Block Grant-R - Entitlement
Grants

Federal Agency U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

Pass-through Agency  N/A

City Department Chicago Department of Family and Support Services

Criteria: According to part 24 CFR Section 85.40(a), grantees are responsible for managing the day-to-
day operations of grant and subgrant supported activities. Grantees must monitor grant and subgrant
supported activities to assure compliance with applicable Federal requirements and that performance
goals are being achieved. Grantee monitoring must cover each program, function or activity.

Condition: The Department uses risk based approach for monitoring of the subrecipients (delegate
agencies). During our audit we tested the City’s monitoring of twenty-nine program subrecipients and
noted the following exceptions:

> No risk assessment or program monitoring was performed for two subrecipients of the CDBG-R
(ARRA) program.

> Program monitoring was not scheduled for one of the high risk subrecipients of the CDBG
program until September of 2011, although program expenditures existed in the first half of 2010.

> No follow-up monitoring was performed for one subrecipient with CDBG-R (ARRA) program
monitoring findings in the first visit.

>  Fiscal monitoring for three high risk CDBG subgrantees was not scheduled untif the second half of
2011,

We understand that the Department is in the process of seeking HUD approval for the current risk based
approach to subrecipient monitoring. Future policy changes may be necessary to comply with HUD
requirements.

Effect. Failure to adequately monitor program subgrantees increases the likelihood of noncompliance
with program requirements.

Questioned Costs: None

Recommendation: The Department should finalize HUD approval of the monitoring policy and establish a
system to ensure compliance with the policy.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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SECTION Il — FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (cont.)

Finding 2010-20

CFDA No. 93.569 Community Services Block Grant

Federal Agency U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Pass-through Agency  lliinois Department of Commerce and Economic Opportunity
City Department Chicago Department of Family and Support Services

Repeat of prior year finding 2009-21.

Criteria: According to program requirements, equipment records shall be maintained for all property
acquired with Federal funds, a physical inventory of equipment shali be taken at least once every two
years and reconciled to the equipment records, an appropriate control system shall be used to safeguard
equipment, and equipment shall be adequately maintained. When equipment with a current per unit fair
market value of $5,000 or more is no longer needed for a Federal program, it may be retained or sold with
the Federal agency having a right to a proportionate amount of the current fair market value. Proper sales
procedures shall be used that provide for competition to the extent practicable and result in the highest
possible return.

Condition: Several assets purchased with program funds from prior fiscal periods could not be identified
during the current year audit because the Department has not been maintained an inventory of capital
assets acquired with program funds.

Effect: Disposition of equipment purchased with Federal funds may not be identified by the City, which
could result in failure to appropriately reimburse the awarding agency for their proportionate share.

Questioned Costs: None

Recommendation: The Department should establish processes and procedures to track and monitor
equipment purchased with federal funds.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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SECTION lIl — FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (cont.)

Finding 2010-21

CFDA Nos. 10.559 Summer Food Services Program for Children
14.218 Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants
14.231 Emergency Shelter Grants Program
17.258 WIA Adult Program
17.259 WIA Youth Activities
17.260 WIA Dislocated Workers
93.569 Community Services Block Grant

Federal Agencies U.S. Department of Agriculture, U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development, U.S. Department of Labor, U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services

Pass-through Agencies lllinois Department of Public Health, lllinois State Board of Education,
Illinois Department of Commerce and Economic Opportunity, lllinois
Department of Human Services

City Department Chicago Department of Family and Support Services

Criteria. OMB Circular A-133, Section 400 (d) identifies the responsibilities of pass-through entities.
These responsibilities include ensuring that subrecipients expending $500,000 or more in federal awards
during the subrecipient's fiscal year have met the audit requirements for that fiscal year and issuing a
management decision on audit findings within six months after receipt of the subrecipient's audit report to
ensure that the subrecipient takes appropriate and timely corrective action.

Condition: The Office of Compliance is responsible for conducting an initial review of A-133 reports
submitted by subrecipients (delegate agencies). The Office of Compliance notifies City departments via
written communications when there are findings or other matters noted in those reports that could warrant
a management decision by the granting department. During 2010, we noted that the Department of Family
and Support Services did not appropriately address or respond to nine communications where the Office
of Compliance was recommending issuance of a management decision. We selected a sample of 40
subrecipients across all City departments and noted that nine subrecipients of the department required
additional follow-up as communicated by the Office of Compliance. As noted above, the department had
no evidence that any follow-up was completed or management decisions issued in regards to all nine
communications received from the Office of Compliance.

Effect: There is the potential that noncompliance by subrecipients is occurring and is not adequately
addressed or resolved by the granting department.

Questioned Costs: Unable to be determined.
Recommendation: We recommend the department develop workflow steps that address the tasks to
appropriately respond to communications regarding potential subrecipient noncompliance received from

the Office of Compliance.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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SECTION lil — FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS {cont.)

Finding 2010-22

CFDA No. 20.106 Airport Improvement Program
Federal Agency U.S. Department of Transportation
Pass-through Agency  lllinois Department of Transportation
City Department Chicago Department of Aviation

Repeat of prior year finding 2009-14.

Criteria: The A-102 Common Rule and 2 CFR part 215 require that non-federal entities receiving federal
awards establish and maintain internal control designed to reasonably ensure compliance with federal
laws, regulations, and program compliance requirements. OMB Circular A-133 further requires auditors to
obtain an understanding of the non-federal entity’s internal contro! over federal programs.

To minimize the risk of errors, internal controls should be in place for all program compliance
requirements, including the preparation and submission of reimbursement requests, which should be
reviewed and approved by a responsible party other than the original preparer.

Condition: A sample of reimbursement requests was tested for review and approval by someone other
than the original preparer. Specifically, four different reimbursement requests were tested and three of the
four were not reviewed and approved by someone other than the original preparer.

While there were no compliance issues noted while reviewing the accuracy of the reimbursement
requests, it is important that the City implement effective controls over the submission process to minimize
the risk of incorrect reporting.

We understand the City implemented a process for the review and approval of reimbursement requests
during 2010, however, this control was not in place the entire year.

Effect: Reimbursements requests submitted prior to the implementation of the review control could have
been inappropriate or inaccurate.

Questioned Costs: None

Recommendation: Since the City has implemented a review procedure for reimbursement requests that
took effect during 2010, we have no further recommendations.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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SECTION Il - FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS {(cont.)

Finding 2010-23

CFDA Nos. 20.106 Airport Improvement Program

20.106 ARRA — Airport Improvement Program
Federal Agency U.S. Department of Transportation
Pass-through Agency  lllinois Department of Transportation
City Department Chicago Department of Aviation

Criteria: The A-102 Common Rule requires federal agencies to evaluate program performance and
financial reports on at least an annual basis. Financial reporting requirements of the program subject to
audit are specified in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement Part {V. These requirements
indicate that the SF-425, Federal Financial Report should be completed and submitted by the City.

Condition: For calendar year 2010 grant activity, the City did not file any SF-425, Federal Financial
Reports for the Airport Improvement Program.

Effect: The grantor is not receiving certain financial information that is necessary to comply with the A-
102 Common Rule. :

Questioned Costs: None
Recommendation: We recommend the City contact the grantor to clarify the proper method and
frequency for filing these reports. Appropriate procedures and controls should be implemented to ensure

accurate and timely filings in the future.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.

Finding 2010-24

CFDA No. 97.100 Airport Checked Baggage Screening Program
Federal Agency U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Pass-through Agency  NA

City Department Chicago Department of Aviation

Criteria: According to 40 USC 3141-3144, 3146, and 3147, all laborers and mechanics employed by
contractors or subcontractors to work on construction contracts in excess of $2,000 financed by federal
assistance funds must be paid wages not less than those established for the locality of the project
(prevailing wage rates) by the U.S. Department of Labor.

Condition: The City has delegated contracting responsibilities, including monitoring of Davis-Bacon
compliance, to the airlines responsible for the terminal where the security equipment has been installed.
As the recipient of the grant funding, the City is responsible for ensuring the airlines are performing the
responsibilities delegated to them. In 2010, neither the airlines nor the City were monitoring contractor
compliance with prevailing wage rates under the Davis-Bacon Act.

Effect: Contractors may not be paying their employees prevailing wage rates as required under the
Davis-Bacon Act.
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SECTION Ill — FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (éont.)

Finding 2010-24 (cont)
Questioned Costs: Unable to be determined.

Recommendation: We recommend the City and the responsible airlines determine the most appropriate
method to ensure that contractors are paying prevailing wage rates in regards to the projects financed

under this program.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.

Finding 2010-25

CFDA No. 81.086 ARRA — Conservation Research and Development
Federal Agency U.S. Department of Energy

Pass-through Agency  N/A

City Department Chicago Department of Environment

Criteria: OMB Circular A-87 establishes principles and standards for determining costs for federal awards
carried out through grants with local governments. When employees work on multiple activities or cost
objectives, according to A-87, a distribution of their salaries or wages must be supported by personnel
activity reports or equivalent documentation which meets specific standards.

Condition/Context: In 2010, a portion of the salaries and fringes for one employee was reimbursed
under the grant. There is no documentation supporting the hours charged to the grant.

Effect: If salaries charged to the grant are not adequately supported by personnel activity reports, there is
the potential that the grant has been inaccurately charged.

Questioned Costs: Unable to be determined.

Cause: Program personnel were not aware of the documentation requirements.
Recommendation: We recommend that department staff review the A-87 payroll requirements and
implement a process to ensure that proper documentation is kept in order to comply with those

requirements.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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SECTION Il - FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (cont.)

Finding 2010-26

CFDA No. 93.667 Social Services Block Grant

Federal Agency U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Pass-through Agency  llinois Department of Human Services

City Department Chicago Office of Budget and Management

Criteria: Payroll expenditures must be recorded in the City's financial records in accordance with OMB
Circular A-87. Additionally, payroll charges must be supported by the documentation required by OMB
Circular A-87. When employees work on one sole federal award or cost objective, charges for their
salaries and wages will be supported by periodic certifications that the employees worked solely on that
program for the period covered by the certification. These certifications must be prepared at least semi-
annually and must be signed by the employee or supervisory official having first-hand knowledge of the
work performed by employees. When employees work on multiple activities or cost objectives, a
distribution of their salaries or wages will be supported by personnel activity reports or equivalent
documentation. This activity must reflect an after-the-fact distribution, must account for the total activity for
each employee, must be prepared at least monthly and coincide with one or more pay periods, and must
be signed by the employee.

Condition/Context: We audited payroll expenditures for one City employee charged directly to the
Empowerment Zone grant. That employee's entire salary is charged to the grant, however, the City did not
maintain evidence in the form of time records or a salary certification form to support the costs of that
employee.

Effect: It is possible that the actual distribution of the employee's time was different than what was
charged to the federal program.

Questioned Costs: Unable to be determined.

Cause: The employee under review transferred to another department and a salary certification form was
not obtained.

Recommendation: The City should review its overall process for charging salaries and wages to federal
grants. Consideration may be given to the capabilities of the payroll system and City-wide policies
regarding salary certification forms and departmental responsibilities for supporting aliocations among
multiple activities.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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SECTION ll — FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (cont.)

Finding 2010-27

CFDA No. 14.253 ARRA-Community Development Block Grant (CDBG-R)
Federal Agency U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
Pass-through Agency  N/A

City Department Chicago Department of Housing and Economic Development

Criteria: According to part 24 CFR Section 85.40(a) Grantees are responsible for managing the day-to-
day operations of grant and subgrant supported activities. Grantees must monitor grant and subgrant
supported activities to assure compliance with applicable Federal requirements and that performance
goals are being achieved. Grantee monitoring must cover each program, function or activity.

Condition/Context: For five of the subrecipients tested, there was no documented evidence that site
visits occurred and that the subrecipients were deemed in compliance based on the visit. Documented
evidence would include a completed checklist or report detailing what was reviewed during the visit.
Effect: The City is not in compliance with federal subrecipient monitoring requirements.

Questioned Costs: None

Cause: Unknown.

Recommendation: The Department should strengthen existing policies and procedures surrounding
subrecipient monitoring to ensure compliance with federal requirements. The process for subrecipient
monitoring should be standardized within the Department including the frequency of site visits, the
checklist or report to be completed and signed as a result of the visit, and the necessary documentation to
be kept within the subrecipient files at the Department.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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SECTION Ill — FEDERAL FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (cont.)

Finding 2010-28

CFDA No. N/A
Federal Agency N/A
Pass-through Agency  N/A
City Department Chicago Department of Finance

Repeat of prior year finding 2009-18.

Criteria: Sufficient internal controls should be in place and operating effectively to ensure transactions
are recorded in the proper accounting period and that nonfederal funds are not included in the SEFA. The
SEFA should include only federal expenditures related to the City’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2010.

Condition: During our audit of major programs, we identified federal expenditures that were recorded in
the current fiscal year, but were incurred in a different fiscal year. In other instances, federal expenditures
were incurred during the current fiscal year, but were recorded in a different fiscal year. We aiso identified
nonfederal funds that were reported on the draft SEFA.

Effect: The SEFA may not properly reflect federal award expenditures for the City’s year ended
December 31, 2010.

Questioned Costs: None
Recommendation: The City should review the internal controls over the year end cutoff and reporting
process to ensure that expenditures are reported in the proper accounting period and that nonfederal

expenditures are omitted from the SEFA.

Views of Responsible Officials: See Corrective Action Plan.
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DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE
CITY OF CHICAGO

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
Year Ended December 31, 2010

See the views of responsible officials for findings 2010-1, 2010-2, 2010-3, 2010-4, 2010-5, 2010-6, and
2010-7 in the separate bound report titled “Basic Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31,
2010, Independent Auditors’ Report and Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting and Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards for the Year Ended December 31, 2010.”

FINDING 2010-8

Chicago Department of Public Health (CDPH) will begin utilizing personnel activity reports in the first
quarter of 2012. These reports will be used with employee monthly payroll costing that occurs with the
department's Position Count and Control system (PCC).

FINDING 2010-9

The City of Chicago Comptroller's Office — Special Accounting Division acknowledges that the supporting
documentation for the interim Financial Status Reports for the Public Health Emergency Preparedness
and Public Health Emergency Response grants did not agree with the general ledger. To ensure that the
supporting records for all future interim reports are reconcilable to the general ledger the schedules will be
prepared using the Business Objects report functionality rather than screen print outs from the City’s
project and grants table which reflects the financial status and expenditures of a program at a particular
point in time rather than for a particular period. This same process is currently used for preparation of all
final financial status reports and will be adopted for the preparation of interim financial reports and
implemented immediately by accounting staff and reviewed by the supervisor of accounting.

FINDING 2010-10

CDPH will implement review procedures and provide further training for its programmatic staff and its
fiscal staff, on ensuring that invoice validation includes a review of vendor invoice calculations. This review
training will take place in the 4th quarter of 2011. The department will also alert the vendor in question
about the overpayment and recoup the overage amount.
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FINDING 2010-11

Chicago Department of Public Health (CDPH) Finance and Human Resources divisions are creating a
revised payroll costing reconciliation system. This system will utilize the department's Position Count and
Control system (PCC) to ensure that staff payments are properly credited to each applicable grant or
corporate fund. CDPH Finance will certify the reconciliation and CDPH HR will maintain the full copy of
each certified payroll costing which will include all supporting documentation. The process will be
implemented in November 2011.

FINDING 2010-12

CDPH Immunization Unit will implement the following steps:

> Conduct training with quality assurance staff during remaining staff meetings of 2011 and annual
staff training each January regarding the appropriate number of charts to select.

> Review all Quality Assurance Reviews (QAR) upon submission monthly for completeness and
adherence to VFC Quality Assurance Standards.

> Conduct training with quality assurance staff during remaining staff meetings of 2011 and at
annuat staff training each January regarding the requirement for signatures and dates on the
QAR.

> Review all QARs upon submission monthly for completeness and adherence to the VFC Quality
Assurance Standards.

> Conduct training with quality assurance staff during remaining staff meetings of 2011 and at
annual staff training each January regarding the necessity of follow up visits for any high priority
finding within 30-60 days of QAR.

> Utilize Co Casa data to determine which providers need follow up visits and review if and when
follow up visit was conducted.

FINDING 2010-13

Chicago Department of Public Health (CDPH) Finance and Human Resources divisions are creating a
revised payroll costing reconciliation system. This system will utilize the department's Position Count and
Control system (PCC) to ensure that staff payments are properly credited to each applicable grant or
corporate fund. CDPH Finance will certify the reconciliation and CDPH HR will maintain the full copy of
each certified payroll costing which will include all supporting documentation. The process will be
implemented in November 2011.
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FINDING 2010-14

Chicago Department of Public Health (CDPH) will imptement an internal control process for storing all
support documentation for final fiscal reports. Submitted reports and the supporting general ledger
information will be scanned as PDFs’ and stored on the CDPH network drives. Documentation for active
grant reports will also be posted on the CDPH Share Point site. This process will be implemented in
November 2011.

FINDING 2010-15

The Chicago Department of Public Health (CDPH) WIC program procedures outlining the requirements
for mandated laboratory tests for clients will be updated to document the lag time between clients
receiving their lab results from their primary care physician and their initial receipt of WIC services.
Revised procedures will be implemented in December 2011. The Chicago Department of Public Health’s
WIC program does not perform the hemoglobin tests on site at their WIC centers. The CDPH service
model requires that clients to bring the results of their hemoglobin tests (within ninety days) to the clinic
from their primary care physician. CDPH policy states that staff cannot refuse to provide service to clients
that are missing the tests, therefore, each time clients are seen at the WIC site they receive reminders to
obtain the tests from their primary care physicians.

FINDING 2010-16

The Chicago Department of Public Health will implement a process for communications regarding
potential sub recipient noncompliance that arise from sub recipient A-133 reports in November 2011. This
initiative will be coordinated with the department’s newly created Office of Risk Management. A
departmental risk management workgroup will be created with representation from all impacted divisions
that have active sub-recipients. This workgroup will conduct a bi-monthly meeting for all management
decision letters that are due within 45 days the due date of the letters received from the Office of
Compliance.

FINDING 2010-17

The Intergovernmental Agreements (IGAs) between the Chicago Transit Authority and the City of Chicago
for the 2007, 2008, 2009 and ARRA Transit Security Grants programs were not fully executed until
November 2009, December 2009 and February 2010. From March 2010 through October 2010,
representatives from Chicago Transit Authority (CTA), Office of Budget and Management (OBM), Chicago
Police Department (CPD) and the Office of the Comptrollers, Special Accounting Division (SAD) held
meetings and corresponded via email in an attempt to establish reimbursement billings to be incompliance
with CTA, IEMA and Department of Homeland Security financial requirements for all Transit Security
Grant programs. As a result, this caused a delay in submitting the quarterly fiscal reports as stipulated in
the IGAs. CTA has been billed for all FY2010 Transit Security costs. The Assistant Director of Finance
will be responsible for ensuring compliance of this requirement going forward.
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FINDING 2010-17 (cont.)

CPD did submit the annual progress reports to CTA on the tested grants. The ARRA TSGP (CFDA
97.113) report was submitted five days after the deadline but CPD cannot document the date that the
FY08 TSGP (CFDA 97.075) report was submitted. Going forward, a reminder for progress reports will be
sent to the Public Transportation Section (PTS) on December 1, 2011 with a January 8, 2012 deadline.
The Outlook calendars of the grants manager and the CPD Director of Grants Management will be tickled
to January 8, 2012 and the January 15 reporting deadline to CTA to ensure reports are complied with.

FINDING 2010-18

The City Comptroller's Office- Special Accounting Division met with representatives from the Treasurer’s
Office to work out an improved system for identifying Funds which need to be kept in segregated accounts
where interest earned is calculated by the Treasurer's Office and where funds are maintained in an
aggregate account with interest earned being calculated and allocated by General Accounting. The
supervisors and directors in Special Accounting will be responsible for ensuring that all funds having
interest earned are recorded correctly. This process was implemented in 2011.

FINDING 2010-19

In the second half of 2010 DFSS made improvements to its risk analysis process to address the issues
noted by HUD. DFSS will continue to work with HUD and will make adjustments, if needed, to the
department’s current process to ensure compliance with the monitoring policy.

FINDING 2010-20

DFSS is in the process of selecting a vendor to assist in completing a comprehensive inventory review
and to develop an inventory system during the 4th quarter of 2012. In the interim, DFSS will immediately
implement procedures to maintain equipment records for the Department and our delegate agencies.
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FINDING 2010-21

In 2011, DFSS has made improvements in responding to management decision requests promptly
and will continue to issue the required responses in a timely manner. The Department has taken the
initiative to develop a unit that is responsible for fiscal compliance. This includes the review and
composing of timely responses to management decision requests by the Internal Audit team.

FINDING 2010-22

The Chicago Department of Aviation has implemented a review procedure for reimbursement requests
that took effect during 2010.

FINDING 2010-23

The Chicago Department of Aviation’s Chief Financial Officer began filing these quarterly reports in June
2010.

FINDING 2010-24

The Chicago Department of Aviation will implement audit procedures in the payment process to ensure
that contractors are paying prevailing wage rates.

FINDING 2010-25

The Chicago Department of Environment (DOE) acknowledges the audit finding for award DE-EE002541
and has implemented corrective action. In accordance with OMB Circular A-87, DOE will provide proper
documentation to substantiate salary costs incurred in the performance of a grant award. Starting
immediately, appropriate DOE staff will complete personnel activity reports in order to track time devoted
and identified specifically to grant activities. These activity reports will be reviewed and approved by
supervisory staff.

FINDING 2010-26

The City of Chicago is in the process of enhancing its existing payroll system (CHIPPS) which will ensure
that personnel expenditures are allocated to the appropriate grant according to the requirements of A-87.
This implementation should begin in the first quarter of 2012. In the interim, the City continued to require
that appropriate City departments submit copies of semiannual salary certification forms to the
Department of Finance—Special Accounting Division.

Page 46



CITY OF CHICAGO

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
Year Ended December 31, 2010

FINDING 2010-27

The Department of Housing and Economic Development continued to restructure the organization in 2010
and further in 2011 into three (3) separate managing Bureaus: Housing, Economic Development, and
Planning and Zoning. As a result, the Housing Bureau is responsible for the DBGC Contracts and
recognizes the shortage of staff hours needed to perform all monitoring and site visits required in
accordance with 2CFR 215.51. Additional staff has been identified and assigned perform site visits from
June through October 2011.

The sub-recipient monitoring procedures for 2011 will include site visits. The prescribed check list will be
completed and included in the sub-recipient's files.

The Department plans to increase its utilization of the electronic transmission of the sub-recipient's
performance and fiscal data. The files will be maintained and reviewed by The City of Chicago for follow-
up of all concerns and findings.

FINDING 2010-28

The City has been implementing procedures to ensure federal expenditures are properly accounted for
and in accordance with OMB Circular A-133. The Department of Finance Management Team will work
with the appropriate Fiscal Managers at the lead departments to train the department staff to charge the
proper period. The Finance Management Team will also retrain the Finance staff on verifying that the
invoices are charged to the correct period.

Reports wilt be made available to the proper lead department and OBM staff to allow them to accurately
charge to the proper funding source and ensure corrections will be made in a timely manner.
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DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE
CITY OF CHICAGO

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

FINDING 2009-1

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

ADEQUACY OF STAFFED AND/OR TRAINED FINANCIAL PERSONNEL AND RESULTANT
IMPLICATIONS ON THE FINANCIAL REPORTING AND CLOSING PROCESS

The Office of the Comptroller is not adequately staffed and/or trained at either the management or staff
levels thereby creating competing demands of their time and priorities.

2010 STATUS

The City, like many other state and local governments, is faced with the continuation of the nation’s most
significant recession in decades while attempting to maintain appropriate levels of staff to manage the
City's core functions such as public safety, health, etc. The City will reassess additional requests for
staffing as justified by responsibilities and available City resources. Managerial staff assignments and
organizational structures are being reviewed concerning responsibilities on a yearly basis.

Staff and management continue to devote time in accommodating the development, testing, training, and
implementation of the City’s financial systems and report writing capabilities.

Enterprise will work to increase communication with the Chicago Department of Aviation (CDA) on the
need for information and reports to minimize delays in the overall audit process.

This finding is repeated during 2010.
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

FINDING 2009-2

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER — SPECIAL ACCOUNTING DIVISION
FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

The SAD does not currently monitor the inventory listing of land held for resale and does not maintain
complete supporting documentation, nor does the SAD perform a valuation of the land held for resale to
assess for potential impairment. Further, the SAD does not monitor certain significantly aged receivables
for collectability or review certain liability accounts for accuracy.

2010 STATUS

The City of Chicago Housing and Economic Development Department (HED) has begun to implement
revised policies to ensure account balances are properly stated and classified. These policies include
confirming account balances and land inventory (including monitoring) annually, and revising operational
procedures to ensure that the SAD of the Finance Department is notified timely of land inventory changes
in the status of land assets, purchases and sales. Additionaily, the Lead Department, HED, will be
required to monitor the inventory listings for current year acquisition and disposition activity to ensure
accurate and timely financial reporting along with providing appropriate supporting documentation as
required.

SAD will continue to work with the Office of Budget and Management and HED to ensure accurate and
timely financial reporting. In addition, these land transactions have no effect on either the City’s Balance
Sheet or Income Statement. The assets and liabilities net to zero as does the revenue and expense.

The City implemented the Oracle accounts receivable module and based on that implementation, the SAD
has developed and implemented an aged receivables process that requires obtaining a quarterly detailed
receivables report for both current and aged receivables for review and analysis. Once the analysis is
complete, all aged receivables will be further addressed and reviewed for those that have aged greater
than 90 days to determine their means of collection. We will work with the various Grantors to address any
open receivables that are significantly aged and develop an allowance for doubtful accounts. Finally, this
process will improve the controls over account receivables and ensure the accuracy of receivable reports
and fiscal reporting.

This finding is repeated during 2010.

Page 49



CITY OF CHICAGO
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

FINDING 2009-3

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

EFFECTIVENESS OF CERTAIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The City does not maintain effective accounting and financial reporting policies and procedures for certain
aspects of capital assets, expenditure cutoff, encumbrance reserves, and certain disbursement'’s to the
City Treasurer’'s Office to ensure that financial activity is recorded timely and in accordance with GAAP.

2010 STATUS

See the views of responsible officials for findings 2010-3 through 2010-6 in the separate bound report
titled “Basic Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 2010, Independent Auditors’ Report
and Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Compliance and Other
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards for the Year Ended December 31, 2010.”

This finding is repeated during 2010.

FINDING 2009-04: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION — INVESTIGATIONS AND
TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE: CFDA NO. 93.283

CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH

During audit testing of the Financial Status Report for the Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity Program
for the period January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2009, it was noted that the amount reported as
expenditures during the period was greater than the amount reported in the general ledger. It was
determined that the City did not process certain charges that were included in the 2009 Financial Status
Report in the City's general ledger until 2010.

2010 STATUS

SAD managers continue to review reconciliations and conduct routine follow-up on posting transactions
required to update the general ledgers consistent with FSR’s and other reporting, placing special
emphasis on year end reporting.

This finding is not repeated in 2010.
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FINDING 2009-05: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION — INVESTIGATIONS AND
TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE: CFDA NO. 93.283

CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH

As part of the auditor's review of a sample of 40 patient files, the following conditions were noted:

1.

The City is required to provide breast and cervical educational materials to the patients that they
serve. In a sample of 40 patient files, it was found that three patient files did not have
documentation demonstrating that the patient received the cervical educational materials. Six
patient files did not have documentation demonstrating that the patient received the breast
educational materials.

The City is required to determine eligibility to receive services under the program annually. In the
sample of files, it was determined that two files did not have eligibility forms that identified the
patient’s insurance status.

The City is required to retain various documents that support the information contained in the
patient eligibility forms. From the sample, seven patient files were incomplete. These incomplete
files were missing the following items: eligibility determination form, health assessment, client
participation agreement and release of information form, Cornerstone consent form, CBE/cervical
exam results, and mammogram results

2010 STATUS

CDPH staff met and was made aware of the correct updated enrollment and other forms, the IBCCP
Policy, and the current patient file maintenance requirements.

This finding is not repeated in 2010.
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FINDING 2009-06: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
IMMUNIZATION GRANTS: CFDA NO. 93.268
CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH

During our audit, the City brought to our attention that one of its providers may have administered
vaccines to ineligible individuals. The City conducted an audit and recommended that the provider
reimburse the City a total of $331,000, the estimated value of the vaccines that were provided to ineligible
individuals. As of 2010, this provider is no longer an active provider at the City of Chicago and the case
has been reported to the State of lllinois Office of the Inspector General.

2010 STATUS

The case was turned over to the State of lllinois Office of the Inspector General in March 2010. The
Provider was inactivated from the Chicago VFC program in 2009 and has not received VFC vaccine since
that time. To date, the Provider has not reimbursed the City of Chicago $331,000, the estimated value of
the vaccines that were provided to ineligible individuals.

The IL Medicaid Fraud Control Bureau started the official investigation on the case in February 2011. The
Immunization Program has cooperated with the investigation and staff have been interviewed.

The Immunization Program updated the Fraud and Abuse Policy in June 2010 and key items of the policy
were discussed with healthcare providers during the 2011 VFC Regional Meetings that were held during
the period of March-April 2011. In addition, the Chicago Department of Public Health Immunization
Program developed a Vaccine Loss Policy this year and was shared with all enrolled Vaccines for Children
(VEC) Providers.

This finding is not repeated in 2010.

FINDING 2009-07: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
IMMUNIZATION GRANTS: CFDA NO. 93.268
CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH

Program providers were not monitored in accordance with the City’s site visit policy.

2010 STATUS

The VFC Program Manager will review monthly the submitted Quality Assurance Reviews to assure
adherence to the 30 chart review policy. In cases where providers may not have 30 charts because of a
small patient practice, a written justification of why less than 30 charts were used will be required.

The VFC Program Manager will also review monthly the submitted Quality Assurance Reviews to assure
completeness and the presence of signatures by both the provider and the staff person conducting the
review.

This finding is repeated in 2010.
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FINDING 2009-08: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
IMMUNIZATION GRANTS: CFDA NO. 93.268
CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH

During our testing of the Financial Status Report for the Immunization Grant for the period January 1,
2009 to December 31, 2009, it was noted that the amount reported as expenditures during the period was
greater than the amount reported in the general ledger. it was determined that the City did not process
certain charges that were included in the 2009 Financial Status Report in the City's general ledger until
2010.

2010 STATUS

SAD managers continue to review reconciliations and conduct routine follow-up on posting transactions
required to update the general ledgers consistent with FSR's and other reporting, placing special
emphasis on year end reporting.

This finding is not repeated in 2010.

FINDING 2009-09: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION — INVESTIGATIONS AND
TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE: CFDA NO. 93.283

CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH

In a sample of forty expenditures tested, three were found which were not approved by the proper City
department.

2010 STATUS

As recommended by the auditor, CDPH will review the internal controls surrounding approval of purchase
vouchers and ensure that there is an appropriate level of review by someone other than the preparer

at CDPH prior to the payment.

This finding is not repeated in 2010.
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FINDING 2009-10: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT: CFDA NO. 14.218
CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

The Heat Receiver activity under the CDBG program generated approximately $385,000 in program
income during 2009. As part of the Department of Community Development’s corrective action to prior
year finding 2008-12, further analysis was performed by the Department during 2009 and 2010 to verify
the nature of the funding and establish new processes and controls to properly apply this income to
eligible program activities. It is our understanding that this process has been concluded in August 2010,
and the City plans to transfer $385,000 of 2009 program income, as well as additional 2010 program
income, to make it available for use on program activities during 2010.

2010 STATUS

The City of Chicago set up an account in it's General Ledger and Accounting System (FMPS) for the
receipt and recordation of Heat Receivership Program Income. All heat Receivership deposits for 2010
and 2011 are properly recorded in that account to fund CDBG eligible activities.

fn 2009, prior o the establishment of the Heat Receivership Account, approximately $385,745.20 was
collected and not immediately recorded as CDBG Program income. The City has identified a source and
method to transfer the funds to be used for eligible CDBG Activities in late 2011.

This finding is not repeated in 2010.

FINDING 2009-11: CROSS-CUT TESTING
MAINTENANCE OF SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION FOR CONTRACT FILES
CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF PROCUREMENT SERVICES

Two contract files selected did not contain all the necessary elements to verify the procurement standards
had been met. The missing information included the award checklist for contracts, bid proposal tabulation
summary, evaluation committee summary, legal advertisement request form, and specification take out
list.

2010 STATUS

Procurement Services has increased the scrutiny given to processing and management of the contract
files, and continues to address deficiencies detected in day to day contract management operations. As
previously stated, an extensive review of the Policy for Document Retention was performed in 2009, and
has resulted in more complete contract files. Procurement Services staff have been instructed and trained
to examine the entire contract file during contract management activities in order to identify file content
deficiencies as soon as possible. This has helped Procurement Services to identify and locate missing
documents in the contract files.

This finding is not repeated in 2010.
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FINDING 2009-12: CROSS-CUT TESTING
SUBRECIPIENT MONITORING
CHICAGO OFFICE OF COMPLIANCE

The City's Office of Compliance has established procedures surrounding the accumulation and review of
the single audit reports of the City’s subrecipients. We selected a sample of forty subrecipients and the
City determined that management decisions were necessary in eleven instances. The six-month
requirement to issue a management decision was not met in five instances.

2010 STATUS

In 2010, Office of Compliance - Internal Audit engaged a new CPA firm, with adequate dedicated
resources, to perform the review and monitoring of the single audit reports of the City’s subrecipients,
including requests for management decisions, as necessary, from the funding departments. Additionally,
this process and the related procedures have been enhanced to better ensure timely review, monitoring,
and communications with the City’s subrecipients and funding departments.

This finding is not repeated in 2010.

FINDING 2009-13: CROSS-CUT TESTING

SALARY CERTIFICATIONS

CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF LAW, CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH, AND
CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF FAMILY AND SUPPORT SERVICES

The City requires employees funded through grants to complete a semi-annual salary certification form in
order to confirm the amount of time spent by employees on federal grant programs. We selected a
sample of forty employees with salaries charged to various federal programs. The following exceptions
were noted:

> One or both semi-annual salary certification forms for 2009 could not be located for three
employees whose salaries were charged to federal programs.

> Nine employees certified that they spent their time on multiple activities. In these cases, the
respective departments had no further documentation supporting these allocations.

2010 STATUS

The City of Chicago is in the process of enhancing its existing payroll system (CHIPPS) which will ensure
that personnel expenditures are allocated to the appropriate grant according to the requirements of A-87.
This implementation should begin during the first quarter of 2012.

In the interim, the City continued to require that appropriate City departments submit copies of semiannual
salary certification forms to the Department of Finance — Special Accounting Division. Each Department's
Financial Manager was required to increase their monitoring efforts by ensuring timely completion and the
accuracy of payroll charges reported for personnel either paid directly from a grant program or where the
personnel served as the match to the grant. Appropriate documentation in hard and/or soft form is to be
retained at the departments in support of these distributions. The City, as part of implementing
administrative procedures, will ensure that the documentation and fiscal reporting of salaries and wages
are in accordance with OMB Circular A-87.

This finding is repeated for the Department of Public Health in 2010.
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FINDING 2009-14: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
AIRPORT IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM: CFDA NO. 20.106
CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF AVIATION

A sample of reimbursement requests was tested for review and approval by someone other than the
original preparer. Specifically, four different reimbursement requests were tested and none of the four
were reviewed and approved by someone other than the original preparer.

While there were no compliance issues noted while reviewing the accuracy of the reimbursement
requests, it is important that the City implement effective controls over the submission process to minimize
the risk of incorrect reporting.

2010 STATUS

The Chicago Department of Aviation has implemented a review procedure for reimbursement requests
that took effect during 2010.

This finding is repeated in 2010.

FINDING 2009-15: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
ARRA-EDWARD BYRNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE ASSISTANCE GRANT: CFDA NO. 16.804
CHICAGO POLICE DEPARTMENT

During our testing, it was noted that the City was awarded an ARRA Justice Assistance Grant and
received an advance on July 6, 2009 for $28,633,983. Throughout 2009, the City had not been tracking
interest earned related to this grant.

2010 STATUS

The City Comptroller's Office- Special Accounting Division met with representatives from the Treasurer's
Office to work out an improved system for identifying funds which need to be kept in segregated accounts
where interest earned is calculated by the Treasurer’s Office and where funds are maintained in an
aggregate account with interest earned being calculated and allocated by General Accounting. The
supervisors and directors in Special Accounting will be responsible for ensuring that all funds having
interest earned are recorded correctly. This process was implemented in 2011.

This finding is repeated in 2010.
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FINDING 2009-16: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

EDWARD BYRNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE ASSISTANCE GRANT: CFDA NO. 16.738
ARRA-EDWARD BYRNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE ASSISTANCE GRANT: CFDA NO. 16.804
CHICAGO POLICE DEPARTMENT

It was discovered during our review of these programs that many of the subrecipients were not submitting
quarterly fiscal reports to the Police Department as required under the grant agreements. In addition, the

Police Department was not adequately monitoring the subrecipients to determine that they were adhering
to the provisions of the grant agreements.

2010 STATUS

in October 2009, CPD developed its JAG sub-recipients Monitoring Policy to ensure understanding of the
compliance requirements for administration and recordkeeping by the JAG co-grantees. Also in October
2009, the Chicago Police Departments JAG grants research specialist sent each JAG co-grantee a letter,
to be re-sent annually, outlining the special conditions and reporting requirements of JAG funds. The co-
grantees were required to acknowledge receipt of this letter by signing the letter and returning it to CPD
electronically or by U.S. Postal Service by November 1, 2009. This requirement will continue in the
remaining years of the grant.

Starting in October of 2009, CPD’s JAG Manager began contacting co-grantees to schedule the annual
onsite visits beginning in January 2010. Eleven onsite visits were conducted between January and May.
Issues and concerns were identified and corrective actions were documented. Appropriate follow up and
future visits to the remaining JAG co-grantees will be scheduled so that the CPD will remain in compliance
with its sub-recipient monitoring requirement.

This finding is not repeated in 2010,

FINDING 2009-17: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

WIA ADULT PROGRAM: CFDA NO. 17.258

WIA DISLOCATED WORKERS: CFDA NO. 17.260

PREPARING EX-OFFENDERS FOR THE WORKPLACE THROUGH BENEFICIARY-CHOICE
CONTRACTING: CFDA NO. 17.261

CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE-COMPTROLLER’S OFFICE (SPECIAL
ACCOUNTING DIVISION)

A sample of reimbursement requests was tested for review and approval by someone other than the
original preparer. Specifically, six reimbursement requests were tested and none of the six were reviewed
and approved by someone other than the original preparer.

2010 STATUS

The Special Accounting Division of the Comptroller's Office implemented procedures to ensure draw down
requests would be reviewed and approved by someone other than the preparer.

This finding is not repeated in 2010.
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FINDING 2009-18: CROSS-CUT TESTING

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING - PREPARATION OF THE
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS (SEFA)

CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE-COMPTROLLER’S OFFICE (SPECIAL
ACCOUNTING DIVISION)

During our audit of major programs, we identified federal expenditures that were recorded in the current
fiscal year, but were incurred in a different fiscal year. In other instances, federal expenditures were
incurred during the current fiscal year, but were recorded in a different fiscal year.

2010 STATUS

The City has been implementing procedures to ensure federal expenditures are properly accounted for
and in accordance with OMB Circular A-133. The Department of Finance management team will work with
the appropriate fiscal managers at the lead departments to train the department staff to charge the proper
period. The Finance management team will also re-train the Finance staff on verifying that the invoices are
charged to the correct period.

Reports will be made available to the proper lead department and OBM staff to allow them to accurately
charge to the proper funding source and ensure corrections will be made in a timely manner.

This finding is repeated in 2010.

FINDING 2009-19: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
SUMMER FOOD SERVICE PROGRAM FOR CHILDREN: CFDA NO. 10.559
CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF FAMILY AND SUPPORT SERVICES

In 2006, 2007, and 2008 a finding was reported noting that the City’s monitoring of summer food program
sites was not meeting the standards as required by the City and granting agency. Monitoring requirements
of the City include (a) performing a pre-operational visit and training to the personnel at the summer food
program site prior to opening, (b} completing a site visit within the first week of operation, and (c)
completing a monitoring review within the first four weeks after opening. For the 2009 audit, we tested a
sample of 40 summer food program sites and noted the following exceptions:

The City had no documentation available supporting the training requirement for four of those sites
Evidence of the pre-operational visit was not available for five sites

Evidence of the first-week site visit was not available for five of the sites

Evidence of the monitoring review was not available for two sites

For five sites, the monitoring visit was not completed within the required four-week timeframe

vV V.V VYV
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FINDING 2009-19 (cont.)

2010 STATUS

The Department implemented the system of entering and assigning training dates for each approved site
and a "certificate of completion" was issued to each trained personnel. The training data are being
captured in our CASPIO web-based data system and the State's IWAS system. No site received meals
prior to being trained and the list of trained sites shared with the food vendor to schedule delivery.

Training was provided to the program sites. DFSS worked with the lllinois Board of Education to identify
which pre-operational site visits were not required. In 2010, sites that required pre-operational visits were
made.

DFSS Human Resources Unit and CSD staff worked collaboratively to ensure that allf staff was hired by
the targeted start date for the program. Staff was in place in order to carry out the monitoring function for
the program.

This finding is not repeated in 2010.

FINDING 2009-20: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT, U.S.
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR
EMERGENCY SHELTER GRANTS PROGRAM: CFDA NO. 14.231

AGING CLUSTER: TITLE lll, PART B — GRANTS FOR SUPPORTIVE SERVICES AND
SENIOR CENTERS: CFDA NO. 93.044

AGING CLUSTER: TITLE Ill, PART C — NUTRITION SERVICES: CFDA NO. 93.045
AGING CLUSTER: NUTRITION SERVICES INCENTIVE PROGRAM: CFDA NO. 93.053
AGING CLUSTER: ARRA-AGING CONGREGATE NUTRITION SERVICES FOR STATES:
CFDA NO. 93.707

CSBG CLUSTER: COMMUNITY SERVICES BLOCK GRANT: CFDA NO. 93.569

CSBG CLUSTER: ARRA-COMMUNITY SERVICES BLOCK GRANT: CFDA NO. 93.710
WIA CLUSTER: WIA YOUTH ACTIVITIES: CFDA NO. 17.259

WIA CLUSTER: ARRA-WIA YOUTH ACTIVITIES: CFDA NO. 17.259

CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF FAMILY AND SUPPORT SERVICES

During our audit, we sampled the City’s monitoring of 27 subgrantees under these funding sources and
noted that fiscal monitoring was not performed timely for eight of the funding sources’ subgrantees.

2010 STATUS

DFSS has revised its existing fiscal monitoring procedures, which includes doing a risk analysis fo identify
agencies that should be considered to be priority when scheduling fiscal reviews. The analysis takes into
consideration the requirements from the funding source, the results of the previous review and other audit
results to establish a priority rating for each agency. A deviation of the risk analysis would be made if
management determines that it is necessary to conduct a special review. Also, the scope of the fiscal
reviews was expanded to include the additional programs that are now under DFSS. This will help
increase overall coverage of all applicable funds.

This finding is not repeated in 2010.
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FINDING 2009-21: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
COMMUNITY SERVICES BLOCK GRANT: CFDA NO. 93.569
CHICAGO DEPARTMENT OF FAMILY AND SUPPORT SERVICES

Several assets purchased with program funds in the past could not be identified during the current year
audit because the Department had not maintained an inventory of capital assets acquired with program
funds.

2010 STATUS

DFSS has developed a tracking sheet to document qualifying purchases made by CSBG ARRA delegate
agencies. The tracking sheet is supported by documentation provided by the agencies. in March 2011, the
Illinois Department of Community and Economic Opportunity provided DFSS with further guidelines to
follow in the oversight of the non-expendable assets that have been purchased with program funds. ltems
with an acquisition cost of $500 or more are to be included in the tracking sheet. In addition, DFSS is in
the process of contracting with a vendor to take on the responsibilities of managing the inventory records
for equipment purchased with program funds. The responsibilities would inciude making physical
inspections to confirm the accuracy of the inventory records.

This finding is repeated in 2010.
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